
 

For information relating to this meeting or to request a copy in another format or 
language please contact: 

Lisa Antrobus, Town Hall, Castle Circus, Torquay, TQ1 3DR  
01803 207064 

Email: governance.support@torbay.gov.uk  

(i) 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Wednesday, 24 September 2014 
 

Meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board 
 

Thursday, 2 October 2014 
 

1.30 pm 
 

Meadfoot Room, Town Hall, Castle Circus, Torquay, TQ1 3DR 
 

 
Members of the Board 

 

Councillor Lewis (Chairman) 

Sam Barrell, South Devon and Torbay Clinical Commissioning Group 

Caroline Dimond, Interim Director of Public Health 

Pat Harris, Healthwatch Torbay 

Tony Hogg, Police & Crime Commissioner 

Graham Lockerbie, NHS England 

Dr John Lowes, SOUTH DEVON HEALTHCARE NHS FOUNDATION TRUST 

Mandy Seymour-Hanbury, Torbay and Southern Devon Health and Care NHS Trust 

Caroline Taylor, Torbay Council 

Richard Williams, Torbay Council 

Councillor Davies 

Councillor Doggett 

Councillor Pritchard 

Councillor Scouler 

 

Co-opted Members 

Tony Hogg, Police & Crime Commissioner 

Dr John Lowes, South Devon Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust 

Mandy Seymour-Hanbury, Torbay and Southern Devon Health and Care NHS Trust 

Vacancy – Community Development Trust 

 
 



 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
AGENDA 

 
1.   Apologies  
 To receive any apologies for absence, including notifications of any 

changes to the membership of the Committee. 
 

2.   Minutes (Pages 1 - 3) 
 To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the Health and 

Wellbeing Board held on 16 September 2014. 
 

3.   Declaration of interest 
 

 

3(a)   To receive declarations of non pecuniary interests in respect of 
items on this agenda 

 

 For reference: Having declared their non pecuniary interest 
Members may remain in the meeting and speak and, vote on the 
matter in question.  A completed disclosure of interests form should 
be returned to the Clerk before the conclusion of the meeting. 
 

3(b)   To receive declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in 
respect of items on this agenda 

 

 For reference: Where a Member has a disclosable pecuniary 
interest he/she must leave the meeting during consideration of the 
item.  However, the Member may remain in the meeting to make 
representations, answer questions or give evidence if the public 
have a right to do so, but having done so the Member must then 
immediately leave the meeting, may not vote and must not 
improperly seek to influence the outcome of the matter.  A 
completed disclosure of interests form should be returned to the 
Clerk before the conclusion of the meeting. 
 
(Please Note: If Members and Officers wish to seek advice on any 
potential interests they may have, they should contact Governance 
Support or Legal Services prior to the meeting.) 
 

4.   Urgent items  
 To consider any other items that the Chairman/woman decides are 

urgent. 
 

5.   2014/15 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (Pages 4 - 23) 
 To consider a report on the above. 

 
6.   Torbay and South Devon Integrated Prevention Strategy 

2014/15 - 2019/20 
(To Follow) 

 To consider a report that informs the Board of the Torbay and 
Devon Integrated Prevention Strategy 2014/15-2019/20. 
 

7.   Department for Education Children's Social Care Innovation 
Programme - Torbay Submission 

(Pages 24 - 33) 

 To consider a report that sets out a submission for funding. 
 



 

8.   Draft - Torbay Housing Partnership Strategy Children's 
Services/Adult Services/Public Health 

(Pages 34 - 63) 

 To comment upon the draft Housing Partnership Strategy which is 
subject to consultation. 
 

9.   Update Report - Health and Wellbeing Board Priority 8: Reduce 
Alcohol Consumption 

(Pages 64 - 68) 

 To receive an update on the Health and Wellbeing Board’s priority 
of reducing alcohol consumption. 
 

10.   Update Report - High Level Joint Mental Health Commissioning 
Strategy for South Devon and NEW Devon CCGs, and Torbay, 
Plymouth and Devon Councils 

(Pages 69 - 98) 

 To note the report. 
 

11.   Update Report - Pioneer Progress (Pages 99 - 100) 
 To receive an update on the progress of Pioneer. 

 
12.   Update Report - Community Safety Partnership (Pages 101 - 102) 
 To receive an update on the Community Safety Partnership. 

 
13.   For Information Only - Update on Public Health 

 
(Pages 103 - 104) 



 
 
 

Minutes of the Health and Wellbeing Board 
 

16 September 2014 
 

-: Present :- 
 

Councillor Bobbie Davies, Caroline Dimond, Councillor Ian Doggett, Pat Harris, Councillor 
Chris Lewis (Chairman), Graham Lockerbie, Dr John Lowes, Councillor Christine Scouler, 

Caroline Taylor, Melanie Walker and Richard Williams 
 

(Also in attendance: Councillor Neil Bent)  
 

 

 
15. Apologies  

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Ken Pritchard, Tony Hogg 
and Sam Barrell who was represented by Siobhan Grady. 
 

16. Minutes  
 
The Minutes of the meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board held on 5 June 2014 
were confirmed as a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
 

17. Declaration of interest  
 
Councillor Doggett declared a non-pecuniary interest as he is lay member of the 
Joined Up Medicines Optimisation Group. 
 

18. Better Care Fund  
 
Members were advised that on 3 December 2013 the Health and Wellbeing Board 
reviewed the outline Integration Transformation Fund Plan which was subsequently 
renamed the Better Care Fund.  The Board supported development of the Plan and 
endorsed a ‘single pooled’ arrangement for revenue and capital aspects of the 
Better Care Fund.  A further iteration of the original plan has been updated following 
publication of an amended template, which seeks a greater focus on evidence to 
support proposed schemes and more detail in achieving the set metrics. 
 
The Board was informed that latest guidance placed a focus on emergency 
admissions and the acute sector.  Siobhan Grady advised that despite the change 
in focus the five metric, financial details and performance measures were unlikely to 
change.  The Plan sets out how the South Devon and Torbay Clinical 
Commissioning Group and Torbay Council will pool funding and work together with 
provider organisations to achieve a 3.5% reduction in hospital admissions in 

Agenda Item 2

Page 1



Health and Wellbeing Board  Tuesday, 16 September 2014 
 

 
2015/16.  Four key schemes are identified in the Plan as supporting delivery of this 
target: 
 

� Single Point of Contact 
� Frailty Services 
� Multiple long term conditions 
� Community Care: locality teams and community hospital beds. 

 
The Plan has to be submitted by Friday 19 September, officers had found the 
deadlines to be quite tight and the template constraints had made the alignment of 
the Integrated Care Organisation difficult, resulting in significant senior officer 
resource. 
 
Members of the Board referred to the change of focus in the Plan and sought 
reassurance that issues that had to be removed from the Plan were not lost. 
 
The Chairman thanked officers of the Clinical Commissioning Group and Torbay 
Council for their effort in compiling the Better Care Fund. 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the Better Care Fund Plan, as set out in the submitted report, be endorsed. 
 

19. Children and Young People's Plan  
 
Members were advised that following a seminar in July, the Children and Young 
People’s Plan (CYPP) and Early Help Strategy had been revisited to take account 
of comments that had been made.  The CYPP was a concise document that picked 
up the key issues, with documents that underpin the CYPP also being reviewed. 
 
Members were informed of changes being made to the referral process to the Early 
Years and Safeguarding HUB’s.  At present initial contact is made with the 
Safeguarding HUB this will be changed with referrals being made through the Early 
Years HUB.  It is hoped that this referral route will alleviate the fear of ‘children 
being removed’ as the immediate contact will not be with the Safeguarding HUB.  A 
social worker will be assigned to the Early Years HUB who will then determine the 
appropriate route for the referral.  Richard Williams advised the Board that the 
thresholds that have already been set for a child’s journey will remain; with the 
referrals being screened the mechanisms will be in place to make the HUBs work 
well. 
 
Resolved: 
 
i) that the Children and Young People’s Plan and the Early Help Strategy be 

endorsed; and 
 
ii) that the points raised at the Seminar on 31 July 2014 be highlighted through 

the Pioneer process and that the Health and Wellbeing Board assure itself 
over the coming months that appropriate action is being taken. 

 

Page 2



Health and Wellbeing Board  Tuesday, 16 September 2014 
 

 
20. ICO Update  

 
The Board noted an update on the Integrated Care Organisation (ICO), Members 
were advised that the Business Case and draft Integration Plan was almost ready 
for submission, with the deadline being 1 October. 
 
Members were informed that in terms of adult social care a joint contract was 
expected to be presented to Council in February 2015.  Officers were trying to 
model the financial pressures and were using the model to see if decisions that are 
being made now would be different under the ICO. 
 

21. Care Act Implementation  
 
Members noted a report that updated the Board on the implementation of the Care 
Act.  Members were advised that the Care Act legally cleared up disparate 
legislation and provided a way forward for care.  A lot of the guidance was still 
being written with financial guidance expected by autumn.  There will be a number 
of changes to areas such as ICT, finance and the public’s expectations. 
 
Members requested that further updates be presented to the Health and Wellbeing 
Board, in particular the implications and impact of a universal deferred payment 
scheme for those requiring residential care. 
 

22. Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment  
 
The Board noted a briefing paper that advised Members of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board’s statutory responsibility to deliver the Pharmaceutical Needs 
Assessment.  The paper also set out the consultation process and deadlines. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Chairman 

Page 3



 

 

 

 

Title: 
 

2014/15 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment  

Wards Affected: 
 

All 

To: 
 

Health and Wellbeing Board On: 2 October 2014 

Contact: Doug Haines 
Telephone: (01803) 207331 
Email: Doug.haines@torbay.gcsx.gov.uk 
 

1. Purpose 

1.1 The purpose of this paper is to inform the board of the 2014/15 JSNA and for 

the board to comment and/or agree the executive summary for the 2014/15 

JSNA. 

1.2 The written JSNA for South Devon and Torbay has been updated and 

refreshed. The JSNA continues to follow a life course approach in 

understanding the needs and challenges of the population. However the 

written narrative is now substantially more in depth than previous JSNAs’.  

1.3 The written JSNA comprises five narrative overviews covering the life course, 

each has been designed to be a standalone document providing a summary of 

need for that age group. The issues have then been bought together in the 

executive summary.  

1.5 For the board to note as information. A new web platform to support JSNA and 

act as a central repository for strategic level knowledge and intelligence across 

South Devon and Torbay has been developed.   

1.6 The new web platform, www.southdevonandtorbay.info, contains the 

standalone overviews that form the written 2014/15 JSNA as well as a host of 

other supporting documents and interactive tools; including: 

• Topic and area based overviews 

• Interactive tools; population, community assets and community profile tools 

Agenda Item 5

Page 4



 
2. Recommendation 

2.1 The board acknowledge the refreshed JSNA and the key issues identified 

within the executive summary. 

3. Supporting Information 

3.1 The complete set of 2014/15 JSNA life course overviews are available at 

www.southdevonandtorbay.info  

4. Relationship to Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 

4.1 This paper informs the board that JSNA has been refreshed. 

5. Relationship to Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

5.1 The refreshed JSNA should be used to support any refresh of the health and 

wellbeing strategy. 

6. Implications for future iterations of the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment and/or Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

6.1 The implications would be for future iterations of the joint health and wellbeing 

strategy. 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 - 2014/15 JSNA for South Devon and Torbay – Executive summary 

Background Papers: 
The following documents/files were used to compile this report: 

The complete set of 2014/15 JSNA life course overviews  

Page 5



 

2014/15 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 

for South Devon and Torbay 

FINAL DRAFT - SEPTEMBER 2014 

Executive Summary 

 

 

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1

Page 6



 

 

CONTENTS 

 

Foreword ....................................................................................................................................... 1 

Introduction .................................................................................................................................. 3 

Background ................................................................................................................................ 3 

Life course .................................................................................................................................. 4 

Inequalities ................................................................................................................................. 5 

Wider determinants ..................................................................................................................... 7 

What is JSNA? ............................................................................................................................ 8 

The structure of the JSNA narrative overviews ........................................................................... 9 

The South Devon and Torbay area ........................................................................................... 10 

2014/15 JSNA Summary of challenges .................................................................................... 11 

Knowledge and intelligence on-line – www.southdevonandtorbay.info ............................... 14 

References .................................................................................................................................. 15 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

www.southdevonandtorbay.info

POPULATION OVERVIEW (all ages)

STARTING WELL (0 to 4)

DEVELOPING WELL (5 to 24)

LIVING AND WORKING WELL (15 to 65)

AGEING AND DYING WELL (45 and over)

QUALITY & EXPERIENCE (all ages)

JSNA CHAPTERS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Page 7



 

2014/15 JSNA EXECUTIVE SUMMARY                 1 

FOREWORD 

Foreword  

Collectively, we face a number of major health issues in the Torbay and 

South Devon area. Two out of every three adults are overweight, with 

one in four being obese. Even in primary school, at Year 6, 1 in 5 

children are obese. We have an elderly population - one in four adults 

are aged over 65 and this is increasing. Torbay has a high number of 

households in poverty, with 1 in 4 children in poverty. Torbay also has 

high rates of alcohol related admissions and mortality due to liver 

disease.  

It is vital for upstream interventions to be strengthened. The more we can achieve through 

preventing ill health in the first place, through healthy places and healthy lifestyles, then the 

healthier we can keep individuals, society, our health and economic systems.   

It is important that we plan the services we deliver according to a clear understanding of the 

health and well-being needs of the local population. In Torbay and South Devon we have a 

history of working together in an integrated way so we are also striving to bring together our 

knowledge around health needs.  

This JSNA for 2014, brings together, for the first time, data from a rage of partners and identifies 

key issues that leaders, planners and commissioners should be concentrating on in the years to 

come. It is complemented by a web platform that is inter-active and allows users to interrogate 

and produce their own dataset.  

I hope you enjoy reading this document and that it helps you better understand your community 

or the community you serve and that you will use this document to help you plan services and 

interventions that best suit your community needs.  

 

Signature? 

 

Chris Lewis 

Chair Torbay Health and Wellbeing Board 

 

Page 8



 

2014/15 JSNA EXECUTIVE SUMMARY                 2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

BLANK PAGE 

 

Page 9



 

2014/15 JSNA EXECUTIVE SUMMARY                 3 

INTRODUCTION 

Introduction 

This is the 2014/15 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) executive summary for South 

Devon and Torbay. This executive summary suggests the key issues that have emerged from a 

series of overview documents covering the life course. Each of these overview documents has 

been designed to be a standalone document, providing a more detailed understanding of the 

health and wellbeing needs for that population. There are five standalone documents and the age 

ranges covered are shown below and are available at www.southdevonandtorbay.info. The quality 

and experience overview will follow in due course. 

Figure 1: 2014/15 JSNA chapters 

 

Background 

Undertaking JSNA across the South Devon and Torbay area reflects a natural community 

around a main health provider – Torbay Hospital. Understanding the needs across this provider 

allows a more system wide approach to understanding the health and wellbeing needs of the 

community. The geographical footprint is conterminous with the South Devon and Torbay Clinical 

Commissioning Group (CCG); the organisation that buys the hospital services for the population of 

South Devon and Torbay. The area includes part of the upper tier local authority of Devon County 

Council, and all of the Unitary authority of Torbay. 

JSNA is not a standalone document but a suite of documents, web tools and presentations which 

help to analyse the health needs of populations to inform and guide commissioning of health, 

wellbeing and social care services within local authority areas [2]. JSNA will be the means by which 

local leaders work together to understand and agree the needs of the local population [3]. 

JSNAs, along with health and wellbeing strategies will enable commissioners to plan and 

commission more effective and integrated services to meet the needs of the South Devon and 

Torbay population [3], in particular for the most vulnerable and for groups with the worst health 

outcomes, and help to reduce the overall inequalities that exist. 

www.southdevonandtorbay.info

POPULATION OVERVIEW (all ages)

STARTING WELL (0 to 4)

DEVELOPING WELL (5 to 24)

LIVING AND WORKING WELL (15 to 65)

AGEING AND DYING WELL (65 and over)

QUALITY & EXPERIENCE (all ages)

JSNA CHAPTERS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Page 10



 

2014/15 JSNA EXECUTIVE SUMMARY                 4 

INTRODUCTION 

Helping people to live longer and healthier lives is not simply about the healthcare received 

through GP’s or at hospital, it is also about the wider social determinants of where we live and 

work [4]. The collective action of agencies is needed today to promote the health of tomorrows 

older population. Preventing ill health starts before birth, and continues to accumulate 

throughout individuals lives [4].  

Life course 

A life course approach enables an understanding of needs and risks to health and wellbeing at 

different points along the path of life. For example, our needs as babies and in our early years 

differ significantly to our needs and risks to health and wellbeing as we enter adulthood or 

retirement. Understanding the risks to health and wellbeing at different points along the path of life 

enables opportunities to promote positive health and wellbeing to prevent future ill health, or to 

understand the potential burden of disease that may need to be considered in delivering services. 

Understanding needs across the life course also enables an understanding of exposures in 

childhood, adolescence and early adult life and how they influence the risk of disease and socio-

economic position in later life [5]. Understanding the influence of risk in this way may help to 

prevent future generations experiencing some of the illnesses of today.  

Structuring JSNA around a life course framework allows consideration of different population 

needs based on their collective journey through life. The following headings represent different life 

course narratives overviews presented as South Devon and Torbay JSNA. 

· Population Overview sets the scene for the current & future population structure across 

South Devon and Torbay, it includes top level population overviews 

· Starting Well is about understanding the needs of the population from pregnancy, birth and 

for the first few years of life. This includes understanding the anticipated need for maternity 

services, health visiting services and early years’ services.  

· Developing Well is about understanding the needs of the population between the ages of 5 

and 24. This includes understanding the anticipated needs for schools and the developing 

health and wellbeing needs of this age group.  

· Living and Working Well is about understanding the needs of the working age population. 

This includes understanding the lifestyles and health outcomes experienced by this group, 

and the risks that prevent positive health and wellbeing. 

· Ageing and Dying Well is about understanding the needs of those from around 65 years 

and over. It is about reducing and preventing long term conditions, promoting active aging 

and tackling inequalities into older age.  

· Patient safety and experience captures some of the qualitative patient experiences 

Page 11



 

2014/15 JSNA EXECUTIVE SUMMARY                 5 

INTRODUCTION 

Inequalities

Inequalities are evident across the life course, from children being born in more deprived areas 

expected to experience shorter life expectancy; to working age persons with lower or no 

qualifications; to premature mortality. 

In order to begin to reduce inequalities, an understanding of the complex web of issues is required. 

There is evidence to suggest that disadvantage starts before birth and accumulates 

throughout life [1]. To reduce inequalities across the life course, it is important to reduce early 

disadvantage and reduce poorer outcomes from pregnancy and birth and during childhood. 

Health inequalities are when different people experience different outcomes. For example, higher 

rates of people dying prematurely in one community compared to another community. There is a 

well evidenced relationship between poorer communities, in terms of income, and poorer health 

outcomes such as life expectancy [1].  

Whilst people in our more deprived communities tend to die earlier than those in the least 

deprived, they also tend to live longer with poorer health. Nationally, there is a gap of around 17 

years in the more deprived communities between disability free life expectancy and life expectancy 

(left hand side of figure 2); this gap is around 19 years in South Devon. The gap is smaller at the 

less deprived end of the spectrum, right hand side of figure 2 [1]; 13 years nationally and around 

13.5 years in South Devon.  

Figure 2: life expectancy and disability free life expectancy (DFLE) at birth, persons by 

neighbourhood income level, England, 1999-2003 [1] 

 

What this means is that, on average, the more deprived populations in South Devon and Torbay 

can expect to live their last 19 years of life with a disability compared to those in the least 

deprived population, and still expect to die around 8 years earlier. Proportionately, people in 

Page 12



 

2014/15 JSNA EXECUTIVE SUMMARY                 6 

INTRODUCTION 

South Devon and Torbay’s more deprived communities spend a larger amount of their life in need 

of some increased level of support. 

At a national level, it is estimated that the cost of inequality in illness accounts for productivity 

losses of around £32 billion per year [1]. Proportionately, in South Devon and Torbay this could 

represent a cost of inequality in illness of around £150 to £160 million per year. That would 

include lost taxes, higher welfare payments and higher NHS healthcare costs. The figure 

presented is based on a national population spend per head being applied to the South Devon and 

Torbay population; it has not been adjusted for deprivation, age or sex. It does however represent 

a wider system perspective on costs. 

Figure 2 (above) shows that people in our more deprived communities live for longer with a 

disability. This population needs to access care for a relatively longer period of time. Reducing 

the gap between disability free life expectancy and life expectancy would result in significant 

financial savings to the public purse. 

Reducing inequalities in health does not require a separate health agenda, but action across the 

whole of society [1]. Inequalities in health are not simply about evening out the burden of disease 

across the population, as good health is not simply a measure of the absence of disease. 

Where we live and who we are all impact on health, and inequalities. 

The gap in life expectancy at birth between communities across South Devon and Torbay is 

around 8 years for males and 7 years for females. This gap has decreased in recent years, but still 

represents a significant inequality.  

Figure 3: 2011/13 Life expectancy at birth by sex and deprivation quintile across South 

Devon and Torbay 

 

65

70

75

80

85

90

95

1 - Least

Deprived

Below Average Average Above Average 5 - Most

Deprived

Males Females

Page 13



 

2014/15 JSNA EXECUTIVE SUMMARY                 7 

INTRODUCTION 

Wider determinants

Some of our individual determinants are fixed, such as our birth dates, our sex at birth and our 

genetic makeup (family history). All of which influence our individual health. However, there are 

other factors that we can try to influence that impact on health and wellbeing. These other factors 

are influences such as the environment in which we live, our ability to work and the lifestyle 

choices we make. Figure 4 illustrates the main influences on health. These influences could be 

thought of as a series of layers, one on top of the other [6]. These influences are known as the 

wider determinants of health. 

The layers presented in figure 4 include;  

· individual lifestyle factors such as smoking habits, diet and physical activity have the 

potential to promote or damage health 

· social and community network interactions with friends, relatives and mutual support 

within a community can sustain people's health;  

· wider influences on health include living and working conditions, food supplies, access to 

essential goods and services, and the overall economic, cultural and environmental 

conditions prevalent in society as a whole.  

Figure 4: Wider determinants of health [6] 

 

Influencing these layers, across the life course, is required to reduce inequalities, such as the gap 

in life expectancy, and improve the health and wellbeing of the South Devon and Torbay 

population. 

Page 14



 

2014/15 JSNA EXECUTIVE SUMMARY                 8 

INTRODUCTION 

What is JSNA?

The Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act (2007) [7] required Primary Care 

Trusts (PCTs) and Local Authorities to produce a Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) of the 

health and well-being of their local community. However, from April 2013, Local Authorities and 

Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCG) have equal and explicit obligations to prepare JSNA; under 

the governance of the health and well-being board [8]. 

The purpose of JSNA is to provide an objective view of the health and wellbeing needs of 

the population. JSNA identifies “the big picture” in terms of the health and wellbeing needs and 

inequalities of a local population. It provides an evidence base for commissioners to commission 

services, according to the needs of the population.  

A JSNA is not a needs assessment of an individual, but a strategic overview of the local 

community need – either geographically such as local authority / localities or for specific groups 

such as younger or older people or people from different backgrounds.  

The South Devon and Torbay CCG straddles the Health and Wellbeing boards of Devon and 

Torbay. This narrative has been pulled together collaboratively with partner organisations to 

understand the needs of the South Devon and Torbay population for the South Devon and Torbay 

CCG on behalf of the Torbay Health and Wellbeing Board. 

The approach to JSNA in South Devon and Torbay is to provide a collection of narrative and data 

interpretation to support the community, the voluntary sector and statutory organisations across 

South Devon and Torbay. This approach then provides a consistency of multi-agency data to 

support strategies and needs assessments across South Devon and Torbay, illustrated in figure 5.  

The life course narrative documents are supported with topic and area based overviews across 

South Devon and Torbay. These can be accessed at: www.southdevonandtorbay.info   

Figure 5: Influences of JSNA 

 

JSNA

Influences 

organisational 

priorities

Supports funding bid 

applications

Provides consistent 

intelligence for 

needs assessments / 

strategies

Page 15



 

2014/15 JSNA EXECUTIVE SUMMARY                 9 

INTRODUCTION 

The structure of the JSNA narrative overviews

The narrative overviews are presented through four main sections. These sections have been 

chosen to represent an ‘upstream’ ‘downstream’ approach to understanding the health and 

wellbeing needs of the population. In the illustration below (figure 6), GPs, nurses and doctors in 

the hospital are all busy seeing and treating patients, represented by the people being pulled out of 

the river. However, the narrative structure considers how we could go back ‘upstream’ and find out 

why people were falling into the river in the first place, or where we would be best positioned to 

throw a life line.   

The four sections are: 

· Understanding the community 

· Understanding the risks to health and wellbeing 

· Promoting health and wellbeing 

· Understanding health and wellbeing outcomes 

These four sections represent an approach to understand the opportunities of preventing or 

delaying negative outcomes, such as premature mortality or morbidities, by understanding how we 

might expect patterns to change over time, and also where opportunities are to intervene and 

prevent. 

Figure 6: JSNA overview structure [adapted from 9] 

 

Understanding the Community 

Population structure, differences 

between communities, community 

assets

Understanding the Risks to Health 

and Wellbeing

 ‘fixing the bridge’

Preventing people falling in the river 

in the first place 

Promoting Health and Wellbeing

Intervention – ‘throwing a rope’

Shortening the period in the river and 

promoting early recovery

Understanding Health and Wellbeing 

outcomes

 ‘pulling people out of the river’

Burden of disease and mortality

Page 16



 

2014/15 JSNA EXECUTIVE SUMMARY                 10 

THE SOUTH DEVON AND TORBAY AREA 

The South Devon and Torbay area 

The South Devon and Torbay area covers some 350 square miles and takes in around 75 miles 

of coastline. The area extends from the sandy beaches of the South Devon coast, to open moor 

land of Dartmoor and takes in both rural communities and urban centres.  

The area of South Devon and Torbay represents a natural community around the main acute 

care provider, Torbay Hospital. The area includes part of the two district authority areas of South 

Hams and Teignbridge, part of Devon County Council and the Unitary Authority area of Torbay. 

Figure 7: An overview of the South Devon and Torbay area 

Page 17



 

2014/15 JSNA EXECUTIVE SUMMARY                 11 

2014/15 JSNA SUMMARY OF CHALLENGES 

Understanding the 

Risks to Health & 

Wellbeing

· Obesity

· Maternal 

Behaviours

· School Readiness

Promoting Health & 

Wellbeing

· Care & Support 

· Children Looked 

After

· Long Term 

Conditions

· Youth Offending

Understanding Health 

& Wellbeing 

Outcomes

· Alcohol admissions

· Premature 

Mortality  

· Self-Harm 

Understanding the 

Community

· Ageing Population

· Crime

· Housing

· Local Economy

· Poverty

2014/15 JSNA Summary of challenges 

Across the life course narratives 15 top level key challenges have been identified. The 15 

challenges have been identified as challenges being faced across South Devon and Torbay. The 

15 are not an exhaustive list of all challenges being faced by the community; they are more a 

summary of the key challenges. More information on the challenges and needs of the population 

at different points across the life course can be accessed through that specific life course 

narrative. 

The 15 key challenges for South Devon and Torbay are presented in figure 8. They are 

presented in the ‘upstream’ ‘downstream’ model used throughout the life course narratives. This 

approach enables us to understand the opportunities to reduce the burden of poor health in the 

future, as well as understanding the current health and wellbeing outcomes. More detail setting 

out some context and identifying why it is an issue is summarised in table 1 and includes the life 

course affected by the issue.  

Figure 8: Key issues for South Devon and Torbay 

 

 

 

 

Note: Obesity includes children and adults; Poverty includes child poverty and wider poverty. 

The more system wide determinants are identified in the ‘understanding the community’ section; 

these are significant challenges for both the population and the services provided. However 

outcomes from improving the local economy and reducing poverty would expect to impact on 

challenges ‘downstream’. Understanding the risks to health and wellbeing identifies opportunities 

for where intervention is perhaps required soon to prevent future poor health and wellbeing 

outcomes. Promoting health and wellbeing is initially around understanding the current 

challenges, it also identifies where further analysis is required to understand drivers for these 

challenges.  

To prevent poor health and wellbeing being experienced by the communities we serve, we need 

to go ‘up-stream’ and understand the causes, and in some cases the causes of the causes.  

Page 18



 

2014/15 JSNA EXECUTIVE SUMMARY                 12 

2014/15 JSNA SUMMARY OF KEY ISSUES 

Table 1: Summary of 2014/15 key issues

Key Issue Context Why it’s an issue? 

Life course affected 

P
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 

o
v

e
rv

ie
w

 

S
ta

rt
in

g
 W

e
ll

 

D
e

v
e
lo

p
in

g
 

W
e
ll

 

L
iv

in
g

 a
n

d
 

W
o

rk
in

g
 W

e
ll

 

A
g

e
in

g
 a

n
d

 

D
y

in
g

 W
e

ll
 

Adult 
Obesity 

More than 1 in 4 people across 
South Devon and Torbay are 
estimated to be obese. 

Obesity can have a severe impact on 
people’s lives, increasing the risk of 
type 2 diabetes, some cancers, and 
heart and liver disease. 

a 
  

a a 

Ageing 
Population 

The over 65 population is 
expected to increase by around 
10,500 over next 8 years across 
South Devon and Torbay, from 
25.9% of the population to 28.6%. 

As we age our chance of developing 
different long term conditions 
increases. The impact of this could 
include increased demand on the 
health and care support.  

a 
   

a 

Alcohol 
related 
admissions 

Torbay has higher levels of 
alcohol attributable admissions to 
hospital, with between 10 and 11 
admissions a day attributable to 
alcohol.  

Most people who have alcohol-
related health problems aren’t 
'alcoholics'. They're simply people 
who have regularly drunk more than 
the recommended levels for some 
years.  

a 
  

a a 

Care and 
support 

There are significantly higher 
levels of unpaid carers in the 
South Devon and Torbay 
population, many providing more 
than 50 hours care a week, and 
many in poor health themselves. 

As the population ages, and people 
with disability and serious illness live 
longer, they are more likely to live at 
home. Going forward, we might 
expect community based care to rely 
increasingly on family and community 
members as carers. 

a a a a a 

Child 
poverty 

Around 1 in 4 of children in 
Torbay live in relative poverty 
compared to around 1 in 5 across 
England 

Children living in poverty tend to 
experience poorer outcomes.  a a a a 

 

Childhood 
obesity 

Around 1 in 10 children in 
reception and 1 in 5 in year 6 are 
obese. Levels of overweight and 
obese are around 1 in 4 in 
reception and 1 in 3 in year 6 

Obese children are more likely to be 
absent from school due to illness and 
experience health related limitations 
and self-esteem issues. 

 
a a a a 

Children 
looked after 

Torbay has amongst the highest 
rates of children looked after in 
England. The rate and number 
have been increasing in recent 
years 

Generally children in care continue to 
have poorer outcomes than the wider 
population  

a a a 
 

Crime 

Rates of crime, and in particular 
violent crime, are higher in Torbay 
than the England and Wales 
average 

The links between crime and health 
relate both to the health of 
perpetrators of crime as well as to 
the victims of any criminality.  

a a a a a 

Housing 

Housing availability, quality, 
condition, suitability and 
affordability are an issue across 
South Devon and Torbay.  

There are a range of health related 
conditions associated with housing in 
poor conditions.  

a a a a a 

Local 
economy 

Torbay’s economy is one of the 
poorest performing in the UK, at 
around 60% of the UK average.  

Being in good employment is 
protective of health, whilst being 
unemployed contributes to poorer 
health and wellbeing. A poor 
performing economy has an impact 
on poverty and on health outcomes 
for the population. 

a a a a a 

Page 19



 

2014/15 JSNA EXECUTIVE SUMMARY                 13 

2014/15 JSNA SUMMARY OF KEY ISSUES 

Key Issue Context Why it’s an issue? 

Life course affected 

P
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 

o
v

e
rv

ie
w

 

S
ta

rt
in

g
 W

e
ll

 

D
e

v
e
lo

p
in

g
 

W
e

ll
 

L
iv

in
g

 a
n

d
 

W
o

rk
in

g
 W

e
ll

 

A
g

e
in

g
 a

n
d

 

D
y

in
g

 W
e

ll
 

Long term 
conditions 

There are estimated to be 1,000’s 
of people living with a long term 
condition but who aren’t known or 
managed by their GP across 
South Devon and Torbay. 

People with a long term condition are 
the most frequent users of health 
care services. With an ageing 
population, we might expect the 
number of people with a long term 
condition to increase.  

   
a a 

Maternal 
behaviours 

Just under a third of pregnant 
women in Torbay are measured 
as overweight or obese at their 12 
week booking. Nearly 1 in 5 
pregnant women smoke during 
their pregnancy. 

Positive maternal health is crucial for 
healthy development in the womb. 
The choices pregnant women make 
are crucial to the healthy 
development of the foetus.  

 
a a a a 

Poverty 

South Devon and Torbay has 
amongst the highest proportion of 
households in England identified 
as being on the edge of poverty, 
around 29% (45,000 households). 

Households across South Devon and 
Torbay are less likely to be financially 
resilient to increasing prices. Being 
on the edge of poverty makes 
households more susceptible to debt 
and financial difficulties.  

a a a a a 

Premature 
mortality 

Around 900 people in South 
Devon and Torbay die before the 
age of 75 each year, between 2 
and 3 people per day. 

The causes of premature mortality 
fall disproportionately on the poorest 
in society.  

a a a a a 

School 
readiness 

There is a significant gap in early 
year’s foundation stage between 
those eligible for free school 
meals and non-free school meal 
pupils. 

Generally, children who start school 
without developing vital readiness, 
tend to experience poorer outcomes.  

a a a a 

Self-harm 

Across South Devon and Torbay, 
there are some 200 individuals 
being admitted to hospital for 
intentional self-harm annually. 
That’s around 1 admission every 
other day. 

Children and young people with poor 
mental health are more likely to have 
poor educational attainment and 
employment prospects, social 
relationship difficulties, physical ill 
health and substance misuse 
problems and to become involved in 
offending. 

  
a 

  

Youth 
offending 

The rate per 100,000 persons 
aged 10 to 17 receiving their first 
reprimand, warning or conviction 
is higher across South Devon and 
Torbay compared to the England 
average.  

Children in care are more than twice 
as likely to be cautioned or convicted 
as other children.  
Wider risk factors include poor 
education and employment 
prospects, poor housing, peer 
pressure, drug and alcohol abuse 
amongst others. 

  
a a  

Page 20



 

2014/15 JSNA EXECUTIVE SUMMARY                 14 

JSNA DELIVERY - NEW WEBSITE 

Knowledge and intelligence on-line – www.southdevonandtorbay.info  

Delivery of JSNA for 2014/15 onwards will be through a new web platform. The new platform, 

www.southdevonandtorbay.info, has been created to act as a consistent resource to enable 

people to access the shared knowledge and intelligence across South Devon and Torbay.  

Bringing the knowledge and intelligence of different agencies that serve the South Devon and 

Torbay population together into a single place allows wider understanding of the needs and 

challenges of the South Devon and Torbay population. The information contained within the 

website forms the wider Joint Strategic Needs Assessments across South Devon and Torbay. 

The website contains the standalone overviews that form the written 2014/15 JSNA as well as a 

host of other supporting documents and interactive tools; including: 

· Topic and area based overviews 

· Interactive tools; population, community assets and community profile tools 

Figure 9: Website home page: www.southdevonandtorbay.info  

 

Figure 10: An example of one of the tools: the community assets tool. 

Page 21



 

2014/15 JSNA EXECUTIVE SUMMARY                 15 

REFERENCES 

References 

1. Sir Michael Marmot. (2010) Fair Society, Healthy Lives; The Marmot Review 

2. NHS Confederation. (2011) The joint strategic needs assessment; a vital tool to guide 

commissioning 

3. Department of Health. (2011) Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and joint health and 

wellbeing strategies explained; Commissioning for populations  

4. Torbay Council. (2013) Torbay Director of Public Health Annual Report 

5. D, Kuh. Y, Shlomo. J, Lynch. J, Hallqvist. C, Power. (2003) Life course epidemiology. J 

Epidemiol Community Health 2003;57:778-783 doi:10.1136/jech.57.10.778 

6. G, Dahlgren. M, Whitehead. (1991) Polices and strategies to promote social equity in 

health; back ground document to WHO – strategy paper for Europe.  

7. Department of Health. (2006) The Local Government & Public Involvement Health Act 

2007 

8. Department of Health. (2012) JSNAs & joint health and wellbeing strategies–draft 

guidance  

9. Somerville, M. Kumaran, K. and Anderson, R. (2012) Public Health and Epidemiology at 

a glance 

 

 

 

 

Page 22



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

HAINES/09/14 

Page 23



 

 

 

 

Title:  
 

Department for Education Children’s Social Care Innovation 
Programme – Torbay submission 

Wards Affected: 
 

All 

To: 
 

Health and Wellbeing 
Board 

On: 2nd October 2014 

Contact: Gail Rogers 
Telephone: 207073 
Email: Gail.rogers@torbay.gov.uk 
 

1. Purpose 

1.1 A submission for funding has been submitted under the focus area: 
rethinking children’s social work.  The purpose is to attract additional 
funding for service reform, working alongside the Children’s Services Five 
Year Cost Reduction Plan to move from an over-spend of 4.6 million 2013/14 
to an under-spend of 3.2 million 2018/19.  

2. Recommendation 

2.1 The Health and Wellbeing Board endorses an invitation to submit a full 
proposal should the Expression of Interest bid pass the first selection round 
with the DfE. 

3. Supporting Information 

3.1 The Children’s Minister, Edward Timpson, announced the Children’s Social 
care Innovation Programme in October 2013.  Since then, the DfE has been 
assessing the opportunities for innovation in children’s social care, analysing 
the barriers to innovation and identifying tow focus areas for the programme, 
which were outlined in February 2014.  The focus areas are: 

• Re-thinking Children’s Social Work 

• Re-thinking support for adolescents in or on the edge of care 

The programme has three key objectives: 

• Better life chances for children receiving help from the social care system 

• Stronger incentives and mechanisms for innovation, experimentation and 
replication of successful new approaches 

• Better value for money across children’s social care 

The closing date for bids was the 19th September 2014 

Agenda Item 7

Page 24



 
4. Relationship to Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 

4.1 The crux of the bid is to develop a Public Service Trust under the Local 
Integrated Service Trust (LIST) using the traction of existing vehicles for 
integration such as the Integrated Care Organisation and Pioneer, particularly 
focusing on the Children and families Hub.  With the arguments for integration 
predicated on levels of need and demand in the population against outcomes 
frameworks and the associated costs, the structural changes proposed in the 
bid are aligned with the JSNA. 

5. Relationship to Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

5.1 The bid complements the principles of First and Most, Early Integration, and 
Integrated and Joined up Approach and seeks to use an outcomes based 
commissioning approach within Early Help Practices to achieve the priorities 
within the plan. 

6. Implications for future iterations of the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment and/or Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
 

6.1 This year saw the development of a JSNA together.  A set of agreed metrics 
across the integrated Public Services Trust will critically build on this and 
could helpfully be developed within future documents. 

 
Appendices 

Background Papers: 
The expression of interest already submitted to the DfE is attached. 

Page 25



 
 
 
 
 

© Crown copyright 2014 

  

Children’s Social Care Innovation Programme 

Expression of Interest Form 

If you have any problems editing this form, please email innovation@springconsortium.com  

Section 1  

1.1   About you 

Lead organisation Torbay Council Address Town Hall 

Lead contact Gail Rogers Castle Circus 

Position Principal Commissioner Torquay 

Email address Gail.rogers@torbay.gov.uk  TQ13DR 

Phone number 01803 207073   

Type of organisation Local authority 

Number of years the organisation has been 
operating for 

Local authority or other public sector organisation 
- n/a 

1.2   About your partners 
Are you working or planning to work with 
partners on your innovation?  

If yes, please list your partners or potential 
partners in the table below: 

Yes 

Partner Type of organisation Status 

CCG Other public sector organisation Drop down list 

Torbay and South Devon Care Trust Other public sector organisation Drop down list 

Devon and Cornwall Police Other public sector organisation Drop down list 

HAND Other Drop down list 

Torbay Community Development Trust Other Drop down list 

Click here to enter additional information about your partners that you want us to know about at this 
stage 

1.3   Your involvement so far 

Did you attend the summit event on 7 July? No 

Have you had previous conversations with DfE 
regarding this proposal or the ideas within it? 

Yes 

If yes, who have you spoken with? Kat Benjamin from Deloitte 

Would you like to opt out of regular innovation 
programme update emails? We will still 
communicate with you about your EOI.  

No, I do not want to opt out 

Is your organisation applying for or receiving 
funding for activity related to children’s social 
care from any other government or charitable 

Yes 

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1

Page 26



  

2 

innovation or transformation fund?  

If yes, please give brief details. Cabinet Office Mutuals for Success and 
Commissioning Better Outcomes and the Social 
Outcomes Fund; also Cabinet Office Vulnerable 
and Disadvantaged Young People’s Fund 

Do you intend to submit more than one EOI? No 

 
The word counts included in this form are suggested maximum word limits. You do not need to write 
up to the word count for any of the questions if you can answer the question clearly using fewer words. 
Whilst we advise not going significantly over the word count at this stage you will not be penalised if 
you exceed it. 

Section 2 

Your proposal and the impact you want to have 
2.1 What geographical area is initially covered by 

your proposal?  
South West Torbay 

2.2 Which of our two focus areas does your 
proposal respond to? 
Click here for more information on the focus areas  

Children's social work 

2.3 About the problem your innovation is trying to address (200 words) 
What is the problem? To what extent is it a problem and for whom? How do you know this - what 
evidence or insights do you have about the problem? At this stage, you may not have completed 
gathering evidence about or analysing your problem, but you should have a clear sense of the issue you 
are seeking to address. 

Demand for social care services in Torbay is comparatively high with increasing numbers of 
contacts received into the Safeguarding Hub.  Alongside this is high demand across all 
Partners  with an overstretched Camhs service, high admissions to hospital and visits to a 
GP, and high numbers of young people with a SEN.  24% of children aged under 16 live in 
poverty, high numbers of children are looked after, teenage pregnancy rates are higher than 
average as is childhood obesity and domestic violence, and high numbers of adults with 
substance misuse require treatment.  Consequently, the cost of meeting demand is 
becoming unsustainable, with a constant challenge to fund early help services to prevent 
longer term demand and cost when the cost of statutory services is growing.  The demand 
for services correlates with the socio-economic and health indicators above, but is also a 
result of public perception around entitlement to pre-set services and the way that the whole 
`system’ responds in a fragmented and poorly co-ordinated way.  We are seeking to address 
the systems first in order to better target resources and in order to change the culture of 
providing and receiving services both from the bottom up and the top down. 

2.4 About your solution (200 words) 
At this stage it is ok if your proposal is embryonic, with full details of the operating model still to be 
developed. Equally, it’s ok if you have already started testing out or piloting your innovation. Either way 
please try to be clear in explaining what your idea is, even if you don't have all the details yet on how 
you will make it happen. 

Our solution seeks to fuse existing opportunities to create structural and cultural change in 
Torbay, levering  resources within an integrated delivery culture.  South Devon and Torbay 
Health and Social Care community is one of fourteen national DoH Pioneer sites for the 
integration of children’s and adults health and social care services.  Additionally, the 
development of an Integrated Care Organisation merging Torbay Hopital with Torbay and 
Southern Devon Health and Care Trust will transform care delivery, integrating with 
children’s services and deepening the relationship and role of the voluntary sector.  The 

Page 27



  

3 

Lottery funded the development of LIST (Local Integrated Services Trust) across the 
Peninsular, creating a permanent legal structure to facilitate projects centred on cross public 
sector working that we can use practically to redesign our services.   These frameworks 
support our re-shaping children’s social work in its broadest sense, establishing a Public 
Service Trust.  This will be aimed initially at developing Early Help practices which later 
integrate social work operating with the child and community at the centre, informing the 
`commissioning’ of their own care and contributing to the development of services for 
themselves and others.  Enablers will navigate pathways for organisational and community-
based change, embedding long-term practice and behavioural change. 

2.5 About the outcomes you want to achieve (300 words) 
What will change for children who need help from social services, and to what extent? What impact will 
your proposal have on value for money? What are the most important things to measure so you know 
whether you’re achieving these outcomes? How might you be able to collect this information? At this 
stage, you may not have precise figures on cost effectiveness, but you should be able to articulate why 
you think the proposal would be cost effective. Similarly, you may only have some initial thinking on what 
you will measure and how. 

Children needing help from social servies will receive this with less delay and with a focus 
on one single education, health and social plan to meet the need within the family, 
preventing the bounce between multiple services.  The integrated approach will manage risk 
more confidently in the community, impacting on demand at the front door of social care and 
consequently reducing spending in line with our existing five-year budget reduction plan.  
The new structure will use an evidence based, strengths model to build skills and resilience, 
with principles of co-production to develop local, sustainable provision.  The proposal 
brings together key public services and will develop an organisation with overarching 
performance outcomes and capacity to devolve budgets enabling a degree of 
commissioning within the Early Help Practices.  As a Trust, the organisation will be able to 
attract both internal and external investment to implement new evidence based programmes 
and new delivery partnerships.  We anticipate measuring: the experience of the child and 
family (appreciative enquiry), the journey of the child and family and extent of involvement 
as consumer and co-producer, the impact and value of devolving budgets, numbers of 
children entering tiers three and four services (including children looked after), and the cost 
of staff training and development within a new culture or working.  We would also seek to 
measure practitioner satisfaction with a new model of working and can measure the 
resultant impact on recruitment and quality of practice.   We believe that apart from the more 
expedient access to help for children and families, those public services forming the Trust 
will see less duplication of resource and less time and resource used in multiple 
assessments, threshold activity and repeat demand, thereby stemming the flow. 

2.6 Why do you believe your solution can achieve the level of change you describe above? 
(200 words) 

What evidence do you have from your own work or from elsewhere to suggest that your innovation will 
work? If you have already been testing your innovation you should have evidence that it works; if you 
haven’t you should have a compelling rationale that draws on relevant evidence. Evidence can range for 
example from reports of the views of those you have helped, to academic study evidence. 

The Community Hub concept is already a workstream within the Pioneer project, with an 
established community partnership, Health and Neighbourhood Development (HAND) 
ecompassing community centres, leaders, the Community Development Trust, Public Health, 
CCG, Torbay Council and the Police.  This is actively driving social productivity, building on 
the strengths of our communities to develop local provision alongside resources within the 
public sector partnership.  HAND have signed to implement`step-in’ services, which we have 
co-designed with parent users of services to enable buddying and support at a community 
level, and intended also for use as step-down from higher level public sector-delivered 
services.   Our parent/community  questionnaires evidence that local, GP-style access to 
service is the preferred way of accessing help, and lessons from Serious Case Reviews 

Page 28



  

4 

continually point to the need for improved information sharing and communication.  National 
examples of services co-locating around neighbourhoods are: Witshire’s `campuses’ 
programme co-designed with local communities, Mendip’s public service hub with frontline 
services – operating as  one-stop-shop models.  Our proposal goes further than this, 
developing the Open Public Services reform programme to create an organisation with its 
own legal framework, able to devolve delivery budgets within an Early Help/social work 
Practices model co-produced by the community wtih real potential for budget savings (eg 
Nesta April 2013). 

2.7 Scaling your solution (200 words) 
Why do you think your innovation has the potential to transform the system in which it will be 
implemented? What would you do to help make this happen? What potential do you think it has to work 
at a bigger scale (through extending the reach of, replicating or by others adopting and adapting your 
solution)? 

The innovation will develop a Public Services Trust with the transformative legal and 
philosophical capability required to integrate the children’s workforce across the range of 
disciplines.  To support this, a clear vision and business/finance plan will be put in place to 
articulate key principles, a common set of metrics will capture outcomes data, and an 
outcomes-based commissioning strategy will be implemented by the Trust to enable the Hub 
Practices to develop solutions at a neighbourhood population level. The innovation, 
supported by an independent evaluation, will provide a testing ground to overcome 
historical barriers such as information sharing, professional cultures and paradigms, 
performance frameworks and resource allocation.   Early Help Hub Practices will be 
implemented in year one, phasing into a model to operate across all levels of need in the 
second year.  The transformative potential here is two-fold: top-down and bottom up.  
Enthusiasm amongst public services to integrate will initiate better outcomes and greater 
satisfaction for those using provision and will evolve complementary practice models into 
overlapping systems; for children, families and communities, resilience reveals latent 
strengths and skills and co-production fine-tunes commissioning and personalisation.  For 
practitioners, the model enables the application of professional skills within a framework 
that shares an understanding and responsibility for both strengths and risks. 

2.8 Informing the transformation of the social care system (200 words) 
How will the activities you propose inform change in cultures, structures and ways of working in the 
wider social care system?  

The proposed model will work with the social economy of the family and neighbourhood, 
understanding the strengths and weaknesses rather than `treating’ a problem in a 
professionally led contract.  The public services Trust will look beyond departmental 
constraints and will seek innovative  ways to deliver benefit that may be very locally-targeted 
and may focus on a broader current health, social or economic risk.  The culture will be of 
partnership to bring in assets and initiatives from both private, public and the community 
and voluntary sector, and this will both benefit the wider social care system through 
stronger and deeper resources and networks, and influence new structures to integrate the 
tiers of service to manage risk within a community structure.  The level of integration 
envisaged will require an ICT solution to align the separate systems currently in place, and a 
whole systems change will break down misinformation around information governance, 
developing confident inter-agency working.  The cultural change at a strategic level and for 
professionals in recognising the value of interventions which they do not deliver and which 
involve co-production will broaden the evidence base of protective factors and create a more 
satisfactory culture of engagement and communication that will reduce demand. 

 

Section 3 

Making it happen 

Page 29



  

5 

3.1 Who will lead and deliver the work? (150 words) 
Name the key person or people in the team. Please include job titles if applicable, list what role people 
would play in developing and delivering your innovation, and mention any relevant experience or 
knowledge they bring. 

The work will be led by the new and agreed Strategic Safeguarding lead, a shared post 
between Health and Social Care – the post will be in place in six months time.  Others 
involved are Rebecka Foweracker from the CCG who is the lead for Community Hubs within 
the Pioneer Bid, currently working with the communities and strategic partners; also Richard 
Williams, the Director of Children’s Services whose vision is leading the development of a 
Public Services Trust and who has led Torbay Children’s Services out of intervention; 
Siobhan Grady, Head of Joint Commissioning Torbay and South Devon CCG is leading on 
the ICO for the JoinedUp Board, bringing the experience from this intiative.  We will bring in 
a transformation team comprised of Enablers with advanced experience within their 
disciplines to drive the project from different angles: Health, Social Care, Community, and 
Governance and IT; also a Project manager and business support. 

3.2 Who needs to say ‘yes’ to make your solution happen? (100 words) 
What permissions – formal and informal – do you need? Do you have these permissions already or if not 
how do you think you could get them? At this stage you may not have all the permissions you need, but 
you should have grounds for confidence that you will get them. 

Agreement to take this forward has been given by the Chief Executive of the Local Authority, 
the Chief Executive of the Hospital, the Director of Public Health, the Health and Wellbeing 
Board, the Police Lead and the Board of the Community Development Trust.  In addition, the 
elected members and MP are aware of the proposal and will lobby for its successful 
implementation. 

3.3 Who else will you need or want to engage in the development and/or implementation of 
your solution? (100 words) 

Blue Light services need to be involved, and children, families and young people need to be 
involved in both development and implementation.  Involvement by Education will be critical 
due to their central role in supporting and providing community-based services.  The LIST 
will be part of the solution, and we wish to engage an independent, academic evaluation and 
would seek to commission business and finance support (discussion held with current 
commissioned service through Social Finance). 

3.4 What are the biggest challenges for, risks to or negative unintended consequences from 
your solution and what might you do to overcome or mitigate them? (200 words) 

There are risks and challenges involved in establishing a new model of social work delivery. 
Not least, while the Social Care Practices Working Group explored options for piloting social 
work practices in 2007, an evaluation in 2012 found that devolving budgets and 
commissioning remained problematic, and the potential to create a further tier of 
bureaucracy is significant, creating a resource drain rather than savings.  Interagency 
working may continue to cause difficulties because the language, culture, disciplines and 
performance frameworks are deeply engrained, and the management of risk safely within the 
community is difficult without absolutely holding the reigns. The trust required to create 
transformation may also take longer than we anticipate.  All of these risks also point to 
inspection frameworks that will punish any uncertainty and anything not embedded with 
poor inspection results, potentially further destabilising workforces and political support.  
To mitigate these risks, we will request funding to add transformation capacity because this 
will enable work to continue as normal within existing structures.  We will ensure a 
significant investment in workforce development for incremental change, and will align the 
project within existing governance frameworks, part of the journey we are already on, so that 
it does not add bureaucracy. 

3.5 What impact could any disruption associated with implementing your solution have on 

Page 30



  

6 

the quality of service and outcomes for children during the transition period? What are 
your early thoughts on how to manage this? (200 words) 

Disruption is likely to be around understanding governance arrangements, uncertainty in service 
and practice models and in the management of devolved budgets.  A project plan with agreed 
responsibilities and accountability  will need to be developed with a clear communication and 
information plan.  Allocation of resources at the point of implementation will need to be informed by 
JSNA data and budget plans held by Partners.  Clear pathways will need to show where and how 
children access help to prevent confusion and some agreed integrated working models need to be 
in place to give confidence to those involved in delivery. 

3.6 How much will it cost? (150 words) 
What are your best estimates on the overall costs needed over the next year, and what will your solution 
cost annually beyond that? (At this stage we’re only asking for an overall figure. If we invite you to 
develop a proposal we will ask you for a detailed budget). 

We estimate costs to be approximately £900,000 over the two year transformation phase of 
the project.  This comprises the Project Manager, the Enablers and Business Support, the 
evaluation and the business and finance support as well as a staff development budget, ICT 
investment and some capital budget to facilitate integration.  Beyond the transformation 
period, the costs will reduce to £150,000 based on investment in ongoing staff development 
and infrastructure support.  Service management and delivery will subsequently come 
through the re-design of services. 

3.7 What resources do you intend to leverage to deliver your solution? (150 words) 
From your own resources or via partners and other stakeholders. 

We have the commitment of the shared Safeguarding Lead post to bring into this initiative 
and we already have resources committed to developing the framework we wish to 
implement.  We have invested in business and finance planning to develop a five-year plan 
with projects already staffed within this, such as the development of systemic therapeutic 
services, commissioning different placement types; we also have resources in place for the 
Community Hub, and ICO and have the LIST established and ready to go.  These resource 
commitments are already made and we have the ideological commitment of Partners 
through the journey that we have already begun to swiftly progress the solution. 

3.8 What don’t you know yet? (200 words) 
It’s ok not to know everything at this stage. What things do you still need to work out about your 
proposal and/or how to make it happen? What might you need support to do this? 

We are not clear on timescales for the ICO.  We are not entirely clear around the costs of the 
model post-transformation and what a new model will mean in terms of workforce and 
recruitment and enthusiasm for a new model of practice.  On a macro level, we don’t know 
the local and national political landscape beyond May nor the extent of budget reductions 
and capacity then of the public sector to transform.  Economic changes may impact more 
deeply on our community to increase the need for help across the levels, and the capacity of 
communities to contribute may be impacted by this and a growing lethargy.  We do not know 
whether this level of ambition will be viewed as dangerous across our inspection 
frameworks.  We need to consider the impact of these uncertainties and develop a project 
risk tool informed by clear information and business processes. 

3.9 What could you do to sustain the impact of your solution and to financially sustain the 
activity? (200 words) 
What makes you confident that your innovation can have a sustained impact over many years? How will 
you make sure it becomes mainstream practice rather than peripheral to children’s services in the areas 
in which you are operating? How do you think the activity could be funded once any support from the 
innovation programme ceases? What would you do to ensure this is the case? 

This is not a peripheral programme attached to a service, but a significant structural change 
that can reform public sector services to bring them alongside the communities they serve.  

Page 31



  

7 

The request for pump priming will build the new frameworks and change workforce cultures 
as well as the culture of those requesting services, and an ongoing staff development 
programme that includes the community and voluntary sector will enable and embed new 
relationships and transactions.  Sustaining this new model will require a clear business plan 
(within requested support budget) with financial forcasts identifying the costs against 
outcomes and a complementary outcomes based commissioning plan.  With the new Public 
Service Trust operating within the LIST framework, it will be possible to explore the use 
social investment to fund those activities that the business plan identifies as critical to 
stemming flow and reducing demand.  We believe that the adoption of an overarching set of 
performance metrics will create a single accountable framework, and that this will inform the 
financial commitment across the partnership – this would seek to reduce as the impact of a 
whole system service is felt.  The independent evaluation will include a cost benefit analysis 
to test the model in financial terms. 

 

Section 4 

Summary 
4.1 Summary of your proposal (250 words) 

Please summarise what you want to do and why, and what difference you think it can make and why. 

The proposal is seeking investment to establish a Public Service Trust with a unique legal 
and operational framework.  This journey began with the ICO and our Pioneer status, with 
the planned establishment of a children’s community hub, and using the LIST to ensure 
clear single governance arrangements.  The Trust will devolve budgets for population based 
commissioning to the new Hub Practices, based on the requirement to deliver against a set 
of outcomes.  As well as integrating public sector structures and delivery arrangements, the 
programme will bring about cultural change in the workforce and in the community using a 
strengths-based model of working that empowers communities and individuals and builds 
their resilience.  The difference will be in perception, in the landscape of help and its 
constituent parts, and we expect this to lead to reduced demand, improved outcomes, 
greater satisfaction for those delivering and receiving services, and reduced cost.  In terms 
of models of social work, we are first establishing Early Help/Hub practices (Le Grand’s 
concept) with scope to bring in more local commissioning through this set up.  We are then 
considering how this model may enable social workers to work in a more people-centred 
way, adding to the practices to provide services across all levels of need within a model that 
we may call `Reclaiming Childhood’ as opposed to Reclaiming Social Work (Trowler), 
because of our ambition to place children, not services at the centre, creating responsive, 
affordable and personalised provision to meet need and achieve sustainable outcomes. 

4.2 What do you want to get out of participating in this programme? (150 words) 

This is an opportunity to realise ground-breaking change in public sector delivery to bring lasting 
benefits to our children and families, and we want to be at the forefront of this.  The programme will 
teach us how to listen to our communities better, bringing a different landscape of commissioning 
and greater satisfaction in sourcing and engaging in solutions, and it will teach us to work together.  
We need to reduce overall spend, and anticipate that the project will deliver this both through 
reducing demand and embedding more effective and efficient models of working. 

 
Please turn the page for details on where to submit the form. 

Page 32



 
 
 
 
 

© Crown copyright 2014 

  

 

Submitting the form 

By submitting this expression of interest form you commit to: 

• Working openly with DfE and our programme delivery and evaluation partners. 

• Being open to working in new ways and being supported to develop the skills and capacity to 
do so. If you are invited to develop a full proposal this will include working with an innovation 
coach and other technical experts. 

• If your proposal is funded, participating in a rigorous learning process, including a robust 
evaluation and sharing learning from your process and innovation publicly. 

 
If your expression of interest is unsuccessful, you will receive brief feedback in relation to the 
programme criteria. Due to capacity, we will be unable to share more detailed feedback. 

Please submit this form by email to: innovation@springconsortium.com 

 

Page 33



 

 

 

 

Title: 
 

Update Report – Draft Torbay Housing Partnership Strategy 
Children’s Services/Adult Services/ Public Health 

Wards Affected: 
 

All 

To:   
 

Health and Wellbeing 
Board 

On: 2 October 2014 

Contact:  Julie Sharland 
Telephone:  208065 
Email:  julie.sharland@torbay.gov.uk 
 

1. Achievements since last meeting 

1.1 Completion of draft Housing Partnership Strategy – ( by Officer group) 

1.2      Agreement by the Executive Lead for Strategic Planning, Housing, Energy 
and Environmental Policy (Cllr D Thomas) and Mayor to commence 
consultation 

2. Challenges for the next three months 

2.1 Housing Partners and wider stakeholder comments and input. 

2.2      Overview and Scrutiny - 22nd October 2014 

2.3      Final document -  Full Council Endorsement – meeting 4th December 2014 

3. Action required by partners 

3.1 Review comments/ recommendations re proposed themes, outcomes, and   

           general content. 

 

Appendices 

Draft Strategy 

Agenda Item 8

Page 34



   
 

M
y

 H
o

m
e

 i
s 

m
y

 L
if

e
 

 2
0

1
4

-2
0

1
8

 

G
o

o
d

 q
u

a
li
ty

 h
o

u
si

n
g

 u
n

d
e

rp
in

s 
o

th
e

r 
li
fe

 c
h

a
n

ce
s 

a
n

d
 w

e
ll
b

e
in

g
 

T
o

rb
a

y
’s

 H
o

u
si

n
g

 

P
a

rt
n

e
rs

h
ip

 S
tr

a
te

g
y

 

D
ra

ft
 

Agenda Item 8
Appendix 1

Page 35



 

2
 

  C
o
n
te
n
ts
 P
a
g
e
 

 

1
. 
In
tr
o
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 

2
. 
T
o
rb
a
y
 C
o
n
te
x
t/
 N
e
e
d
 

3
. 
P
ri
o
ri
ty
 T
h
e
m
e
s
 

i)
 
B
ri
d
g
e
 t
h
e
 G
a
p
  
 

ii)
 
H
e
lp
 w
h
e
n
 a
n
d
 w
h
e
re
 i
t’
s
 n
e
e
d
e
d
 

iii
) 
H
e
a
lt
h
y
 H
o
m
e
, 
H
e
a
lt
h
y
 Y
o
u
, 
H
e
a
lt
h
y
 B
a
y
 

4
. 
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 D
e
li
v
e
ry
 

5
. 
 R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

6
. 
R
is
k
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t,
 E
IA
 

7
. 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

8
. 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 2
 

 
 

Page 36



 

3
 

 

B
ri
d
g
e
th
e
G
a
p
O
u
tc
o
m
e
s

*
P
ro
v
id
e
a
m
ix
o
f
h
o
u
se

ty
p
e
s
a
n
d
te
n
u
re
s
to

m
a
tc
h
th
e
lo
ca
l
n
e
e
d
.

*
M
a
ke

b
e
st

u
se

o
f
e
xi
st
in
g
so
ci
a
l
h
o
u
si
n
g
st
o
ck

a
n
d
e
m
p
ty

h
o
m
e
s.

W
o
rk
in
g
w
it
h
p
ri
v
a
te

la
n
d
lo
rd
s
in
cl
u
d
in
g
p
ri
v
a
te

re
ti
re
m
e
n
t
sc
h
e
m
e
s
to

m
a
ke

b
e
st
u
se

a
n
d
b
u
il
d
su
cc
e
ss
fu
l
m
ix
e
d
co
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s

*
Im
p
ro
v
e
th
e
st
a
n
d
a
rd

o
f
n
e
w

a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le

h
o
u
si
n
g
to

e
n
su
re

h
o
m
e
s

co
st

le
ss

to
h
e
a
t,

m
a
in
ta
in

a
n
d

m
in
im
iz
e

th
e

im
p
a
ct

o
n

th
e

e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t.

*
Im
p
ro
v
e
st
a
n
d
a
rd
s
in
th
e
P
ri
v
a
te

R
e
n
te
d
S
e
ct
o
r
to

e
n
co
u
ra
g
e
ch
o
ic
e

in
th
e
m
a
rk
e
t

H
e
lp
w
h
e
n
a
n
d
w
h
e
re

it
's
n
e
e
d
e
d
O
u
tc
o
m
e
s

*
C
lo
se
r
w
o
rk
in
g
w
it
h
p
a
rt
n
e
rs

a
n
d
th
e
v
o
lu
n
ta
ry

se
ct
o
r
–
a
ch
ie
v
in
g
,

in
cr
e
a
se
d
ch
o
ic
e
,
se
lf
h
e
lp

a
n
d
a
cc
e
ss

to
a
d
v
ic
e
(e
sp
e
ci
a
ll
y
fi
n
a
n
ci
a
l)

a
n
d
e
a
rl
y
in
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
a
cr
o
ss
a
g
e
n
ci
e
s
a
n
d
co
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s

*
Im
p
ro
v
e
h
o
u
si
n
g
o
ff
e
r
to

m
e
e
t
a
ra
n
g
e
o
f
lo
ca
l
n
e
e
d
s
a
n
d
a
sp
ir
a
ti
o
n
s.

*
Lo
ca
l
su
p
p
o
rt
fo
r
th
o
se

m
o
st
v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
(s
p
e
ci
fi
ca
ll
y
to

m
it
ig
a
te

th
e

im
p
a
ct
s
o
f
W
e
lf
a
re
re
fo
rm

)

*
H
o
u
si
n
g
th
a
t
is
p
a
rt
o
f
a
n
in
te
g
ra
te
d
a
p
p
ro
a
ch

to
h
e
a
lt
h
,
so
ci
a
l
ca
re

a
n
d
su
p
p
o
rt
ke
e
p
in
g
p
e
o
p
le
h
e
a
lt
h
y
a
n
d
in
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t
a
s
th
e
y
a
g
e
a
n
d

m
a
k
in
g
su
re
th
e
y
h
a
v
e
th
e
b
e
st
st
a
rt
in
li
fe
.

*
Lo
n
g
te
rm

p
la
ce
m
e
n
ts

fo
r
a
d
u
lt
s
a
n
d
ch
il
d
re
n
in
to

re
si
d
e
n
ti
a
l
a
n
d

n
u
rs
in
g
ca
re

a
re

re
d
u
ce
d
.
E
n
su
re

m
o
re

p
e
o
p
le
w
it
h
le
a
rn
in
g
d
is
a
b
il
it
ie
s

a
n
d
th
o
se

w
it
h
p
o
o
r
m
e
n
ta
l
h
e
a
lt
h
a
re

a
b
le
to

li
v
e
in
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
tl
y
a
n
d

o
ld
e
r
p
e
o
p
le
a
re
e
n
a
b
le
d
to

re
m
a
in
in
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t
in
th
e
ir
o
w
n
h
o
m
e

H
e
a
lt
h
y
H
o
m
e
,
H
e
a
lt
h
y
Y
o
u
,
H
e
a
lt
h
y
B
a
y
O
u
tc
o
m
e
s

*
G
o
o
d
q
u
a
li
ty

h
o
m
e
s
w
it
h
h
ig
h
e
n
e
rg
y
e
ff
ic
ie
n
cy
,
sa
fe
ty
,

m
in
im
u
m
st
a
n
d
a
rd
s
a
n
d
g
o
o
d
La
n
d
lo
rd
s

*
Im
p
ro
ve

a
n
d
m
a
in
ta
in
in
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
ce

a
n
d
in
cl
u
si
o
n
,
e
ff
e
ct
iv
e

su
p
p
o
rt
fo
r
d
is
a
b
le
d
,
o
ld
e
r
p
e
o
p
le
a
n
d
v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
g
ro
u
p
s.

*
E
n
su
re

h
o
u
si
n
g
is
d
e
si
g
n
e
d
a
n
d
m
a
in
ta
in
e
d
to

m
in
im
is
e

e
xp
o
su
re
to
b
o
th
in
d
o
o
r
a
n
d
o
u
td
o
o
r
p
o
ll
u
ta
n
ts
,
in
cl
u
d
in
g
d
a
m
p
,

m
o
u
ld
,
co
m
b
u
st
io
n
,
C
O
,
P
a
rt
ic
u
la
te
s,
n
o
is
e
,
a
sb
e
st
o
s

*
R
e
d
u
ce

in
ju
ri
e
s
in
h
o
m
e
-
e
sp
e
ci
a
ll
y
fa
ll
s
in
th
e
e
ld
e
rl
y
;
a
n
d

a
cc
id
e
n
ts
a
m
o
n
g
ch
il
d
re
n

*
D
e
si
g
n
h
e
a
lt
h
y
h
o
m
e
s
to
e
n
co
u
ra
g
e
p
h
ys
ic
a
l
a
ct
iv
it
y
e
.g
w
a
lk
/

cy
cl
e
/p
la
y
/g
a
rd
e
n
e
tc
.
a
n
d
a
cc
e
ss
to
h
e
a
lt
h
y
fo
o
d
a
n
d
li
fe
st
y
le
s.

        

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 T

h
e

m
e

 D
e

li
v

e
ra

b
le

 O
u

tc
o

m
e

s 

Page 37



 

4
 

   M
y
 H
o
m
e
 i
s
 m

y
 L
if
e
  
 -
 T
O
R
B
A
Y
’S
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 

 2
0
1
4
 –
 2
0
1
8
 

 F
o
re
w
o
rd
, 
C
llr
 T
h
o
m
a
s
 a
n
d
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
  

 1
- 
In
tr
o
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 

 T
h
is
 i
s
 T
o
rb
a
y
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 n
e
w
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 f
o
r 
2
0
1
4
/1
5
 t
o
 2
0
1
7
/1
8
. 
 I
t 
h
a
s
 c
o
m
e
 a
t 
a
 t
im
e
 w
h
e
n
 t
h
e
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
e
c
o
n
o
m
y
 h
a
s
 s
u
ff
e
re
d
 a
 

s
u
s
ta
in
e
d
 p
e
ri
o
d
 o
f 
u
n
c
e
rt
a
in
ty
 a
ff
e
c
ti
n
g
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 s
u
p
p
ly
 a
n
d
 d
e
m
a
n
d
 i
n
 m

a
n
y
 d
if
fe
re
n
t 
w
a
y
s
 f
o
r 
th
e
 p
a
s
t 
s
ix
 y
e
a
rs
. 

It
 i
s
 c
a
lle
d
 “
M
y
 H
o
m
e
 i
s
 m

y
 L
if
e
” 
b
e
c
a
u
s
e
 g
o
o
d
 q
u
a
lit
y
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 u
n
d
e
rp
in
s
 o
th
e
r 
lif
e
 c
h
a
n
c
e
s
 a
n
d
 w
e
llb
e
in
g
. 
It
 i
s
 r
e
c
o
g
n
is
e
d
 a
s
 a
 k
e
y
 

d
e
te
rm

in
a
n
t 
o
f 
g
o
o
d
 h
e
a
lt
h
. 
 I
t 
is
 n
o
t 
ju
s
t 
a
b
o
u
t 
b
ri
c
k
s
 a
n
d
 m

o
rt
a
r,
 i
t 
is
 a
b
o
u
t 
th
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 i
n
 w
h
ic
h
 p
e
o
p
le
 l
iv
e
, 
th
e
ir
 h
o
p
e
s
 f
o
r 
th
e
m
s
e
lv
e
s
 

a
n
d
 e
a
c
h
 o
th
e
r.
 G
o
o
d
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 i
n
fl
u
e
n
c
e
s
 l
if
e
 c
h
a
n
c
e
s
, 
e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
, 
w
o
rk
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
, 
g
o
o
d
 h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 f
re
e
d
o
m
 f
ro
m
 f
e
a
r 
o
f 
c
ri
m
e
. 

T
h
e
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
d
d
re
s
s
e
s
  
th
e
s
e
 c
h
a
lle
n
g
e
s
 a
n
d
 t
a
k
e
s
 n
e
w
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 t
o
 s
e
t 
a
m
b
it
io
u
s
 p
la
n
s
 t
o
 r
e
c
o
g
n
is
e
 o
u
r 
lo
c
a
l 
p
re
s
s
u
re
s
, 
e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 r
e
s
ili
e
n
c
e
, 
b
u
ild
 a
s
 m

u
c
h
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 t
h
a
t 
o
ff
e
rs
 a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 c
h
o
ic
e
, 
ta
c
k
le
  
h
o
m
e
le
s
s
n
e
s
s
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 n
e
w
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 o
p
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 s
tr
e
n
g
th
e
n
 

o
u
r 
ro
le
 i
n
 t
h
e
 p
ri
v
a
te
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 s
e
c
to
r 
o
v
e
r 
th
e
 n
e
x
t 
th
re
e
/ 
fo
u
r 
y
e
a
rs
. 

T
h
e
 r
e
tu
rn
 o
f 
th
e
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
ili
ty
 t
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 t
h
e
 h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 w
e
llb
e
in
g
 o
f 
lo
c
a
l 
p
e
o
p
le
 t
o
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s
 h
a
s
 b
ro
u
g
h
t 
w
it
h
 i
t 
a
 r
e
n
e
w
e
d
 e
m
p
h
a
s
is
 

to
 t
a
c
k
le
 t
h
e
 ‘
c
a
u
s
e
s
 o
f 
th
e
 c
a
u
s
e
s
’ 
o
f 
p
o
o
r 
h
e
a
lt
h
. 
C
o
u
n
c
ils
 h
a
v
e
 a
n
 i
n
fl
u
e
n
c
e
 o
v
e
r 
th
e
 d
a
y
-t
o
-d
a
y
 c
o
n
d
it
io
n
s
 i
n
 w
h
ic
h
 p
e
o
p
le
 l
iv
e
, 
s
o
 a
re
 w
e
ll 

p
la
c
e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 t
h
e
 m

o
s
t 
o
f 
a
 m

o
v
e
 a
w
a
y
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 m

e
d
ic
a
l 
m
o
d
e
l 
o
f 
h
e
a
lt
h
 b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 c
lin
ic
a
l 
tr
e
a
tm

e
n
t 
to
 a
 s
o
c
ia
l 
m
o
d
e
l 
b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 h
e
a
lt
h
 

p
ro
m
o
ti
o
n
, 
p
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 p
re
v
e
n
ti
o
n
. 
T
h
e
re
 a
re
 k
e
y
 p
o
lic
y
 a
re
a
s
 –
 t
h
e
 s
o
c
ia
l 
d
e
te
rm

in
a
n
ts
 o
f 
h
e
a
lt
h
 -
 w
h
e
re
 a
c
ti
o
n
 i
s
 l
ik
e
ly
 t
o
 b
e
 m

o
s
t 
e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 

in
 r
e
d
u
c
in
g
 h
e
a
lt
h
 i
n
e
q
u
a
lit
ie
s
. 
A
c
ti
o
n
 o
n
 t
h
e
 s
u
p
p
ly
, 
p
ro
v
is
io
n
 a
n
d
 m

a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 i
s
 o
n
e
 o
f 
th
e
s
e
 k
e
y
 a
re
a
s
. 

 

Page 38



 

5
 

 It
 r
a
n
g
e
s
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 “
b
ri
c
k
s
 a
n
d
 m

o
rt
a
r”
 o
f 
th
e
 h
o
m
e
 i
ts
e
lf
, 
th
ro
u
g
h
 t
o
 t
h
e
 c
o
n
d
it
io
n
 o
f 
th
e
 i
n
te
ri
o
r 
o
f 
th
e
 p
ro
p
e
rt
y
, 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 f
o
r 
th
o
s
e
 w
h
o
 a
re
 

h
o
m
e
le
s
s
 a
n
d
 i
n
 p
ri
o
ri
ty
 n
e
e
d
, 
th
ro
u
g
h
 t
o
 r
e
g
u
la
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 s
o
c
ia
l 
la
n
d
lo
rd
s
 a
n
d
 p
ri
v
a
te
 l
a
n
d
lo
rd
s
 s
e
c
to
rs
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
p
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s
 a
re
 

a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
ly
 m

a
n
a
g
e
d
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 t
e
n
a
n
ts
 a
re
 n
o
t 
p
la
c
e
d
 a
t 
a
n
y
 u
n
d
u
e
 r
is
k
 o
f 
h
a
rm

. 
 F
o
r 
s
o
m
e
 c
lie
n
ts
 p
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s
 c
a
n
 b
e
 a
d
a
p
te
d
 t
o
 e
n
a
b
le
 t
h
e
m
 

to
 l
iv
e
 i
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
tl
y
 i
n
 t
h
e
ir
 o
w
n
 h
o
m
e
 f
o
r 
lo
n
g
e
r.
  
T
h
e
rm

a
l 
in
s
u
la
ti
o
n
 i
s
 a
ls
o
 a
 k
e
y
 i
s
s
u
e
 t
o
 e
n
a
b
le
 p
e
o
p
le
 t
o
 b
e
 a
b
le
 t
o
 k
e
e
p
 t
h
e
ir
 h
o
m
e
s
 

w
a
rm

e
r 
fo
r 
lo
n
g
e
r 
a
n
d
 r
e
d
u
c
e
 t
h
e
ir
 f
u
e
l 
p
o
v
e
rt
y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
. 

A
t 
th
e
 s
a
m
e
 t
im
e
, 
a
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
in
g
/s
p
e
c
ia
lis
t 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
n
d
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 r
e
la
te
d
 s
tr
a
te
g
ie
s
 h
a
v
e
 c
o
m
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 e
n
d
 o
f 
th
e
ir
 t
e
rm

 a
n
d
 f
u
n
d
in
g
. 

T
h
e
re
fo
re
, 
w
e
 h
a
v
e
 t
a
k
e
n
 a
n
 i
n
n
o
v
a
ti
v
e
 a
n
d
 f
o
rw
a
rd
 t
h
in
k
in
g
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
in
g
 t
h
is
 n
e
w
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 w
it
h
 o
u
r 
P
a
rt
n
e
rs
. 
 I
n
 t
h
is
 w
a
y
 

w
e
 w
ill
 m

a
k
e
 b
e
s
t 
u
s
e
 o
f 
e
x
is
ti
n
g
 a
n
d
 n
e
w
 h
o
u
s
in
g
, 
m
a
k
in
g
 s
u
re
 p
e
o
p
le
 h
a
v
e
 h
o
m
e
s
 f
o
r 
lif
e
 w
h
e
n
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 w
it
h
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 r
ig
h
t 
ty
p
e
 o
f 

h
o
u
s
in
g
, 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
 a
n
d
 c
a
re
 a
t 
th
e
 r
ig
h
t 
ti
m
e
. 
T
h
e
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 w
ill
 c
o
n
tr
ib
u
te
 t
o
 t
h
e
 H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 W

e
ll 
b
e
in
g
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
n
d
 T
o
rb
a
y
 a
n
d
 

S
o
u
th
e
rn
 D
e
v
o
n
’s
 a
im
s
 t
o
 r
e
d
u
c
e
 b
e
d
 b
a
s
e
d
 c
a
re
 a
n
d
 p
ro
m
o
te
 i
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 s
e
lf
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
c
o
n
d
it
io
n
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 w
it
h
 

h
o
u
s
in
g
 f
o
rm

in
g
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
a
n
 i
n
te
g
ra
te
d
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 s
o
c
ia
l 
c
a
re
. 

W
e
 h
a
v
e
 n
o
t 
h
a
d
 a
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
S
tr
a
te
g
y
 f
o
r 
a
 c
o
u
p
le
 o
f 
y
e
a
rs
 a
n
d
 h
a
v
e
 t
h
e
re
fo
re
 p
ro
d
u
c
e
d
 a
n
 O
v
e
r-
a
rc
h
in
g
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 w
h
ic
h
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
s
 f
o
u
r 
k
e
y
 

p
ri
o
ri
ty
 t
h
e
m
e
s
 w
h
ic
h
 c
o
n
ta
in
, 
o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 a
n
d
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
s
 T
h
e
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
s
 w
ill
 b
e
 r
e
v
ie
w
e
d
 o
n
 a
n
 a
n
n
u
a
l 
b
a
s
is
, 
m
o
n
it
o
re
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 T
o
rb
a
y
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
. 
T
h
e
 o
v
e
r-
a
rc
h
in
g
 d
o
c
u
m
e
n
t 
is
 i
n
te
n
d
e
d
 t
o
 s
h
o
w
 h
o
w
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 w
ill
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
 a
n
d
 t
a
c
k
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 n
e
e
d
, 
p
ro
m
o
te
 n
e
w
 

h
o
u
s
in
g
 o
p
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 c
o
n
d
it
io
n
s
 a
c
ro
s
s
 a
ll 
te
n
u
re
s
 e
n
c
o
m
p
a
s
s
in
g
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 t
o
p
ic
s
 t
h
a
t 
s
p
e
c
if
ic
a
lly
 c
o
v
e
r:
 

 

•
 

L
iv
in
g
 E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 

 •
 

T
h
e
 s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu
l 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 m
a
rk
e
t 

  •
 

R
ig
h
t 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
t 
th
e
 r
ig
h
t 
ti
m
e
 

 •
 

S
p
e
c
ia
lis
t 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 n
e
e
d
s
 f
o
r 
th
o
s
e
 n
e
e
d
in
g
 c
a
re
 a
n
d
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 (
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 O

ld
e
r 
P
e
o
p
le
, 
a
s
 w
e
ll 
a
s
  
th
o
s
e
 w
it
h
 l
e
a
rn
in
g
 d
is
a
b
ili
ti
e
s
 a
n
d
 

o
th
e
r 
lo
n
g
 t
e
rm

 c
o
n
d
it
io
n
s
) 

 

Page 39



 

6
 

   
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

 T
o
rb
a
y
 C
o
n
te
x
t/
 N
e
e
d
 

 T
h
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 2
0
1
4
 –
 2
0
1
8
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 i
n
fo
rm

e
d
 b
y
 a
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 
n
e
e
d
s
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
, 
s
p
e
c
if
ic
 l
in
k
s
 c
a
n
 b
e
 f
o
u
n
d
 a
t 

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
. 
It
 i
s
 r
e
c
o
g
n
is
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
c
e
rt
a
in
 m

a
rk
e
t 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 h
a
s
 n
o
t 
b
e
e
n
 u
p
d
a
te
d
 r
e
c
e
n
tl
y
, 
h
o
w
e
v
e
r 
w
e
 d
o
 h
a
v
e
 a
 r
e
c
e
n
t 
J
S
N
A
 

jo
in
t 
s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 N
e
e
d
s
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 a
n
d
 a
 M
a
rk
e
t 
P
o
s
it
io
n
 

S
ta
te
m
e
n
th
tt
p
:/
/w
w
w
.t
o
rb
a
y
.g
o
v
.u
k
/i
n
d
e
x
/y
o
u
rs
e
rv
ic
e
s
/a
d
u
lt
s
/m

a
rk
e
tp
o
s
it
io
n
s
ta
te
m
e
n
t.
h
tm

 w
h
ic
h
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 a
d
o
p
te
d
 b
y
 H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 W

e
ll 
B
e
in
g
 

B
o
a
rd
. 

W
e
 r
e
c
o
g
n
is
e
 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 u
p
d
a
te
 t
h
is
 M
P
S
 w
it
h
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
C
h
ild
re
n
’s
 a
n
d
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 p
o
s
it
io
n
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
. 
T
h
e
 k
n
o
w
le
d
g
e
 o
f 
o
u
r 

p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 i
s
 a
ls
o
 a
 v
a
lu
a
b
le
 s
o
u
rc
e
 i
n
 i
n
fo
rm

in
g
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 t
h
a
t 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
s
 o
u
r 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 a
n
d
 m

o
re
 v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 g
ro
u
p
s
. 
It
 i
s
 i
m
p
o
rt
a
n
t 
to
 e
n
s
u
re
 o
n
 –
 

g
o
in
g
 d
ia
lo
g
u
e
 w
it
h
 c
o
lle
a
g
u
e
s
 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il 
p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 a
n
d
 b
e
y
o
n
d
. 
 

 T
h
e
 p
u
rp
o
s
e
 o
f 
th
is
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 i
s
 t
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 a
 f
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 f
o
r 
jo
in
t 
c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
, 
a
n
d
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 w
o
rk
in
g
, 
a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 t
h
e
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 P
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 a
n
d
 

o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
, 
a
n
d
 c
o
n
tr
ib
u
te
 t
o
w
a
rd
s
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 o
f 
th
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 W

e
ll 
B
e
in
g
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
. 
T
h
e
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 w
ill
 b
e
 i
n
fo
rm

e
d
 b
y
 a
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 s
tr
a
te
g
ie
s
 f
o
r 
v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 p
e
o
p
le
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
, 
le
a
rn
in
g
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty
, 
d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 a
n
d
 m

e
n
ta
l 
h
e
a
lt
h
, 
C
h
ild
re
n
’s
 C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 p
la
n
, 

C
h
ild
re
n
 a
n
d
 Y
o
u
n
g
 P
e
o
p
le
s
 P
la
n
, 
a
n
d
 C
h
ild
 P
o
v
e
rt
y
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

T
h
e
 i
m
p
o
rt
a
n
c
e
 o
f 
th
e
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 m

a
rk
e
t 
fo
r 
T
o
rb
a
y
’s
 e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 w
e
llb
e
in
g
 m

e
a
n
s
 t
h
a
t 
th
is
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 w
ill
 c
o
n
tr
ib
u
te
 t
o
 e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 g
ro
w
th
, 

re
c
o
g
n
is
e
 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 t
a
c
k
le
 p
o
v
e
rt
y
. 
C
h
ild
re
n
 i
n
 p
o
v
e
rt
y
 h
a
v
e
 l
o
w
e
r 
s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 o
f 
liv
in
g
 t
h
a
t 
h
a
v
e
 a
n
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
h
e
ir
 l
iv
e
s
. 
C
h
ild
re
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

p
o
o
re
s
t 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 a
re
 o
ft
e
n
 l
iv
in
g
 i
n
 a
 h
o
m
e
 i
n
 p
o
o
r 
re
p
a
ir
 .
M
a
n
y
 o
f 
th
e
s
e
 a
re
 o
ft
e
n
 d
a
m
p
, 
a
n
d
 c
h
ild
re
n
 a
re
 a
t 
g
re
a
te
r 
ri
s
k
 o
f 
lo
n
g
-t
e
rm

 

re
s
p
ir
a
to
ry
 p
ro
b
le
m
s
, 
s
u
c
h
 a
s
 a
s
th
m
a
. 
O
th
e
r 
h
e
a
lt
h
 p
ro
b
le
m
s
, 
s
u
c
h
 a
s
 d
ia
b
e
te
s
 a
n
d
 o
b
e
s
it
y
, 
a
re
 m
o
re
 c
o
m
m
o
n
 a
m
o
n
g
 p
o
o
r 
c
h
ild
re
n
. 
It
 w
ill
 

a
ls
o
 p
ro
m
o
te
 d
e
c
e
n
t 
s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
, 
s
a
fe
 l
o
n
g
 t
e
rm

 h
o
u
s
in
g
 t
e
n
u
re
 a
n
d
 s
ta
b
ili
ty
 f
o
r 
th
o
s
e
 t
h
a
t 
n
e
e
d
 i
t 
m
o
s
t.
 W

e
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 r
e
c
o
g
n
is
e
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
re
 w
ill
 b
e
 

a
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
d
 s
h
o
rt
a
g
e
 o
f 
h
o
m
e
s
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 f
o
r 
lo
w
 –
 i
n
c
o
m
e
 f
a
m
ili
e
s
 (
p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 y
o
u
n
g
e
r)
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
. 

O
u
r 
u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 o
f 
th
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 m

a
rk
e
t 
is
 l
im
it
e
d
 a
s
 t
h
e
 l
a
te
s
t 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 c
o
n
d
it
io
n
 s
u
rv
e
y
 d
a
te
s
 t
o
 2
0
1
1
. 
T
h
e
 e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 c
h
a
lle
n
g
e
s
 

fa
c
in
g
 T
o
rb
a
y
 a
re
 u
n
d
e
rs
to
o
d
 h
o
w
e
v
e
r 
th
e
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
 t
h
e
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 m
a
rk
e
t 
to
 s
ti
m
u
la
te
 a
n
d
 s
u
s
ta
in
 e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 g
ro
w
th
 h
a
s
 n
o
t 
p
re
v
io
u
s
ly
 

b
e
e
n
 c
le
a
rl
y
 a
rt
ic
u
la
te
d
. 
T
h
e
re
 i
s
 a
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
d
 p
re
s
s
u
re
 o
n
 t
h
e
 a
g
e
in
g
 p
ri
v
a
te
ly
 r
e
n
te
d
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 s
e
c
to
r,
 w
it
h
 a
 d
is
ti
n
c
t 
la
c
k
 o
f 
in
v
e
s
tm

e
n
t 
in
 

Page 40



 

7
 

 p
ro
v
id
in
g
 g
o
o
d
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
 t
e
n
a
n
te
d
 p
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s
. 
T
h
is
 l
im
it
s
 t
h
e
 q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 
lif
e
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 f
o
r 
te
n
a
n
ts
 i
n
 T
o
rb
a
y
 a
n
d
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
s
 t
h
e
 g
a
p
 i
n
 

in
e
q
u
a
lit
ie
s
. 

T
h
e
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 r
e
fl
e
c
ts
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 r
o
le
 i
n
 d
is
c
h
a
rg
in
g
 a
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 
s
ta
tu
to
ry
 d
u
ti
e
s
 s
u
c
h
 a
s
 t
h
o
s
e

 r
e
la
ti
n
g
 t
o
 h
o
m
e
le
s
s
n
e
s
s
, 
p
ri
v
a
te
 s
e
c
to
r 

h
o
u
s
in
g
, 
re
s
p
o
n
s
ib
ili
ty
 f
o
r 
p
u
b
lic
 h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 s
o
c
ia
l 
c
a
re
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 s
a
fe
g
u
a
rd
in
g
 o
f 
v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 c
h
ild
re
n
 a
n
d

 a
d
u
lt
s
. 
 

 H
o
u
s
in
g
 b
y
 t
e
n
u
re
 

S
o

u
r
c

e
: 

T
o

rb
a

y
 P

r
iv

a
te

 S
e

c
to

r
 H

o
u

s
e
 C

o
n

d
it

io
n
 

S
u

rv
e

y
 2
0
0
6
/2
0
0
8
/2
0
0
9
/2
0
1
1
 

 

 T
e
n
u
re
 

D
w
e
ll
in
g
s
 

2
0
1
1
 

P
e
rc
e
n
t 

2
0
1
1
 

T
o
rb
a
y
 

2
0
0
9
 

T
o
rb
a
y
 

2
0
0
8
 

T
o
rb
a
y
 

2
0
0
6
 

E
H
C
S
 

2
0
0
8
 

O
w
n
e
r 

O
c
c
u
p
ie
d
 

 

4
4
,8
7
0
  

7
0
.1
%
  

7
1
.8
%
  

7
1
.8
%
  

7
2
.0
%
  

6
8
%
 

P
ri
v
a
te
ly
 

re
n
te
d
 

 

1
3
,9
5
0
  

2
1
.8
%
  

1
9
.6
%
  

1
9
.4
%
  

1
9
.7
%
  

1
4
%
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 

A
s
s
o
c
ia
ti
o
n
 

(R
S
L
) 

 

5
,1
6
0
  

8
.1
%
  

8
.6
%
  

8
.8
%
  

8
.3
%
  

8
%
 

L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
* 

 

0
  

0
.0
%
  

0
.0
%
  

0
.0
%
  

0
.0
%
  

1
0
%
 

T
o
ta
l 

6
3
,9
8
0
 

1
0
0
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

 T
o
rb
a
y
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 i
n
p
u
t 
- 

In
 T
o
rb
a
y
?
 W

h
a
t 
d
o
e
s
 o
u
r 
N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
/ 
a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
 l
o
o
k
 l
ik
e
 t
h
a
t 
h
e
lp
 l
o
c
a
l 
p
e
o
p
le
, 
in
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r 
th
e
 m

o
re
 v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
, 
to
 f
e
e
l 
m
o
re
 

in
v
o
lv
e
d
 a
n
d

 i
n
 c
o
n
tr
o
l 
o
f 
th
e
ir
 l
iv
e
s
 w

h
ic
h
 i
n
 t
u
rn
 h
e
lp
s
 t
h
e
m
 t
o
 b
e
 h
e
a
lt
h
ie
r 
a
n
d
 m

o
re
 r
e
s
ili
e
n
t 
to
 e
x
te
rn
a
l 
p
re
s
s
u
re
s
. 
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 –
 t
h
is
 n
e
e
d
s
 t
o
 b
e
 a
n
 a
g
e
n
d
a
 i
te
m
 t
o
 d
is
c
u
s
s
 a
t 
P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 F
o
ru
m
, 
o
n
 p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 
d
ra
ft
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
.L
D
s
 r
e
c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 o
f 
d
a
y
 o
p
p
s
 

m
a
y
 f
it
 w
e
ll 
h
e
re
 a
s
 w
e
ll 
a
s
 d
if
fe
re
n
t 
a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l 
re
h
a
b
 a
n
d
 n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 
s
h
a
re
d
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
?
 

 L
in
k
 t
o
 s
o
c
ia
l 
is
o
la
ti
o
n
 i
n
 o
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 

Page 41



 

8
 

 A
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 t
im
e
ly
 f
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
a
d
v
ic
e
 

 R
e
s
id
e
n
t 
le
d
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 e
m
p
o
w
e
rm

e
n
t 

 P
ri
o
ri
ty
 T
h
e
m
e
s
 

   
  
T
h
e
m
e
 

B
ri
d
g
e
 t
h
e
 G
a
p
 -
 I
n
c
re
a
s
e
 c
h
o
ic
e
, 
q
u
a
lit
y
 a
n
d
 a
ff
o
rd
a
b
ili
ty
 -
 P
ri
v
a
te
 s
e
c
to
r 
a
n
d
 A
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
  
  

 G
o
o
d
 q
u
a
lit
y
, 
d
e
c
e
n
t 
h
o
m
e
s
 p
ro
v
id
e
 a
n
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
y
 f
o
r 
s
ta
b
le
 f
a
m
ily
 l
if
e
. 
T
h
e
y
 u
n
d
e
rp
in
 e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 g
ro
w
th
 a
n
d
 h
e
lp
 c
re
a
te
 t
h
ri
v
in
g
, 
s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
. 
H
o
w
e
v
e
r,
 f
o
r 
s
o
m
e
 g
e
tt
in
g
 o
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 l
a
d
d
e
r 
is
 v
e
ry
 c
h
a
lle
n
g
in
g
. 
D
e
m
a
n
d
 o
u
ts
tr
ip
s
 s
u
p
p
ly
, 
th
e
 a
v
a
ila
b
ili
ty
 o
f 
m
o
rt
g
a
g
e
 

fi
n
a
n
c
in
g
 i
s
 l
im
it
e
d
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 v
a
ri
e
s
 h
u
g
e
ly
 a
c
ro
s
s
 T
o
rb
a
y
. 

F
o
r 
th
e
 y
o
u
n
g
, 
th
e
 d
if
fi
c
u
lt
ie
s
 o
f 
‘s
ta
y
in
g
 l
o
c
a
l’ 
c
a
n
 d
is
ru
p
t 
th
e
 t
ra
d
it
io
n
a
l 
fa
m
ily
 n
e
tw
o
rk
s
 u
p
o
n
 w
h
ic
h
 s
tr
o
n
g
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 a
re
 b
a
s
e
d
. 

F
o
r 
fa
m
ili
e
s
, 
u
n
c
e
rt
a
in
ty
 o
v
e
r 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 c
a
n
 u
n
d
e
rm

in
e
 t
h
e
 c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 t
h
e
y
 m

a
k
e
 t
o
 o
u
r 
e
c
o
n
o
m
y
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 w
o
rk
 a
n
d
 a
c
ti
v
e
 c
it
iz
e
n
s
h
ip
. 

F
o
r 
T
o
rb
a
y
’s
 i
n
c
re
a
s
in
g
 e
ld
e
rl
y
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 h
o
m
e
s
 t
h
a
t 
m
e
e
t 
th
e
ir
 c
h
a
n
g
in
g
 n
e
e
d
s
 a
re
 g
ro
w
in
g
. 

W
it
h
 a
n
 a
g
e
in
g
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 i
n
 T
o
rb
a
y
 t
h
e
re
 i
s
 a
 c
le
a
r 
d
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
tr
a
v
e
l 
fo
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 t
o
 r
e
m
a
in
 i
n
 t
h
e
ir
 o
w
n
 h
o
m
e
s
 l
o
n
g
e
r 
n
o
t 
o
n
ly
 t
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 t
h
e
ir
 

q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 
lif
e
 b
u
t 
a
ls
o
 t
o
 r
e
d
u
c
e
 t
h
e
 p
re
s
s
u
re
 o
n
 t
h
e
 p
u
b
lic
 p
u
rs
e
. 
N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
p
o
lic
y
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 a
re
 a
ls
o
 r
e
s
h
a
p
in
g
 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 
o
u
r 
p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
. 
 I
n
 

o
rd
e
r 
to
 m

e
e
t 
th
e
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
d
 p
re
s
s
u
re
s
 p
la
c
e
d
 o
n
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 w
a
k
e
 o
f 
w
e
lf
a
re
 r
e
fo
rm

s
 t
h
e
re
 i
s
 a
 n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 
a
n
 i
n
n
o
v
a
ti
v
e
 a
n
d
 f
le
x
ib
le
 

a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 t
h
e
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
te
m
p
o
ra
ry
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
  

T
h
e
 a
g
e
 a
n
d
 q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 
th
e
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 s
to
c
k
 i
n
 T
o
rb
a
y
 m

e
a
n
s
 t
h
a
t 
it
 i
s
 p
o
o
rl
y
 i
n
s
u
la
te
d
 a
n
d
 g
e
n
e
ra
lly
 i
n
e
ff
ic
ie
n
t,
 l
e
a
d
in
g
 t
o
 p
o
o
r 
liv
in
g
 c
o
n
d
it
io
n
s
 

a
n
d
 a
n
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
 i
n
 f
u
e
l 
p
o
v
e
rt
y
.7
1
.4
 %

 o
f 
th
e
 P
ri
v
a
te
 R
e
n
te
d
 S
e
c
to
r 
re
c
e
iv
e
s
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 B
e
n
e
fi
t.
 T
h
is
 a
d
d
s
 p
re
s
s
u
re
 t
o
 s
ta
tu
to
ry
 a
g
e
n
c
ie
s
 a
n
d
 

a
d
d
s
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
p
re
s
s
u
re
 o
n
 t
h
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 m

a
rk
e
t.
  

 It
 w
ill
 b
e
 a
n
 o
n
 –
 g
o
in
g
 c
h
a
lle
n
g
e
 t
o
 m

a
n
a
g
e
 e
x
p
e
c
ta
ti
o
n
s
 –
 w
e
 c
a
n
’t
 h
o
u
s
e
 e
v
e
ry
o
n
e
 i
n
 a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
  
 

  

Page 42



 

9
 

 O
u

tc
o

m
e

s
 

1
. 
P
ro
v
id
e
 a
 m
ix
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
 t
y
p
e
s
 a
n
d
 t
e
n
u
re
s
 t
o
 m
a
tc
h
 t
h
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
n
e
e
d
. 

 2
. 
M
a
k
e
 b
e
s
t 
u
s
e
 o
f 
e
x
is
ti
n
g
 s
o
c
ia
l 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 s
to
c
k
 a
n
d
 e
m
p
ty
 h
o
m
e
s
. 
W
o
rk
in
g
 w
it
h
 p
ri
v
a
te
 l
a
n
d
lo
rd
s
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 p
ri
v
a
te
 r
e
ti
re
m
e
n
t 

s
c
h
e
m
e
s
 t
o
 m
a
k
e
 b
e
s
t 
u
s
e
 a
n
d
 b
u
ild
 s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu
l 
m
ix
e
d
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 

 
3
. 
Im
p
ro
v
e
 t
h
e
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
 o
f 
n
e
w
 a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 h
o
m
e
s
 c
o
s
t 
le
s
s
 t
o
 h
e
a
t,
 m
a
in
ta
in
 a
n
d
 m
in
im
iz
e
 t
h
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
h
e
 

e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t.
 

 
4
. 
Im
p
ro
v
e
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 P
ri
v
a
te
 R
e
n
te
d
 S
e
c
to
r 
to
 e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
 c
h
o
ic
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 m
a
rk
e
t 

  

Y
e
a
r 

N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
L
e
tt
in
g
s
 p
e
r 
A
n
n
u
m
 

S
o
c
ia
l 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 

W
a
it
in
g
 L
is
t 
F
ig
u
re
s
 

N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
N
e
w
 a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 H
o
m
e
s
 

D
e
liv
e
re
d
 

2
0
1
3
/1
4
 

4
5
7
 

3
1
9
5
 

1
9
5
 

2
0
1
2
/1
3
 

3
0
3
 

3
0
6
6
 

3
5
 

2
0
1
1
/1
2
 

3
7
1
 

3
4
2
5
 

3
5
 

2
0
1
0
/1
1
 

3
4
4
 

3
9
6
6
 

1
2
7
 

2
0
0
9
/1
0
 

3
7
1
 

2
4
8
2
 

1
1
7
 

2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

3
2
6
 

6
4
9
3
 

1
1
9
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

3
9
7
 

5
2
2
1
 

1
4
9
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

3
1
7
 

3
9
9
5
 

1
4
4
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
3
7
 

4
6
1
1
 

1
3
5
 

     

Page 43



 

1
0

 

  H
e
a
d

li
n

e
 A

c
ti

o
n

s
 

D
e
li
v
e
rs
 o
n
 

O
u
tc
o
m
e
/s
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
 

P
e
rs
o
n
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
le
 

C
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
 

d
a
te
 

R
is
k
s
/ 
D
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
c
ie
s
 

1
 

R
e
a
s
s
e
s
s
 o
v
e
ra
ll 

d
e
liv
e
ry
 t
a
rg
e
t 
a
n
d
 

ta
rg
e
ts
 a
ro
u
n
d
 m

ix
 o
f 

s
iz
e
, 
ty
p
e
 a
n
d
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
 

b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 t
h
o
ro
u
g
h
 

n
e
e
d
s
 a
n
a
ly
s
is
 

D
e
s
ig
n
 r
e
p
o
rt
in
g
 a
n
d
 

o
n
g
o
in
g
 m

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 

to
o
l.
  

C
o
lla
te
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

fr
o
m
 C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

u
n
it
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
r 

J
S
 E
x
e
c
 H
e
a
d
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

S
a
fe
ty
 F
H
 

,P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

U
n
it
 

A
p
ri
l 
2
0
1
5
 

In
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 k
e
y
 t
o
 s
e
tt
in
g
 

h
o
u
s
in
g
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 t
a
rg
e
ts
. 

 
 

 
 

 
 

1
 

E
n
s
u
re
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 

o
f 
c
u
rr
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 f
u
tu
re
 

h
o
u
s
in
g
 n
e
e
d
s
 i
s
 k
e
p
t 

u
p
 t
o
 d
a
te
 a
n
d
 i
s
 f
it
 f
o
r 

p
u
rp
o
s
e
  

 

A
n
a
ly
s
e
 a
n
d
 p
ro
v
id
e
 

d
a
ta
 f
ro
m
 T
o
rb
a
y
’s
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 R
e
g
is
te
r 
to
 

in
fo
rm

 n
e
e
d
s
 d
a
ta
 

in
c
lu
d
in
g
 d
e
m
a
n
d
 a
n
d
 

a
v
a
ila
b
ili
ty
 o
f 
s
p
e
c
ia
lis
t 

a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 t
o
 

e
n
s
u
re
 n
e
w
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 

m
e
e
ts
 t
h
e
 a
s
p
ir
a
ti
o
n
s
 

o
f 
h
o
m
e
 s
e
e
k
e
rs
. 

R
e
v
ie
w
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 

m
a
rk
e
t 
d
a
ta
. 

R
e
v
ie
w
 c
e
n
s
u
s
 d
a
ta
 a
s
 

it
 b
e
c
o
m
e
s
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
  

E
x
p
lo
re
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 

fo
r 
c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

re
s
e
a
rc
h
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 j
o
in
t 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 w
it
h
 

o
th
e
r 
L
A
s
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
r 

J
S
 E
x
e
c
 H
e
a
d
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

S
a
fe
ty
 F
H
 

,P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

U
n
it
 

 
 

Page 44



 

1
1

 

  
 

 
 

 
 

1
, 
 

P
re
p
a
re
 b
ri
e
f 
fo
r 

d
e
liv
e
ry
 o
f 
n
e
w
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
t 

H
a
tc
h
c
o
m
b
e
. 
 

L
ia
is
e
 a
n
d
 e
n
g
a
g
e
 w
it
h
 

S
P
 a
n
d
 C
a
re
 t
ru
s
t 
to
 

e
s
ta
b
lis
h
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
a
ti
o
n
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 a
n
d
 

p
la
n
n
in
g
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 
L
M
 

 
E
n
s
u
re
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 f
u
tu
re
 

p
ro
o
fe
d
 a
n
d
 m

in
im
is
e
s
 a
n
y
 

re
v
e
n
u
e
 c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
. 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

1
 

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 m

a
x
im
is
e
 

d
e
liv
e
ry
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 

p
la
n
n
in
g
 g
a
in
 a
n
d
 

S
1
0
6
 a
g
re
e
m
e
n
ts
. 

O
ff
ic
e
r 
ti
m
e
 –
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
s
 

p
o
lic
y
 r
e
v
ie
w
s
  

H
o
u
s
in
g
 a
n
d
 

p
la
n
n
in
g
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 
L
M
 

 
T
h
is
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 r
o
u
te
 i
s
 e
n
ti
re
ly
 

d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
o
n
 m

a
rk
e
t 
c
o
n
d
it
io
n
s
 –
 

ri
s
k
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

1
,3
, 

Id
e
n
ti
fy
 l
a
n
d
 o
w
n
e
d
 b
y
 

T
o
rb
a
y
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
fo
r 
th
e
 

d
e
liv
e
ry
 o
f 
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 

h
o
u
s
in
g
. 

L
a
n
d
 r
e
v
ie
w
, 
re
q
u
ir
e
s
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
p
p
ro
v
a
l 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 a
n
d
 

p
la
n
n
in
g
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 
L
M
 

 
C
o
n
fl
ic
t 
b
e
tw
e
e
n
 d
e
liv
e
ri
n
g
 

a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
n
d
 m

a
x
im
is
in
g
 

th
e
 c
a
p
it
a
l 
re
tu
rn
 f
o
r 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il.
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

2
,4
 

L
o
o
k
 a
t 
w
a
y
s
 i
n
 w
h
ic
h
 

E
m
p
ty
 h
o
m
e
s
 c
a
n
 b
e
 

ta
rg
e
te
d
 f
o
r 
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 

h
o
u
s
in
g
. 
 

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 w
o
rk
 w
it
h
 

P
ri
v
a
te
 S
e
c
to
r 
p
ro
p
e
rt
y
 

o
w
n
e
rs
 t
o
 c
re
a
te
 

b
e
s
p
o
k
e
 s
o
lu
ti
o
n
s
. 
 

E
x
e
c
 H
e
a
d
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

S
a
fe
ty
 F
H
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 a
n
d
 

p
la
n
n
in
g
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 
L
M
 

 
T
h
is
 w
o
rk
 i
s
 o
ft
e
n
 L
a
b
o
u
r 
in
te
n
s
iv
e
 

a
n
d
 c
a
n
 o
ft
e
n
 b
e
 m

o
re
 e
x
p
e
n
s
iv
e
 

th
a
n
 t
ra
d
it
io
n
a
l 
d
e
liv
e
ry
 r
o
u
te
s
, 

H
o
w
e
v
e
r 
th
e
re
 a
re
 a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 

b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 –
 P
ri
v
a
te
 S
e
c
to
r 
re
n
e
w
a
l.
 .
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

1
,2
,3
,4
 

C
o
n
s
id
e
r 
w
a
y
s
 i
n
 w
h
ic
h
 

w
e
 c
a
n
 m

a
k
e
 b
e
tt
e
r 

u
s
e
 o
f 
w
h
a
t 
w
e
 a
lr
e
a
d
y
 

h
a
v
e
. 

R
e
v
ie
w
 a
llo
c
a
ti
o
n
 

p
o
lic
y
 t
o
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
 

p
ri
o
ri
ty
 o
f 
th
o
s
e
 

d
o
w
n
s
iz
in
g
 

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 w
id
e
r 

D
e
v
o
n
 L
a
s
 a
n
d
 D
H
C
. 

R
e
v
ie
w
 a
n
n
u
a
l 
le
tt
in
g
s
 

p
la
n
 a
n
n
u
a
lly
 f
ro
m
 S
e
p
t 
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
r 

J
S
 

 
M
a
y
 e
n
d
 u
p
 w
it
h
 d
if
fe
re
n
t 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
t 
th
a
n
 t
h
e
 r
e
s
t 
o
f 

D
e
v
o
n
. 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

3
 

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 m

o
n
it
o
r 
th
e
 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 o
f 
th
e
 

p
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s
 a
t 

P
ly
m
o
u
th
 U
n
iv
e
rs
it
y
 

c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 p
ro
v
id
e
 t
h
e
 

d
a
ta
. 
O
ff
ic
e
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
o
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 a
n
d
 

p
la
n
n
in
g
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 
L
M
 

 
R
e
s
is
ta
n
c
e
 f
ro
m
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
rs
 a
n
d
 

p
o
te
n
ti
a
lly
 R
P
s
 a
s
 t
h
e
 n
e
w
 

s
p
e
c
if
ic
a
ti
o
n
 w
ill
 c
a
rr
y
 a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 

Page 45



 

1
2

 

 

B
e
e
c
h
fi
e
ld
. 
R
o
ll 
o
u
t 

m
o
s
t 
e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 

c
o
m
p
o
n
e
n
ts
 o
n
 n
e
w
 

h
o
u
s
in
g
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
 

to
 a
id
 f
u
e
l 
p
o
v
e
rt
y
. 

a
m
e
n
d
 l
e
g
a
l 

s
p
e
c
if
ic
a
ti
o
n
 

d
o
c
u
m
e
n
ts
 

c
o
s
ts
. 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

1
,3
, 

R
e
v
ie
w
 a
n
d
 a
s
s
e
s
s
 t
h
e
 

m
e
ri
ts
 o
f 
C
o
u
n
c
il 

H
o
u
s
e
 B
u
ild
in
g
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

S
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
in
te
r 

d
e
p
a
rt
m
e
n
ta
l 
re
v
ie
w
 

in
c
lu
d
in
g
 l
e
g
a
l 
a
n
d
 

fi
n
a
n
c
e
 

 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 a
n
d
 

p
la
n
n
in
g
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 
L
M
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

1
,3
, 

E
n
s
u
re
 r
o
b
u
s
t 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 

p
o
lic
y
 e
x
is
ts
 t
o
 d
ri
v
e
 

a
n
d
 m

a
x
im
is
e
 n
e
w
 

a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
n
d
 

im
p
ro
v
e
 q
u
a
lit
y
. 
 

N
e
w
 a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 

S
P
D
. 

In
c
lu
d
e
 t
a
p
e
re
re
d
 

a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 w
h
ic
h
 w
ill
 

g
e
n
e
ra
te
 a
n
 a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 

in
c
o
m
e
 s
tr
e
a
m
 t
o
 a
s
s
is
t 

th
e
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 o
f 

a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
  

H
o
u
s
in
g
 a
n
d
 

p
la
n
n
in
g
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 
L
M
 

 
R
e
s
is
ta
n
c
e
 f
ro
m
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
rs
. 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
D
e
ta
ile
d
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 n
e
e
d
s
 

a
n
d
 d
o
m
e
s
ti
c
 m

a
rk
e
t 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 

c
o
n
d
it
io
n
s
, 
te
n
u
re
, 

g
a
p
s
, 
e
tc
. 
 

E
x
te
rn
a
l 
b
o
d
y
 t
o
 b
e
 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
d
  

H
o
u
s
in
g
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
r 

J
S
 

M
a
r 
2
0
1
6
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
D
e
v
e
lo
p
 i
n
n
o
v
a
ti
v
e
 

a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
e
s
 t
o
 w
o
rk
 

w
it
h
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 t
o
 r
e
d
u
c
e
 

h
a
z
a
rd
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 p
ri
v
a
te
ly
 

re
n
te
d
 s
e
c
to
r.
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 S
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 

T
e
a
m
 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 H
e
a
d
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

S
a
fe
ty
 F
H
 

O
n
g
o
in
g
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
E
x
p
lo
re
 a
lt
e
rn
a
ti
v
e
 

o
p
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 m

e
e
t 
th
e
 

 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
r 

 
 

Page 46



 

1
3

 

 

id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 
th
e
 

B
a
y
 e
.g
. 
e
q
u
it
y
 r
e
le
a
s
e
 

s
c
h
e
m
e
s
, 
p
ro
c
u
ri
n
g
 

d
if
fe
re
n
t 
ty
p
e
s
 o
f 

te
m
p
o
ra
ry
 

a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
, 
ro
le
 o
f 

th
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 s
e
c
to
r 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
D
e
v
e
lo
p
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
s
 

w
it
h
 t
h
e
 e
n
e
rg
y
 

p
ro
v
id
e
rs
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 

p
ri
v
a
te
 s
e
c
to
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 r
e
d
u
c
e
 

fu
e
l 
p
o
v
e
rt
y
 i
n
 T
o
rb
a
y
 

 

 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 H
e
a
d
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

S
a
fe
ty
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
C
h
o
ic
e
 a
n
d
 

a
ff
o
rd
a
b
ili
ty
?
?
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
 

E
n
a
b
lin
g
 t
h
e
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
h
ig
h
 

q
u
a
lit
y
 a
n
d
 s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 

a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 i
n
 

p
la
c
e
s
 w
h
e
re
 p
e
o
p
le
 

w
a
n
t 
to
 l
iv
e
 r
e
s
p
o
n
d
in
g
 

to
 l
o
c
a
l 
n
e
e
d
 a
n
d
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
in
g
 t
h
e
 

e
c
o
n
o
m
y
. 
E
n
a
b
lin
g
 

p
e
o
p
le
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

in
fo
rm

e
d
 c
h
o
ic
e
s
 a
b
o
u
t 

th
e
ir
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 

c
ir
c
u
m
s
ta
n
c
e
s
 a
n
d
 

e
n
a
b
lin
g
 t
h
e
m
 t
o
 m

e
e
t 

th
e
ir
 o
w
n
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

 
 

 

Page 47



 

1
4

 

 

n
e
e
d
s
. 
 

Im
p
ro
v
in
g
 t
h
e
 c
o
n
d
it
io
n
 

a
n
d
 u
s
a
g
e
 o
f 
e
x
is
ti
n
g
 

h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
c
ro
s
s
 a
ll 

te
n
u
re
s
 t
a
k
in
g
 i
n
to
 

a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
s
o
c
ia
l 
a
n
d
 

e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 
fa
c
to
rs
 

th
a
t 
im
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 q
u
a
lit
y
 

o
f 
lif
e
. 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

T
h
e
m
e
 

H
e
lp
 w
h
e
n
 a
n
d
 w
h
e
re
 i
t’
s
 n
e
e
d
e
d
 –
 c
re
a
te
 a
 q
u
a
lit
y
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
d
v
ic
e
 t
h
a
t 
o
ff
e
rs
 e
a
rl
y
 i
n
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 p
re
v
e
n
ti
o
n
 –
 t
o
 

b
o
th
 c
lie
n
ts
 a
n
d
 L
a
n
d
lo
rd
s
 t
h
a
t 
d
e
a
ls
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 p
ro
b
le
m
s
 b
e
fo
re
 t
h
e
y
 b
e
c
o
m
e
 a
 c
ri
s
is
. 
S
u
b
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
, 
H
o
m
e
le
s
s
 P
re
v
e
n
ti
o
n
 a
c
ti
o
n
 

p
la
n
, 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
a
n
 i
n
te
g
ra
te
d
 h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 s
o
c
ia
l 
c
a
re
 s
y
s
te
m
 

T
h
e
 l
in
k
s
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 h
o
u
s
in
g
, 
h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 w
e
llb
e
in
g
 a
re
 w
e
ll-
d
o
c
u
m
e
n
te
d
. 
L
o
c
a
l 
a
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s
 w
o
rk
in
g
 i
n
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 w
it
h
 h
e
a
lt
h
, 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

v
o
lu
n
ta
ry
 s
e
c
to
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 c
ri
m
in
a
l 
ju
s
ti
c
e
 a
g
e
n
c
ie
s
 h
a
v
e
 a
 k
e
y
 r
o
le
 t
o
 p
la
y
 i
n
 m

a
k
in
g
 s
u
re
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 n
a
tu
re
 o
f 
th
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
a
re
a
 

m
a
x
im
is
e
 t
h
e
 h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 w
e
llb
e
in
g
 o
f 
m
o
re
 v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 p
e
o
p
le
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
, 
th
e
 e
ld
e
rl
y
, 
p
e
o
p
le
 w
it
h
 l
e
a
rn
in
g
 d
is
a
b
ili
ti
e
s
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
h
e
a
lt
h
 p
ro
b
le
m
s
. 

A
s
 a
 p
io
n
e
e
r 
s
it
e
 f
o
r 
in
te
g
ra
te
d
 c
a
re
 a
c
ro
s
s
 T
o
rb
a
y
 a
n
d
 S
o
u
th
 D
e
v
o
n
, 
c
re
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
a
n
 I
n
te
g
ra
te
d
 C
a
re
 O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 w
ill
 b
u
ild
 o
n
 s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu
l 

in
te
g
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 
h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 s
o
c
ia
l 
c
a
re
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 f
o
r 
o
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 a
t 
a
 l
o
c
a
l 
le
v
e
l.
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 w
ill
 b
e
 f
u
lly
 i
n
te
g
ra
te
d
 i
n
to
 a
 j
o
in
e
d
-u
p
 h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 s
o
c
ia
l 

c
a
re
 s
y
s
te
m
 w
it
h
 a
 s
in
g
le
 b
u
d
g
e
t 
a
im
e
d
 a
t 
p
ro
v
id
in
g
 b
e
tt
e
r 
c
a
re
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 f
o
llo
w
in
g
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
: 

•
 

 I
n
e
q
u
a
lit
ie
s
 a
c
ro
s
s
 c
h
ild
re
n
 a
n
d
 y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
’s
 c
a
re
 w
ill
 b
e
 r
e
d
u
c
e
d
 

•
 

M
e
n
ta
l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 w
ill
 b
e
 ‘
m
a
in
s
tr
e
a
m
e
d
’ 
a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
o
v
e
ra
ll 
w
e
llb
e
in
g
 a
n
d
 h
e
a
lt
h
 

•
 

F
ra
il 
o
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 –
 s
tr
u
c
tu
ra
l 
p
a
th
w
a
y
 p
ro
b
le
m
s
 a
n
d
 p
a
ti
e
n
t 
e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
d
  

•
 

S
e
v
e
n
-d
a
y
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 e
q
u
a
lly
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 f
o
r 
a
ll,
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 a
 ‘
b
ro
a
d
 f
ro
n
t 
d
o
o
r’
 

•
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 r
e
s
ili
e
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 e
n
h
a
n
c
e
d
 s
o
c
ia
l 
fa
b
ri
c
 w
ill
 f
o
rm

 t
h
e
 b
a
s
is
 f
o
r 
h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 w
e
llb
e
in
g
  

Page 48



 

1
5

 

 

 
P
re
v
e
n
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 e
a
rl
y
 i
n
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 s
it
 a
t 
th
e
 c
e
n
tr
e
 o
f 
th
is
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 a
lo
n
g
s
id
e
 e
n
a
b
lin
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 t
o
 r
e
m
a
in
 i
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
fo
r 
a
s
 l
o
n
g
 a
s
 p
o
s
s
ib
le
 i
n
 

th
e
ir
 o
w
n
 h
o
m
e
s
. 

W
h
ile
 s
p
e
n
d
 o
n
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l 
a
n
d
 n
u
rs
in
g
 c
a
re
 i
s
 t
h
e
 l
a
rg
e
s
t 
a
re
a
 o
f 
s
p
e
n
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 a
d
u
lt
 s
o
c
ia
l 
c
a
re
 b
u
d
g
e
t 
d
e
m
a
n
d
 f
o
r 
tr
a
d
it
io
n
a
l 
a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 

b
a
s
e
d
 c
a
re
 i
s
 i
n
 d
e
c
lin
e
. 
F
e
w
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 a
re
 e
n
te
ri
n
g
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l 
c
a
re
 a
n
d
 t
h
o
s
e
 w
h
o
 d
o
 s
o
 t
e
n
d
 t
o
 e
n
te
r 
a
t 
a
n
 o
ld
e
r 
a
g
e
 a
n
d
 s
ta
y
 f
o
r 
a
 s
h
o
rt
e
r 

p
e
ri
o
d
. 

T
o
rb
a
y
’s
 m

a
rk
e
t 
p
o
s
it
io
n
 s
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
s
e
ts
 o
u
t 
a
 v
is
io
n
 f
o
r 
th
e
 h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 s
o
c
ia
l 
c
a
re
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l 
m
a
rk
e
t 
fo
r 
a
d
u
lt
s
 b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 r
e
d
u
c
in
g
 a
n
d
 a
v
o
id
in
g
 

re
lia
n
c
e
 o
n
 b
e
d
 b
a
s
e
d
 c
a
re
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 a
 m

o
re
 c
o
-o
rd
in
a
te
d
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 b
a
s
e
d
 c
a
re

 b
y
: 

 

•
 

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
d
 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 l
o
n
g
 t
e
rm

 p
la
c
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
to
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l 
c
a
re
  

•
 

F
o
c
u
s
 o
n
 s
h
o
rt
 t
e
rm

 r
e
a
b
le
m
e
n
t,
 r
e
h
a
b
ili
ta
ti
o
n
, 
re
c
o
v
e
ry
, 
re
s
p
it
e
 a
n
d
 c
ri
s
is
  

•
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
e
x
tr
a
 c
a
re
 h
o
u
s
in
g
  

•
 

L
a
te
r 
a
d
m
is
s
io
n
 t
o
 l
o
n
g
 t
e
rm

 n
u
rs
in
g
 c
a
re
  

 
T
o
rb
a
y
 a
n
d
 S
o
u
th
e
rn
 D
e
v
o
n
 L
e
a
rn
in
g
 D
is
a
b
ili
ty
 o
p
e
ra
ti
o
n
a
l 
c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 (
2
0
1
4
) 
c
o
n
ta
in
s
 l
o
c
a
l 
im
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
s
 f
o
r 
a
 w
id
e
r 

le
a
rn
in
g
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty
 h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 c
a
re
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 s
p
a
n
n
in
g
 T
o
rb
a
y
, 
D
e
v
o
n
 a
n
d
 P
ly
m
o
u
th
 c
o
u
n
c
ils
 a
s
 w
e
ll 
a
s
 N
o
rt
h
, 
E
a
s
t 
a
n
d
 W

e
s
t 
D
e
v
o
n
 a
n
d
 S
o
u
th
 

D
e
v
o
n
 a
n
d
 T
o
rb
a
y
 C
lin
ic
a
l 
C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 G
ro
u
p
s
 (
C
C
G
).
 T
h
e
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 p
la
n
s
 t
o
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
: 

•
 

E
x
tr
a
 
c
a
re
 
a
n
d
 
s
h
e
lt
e
re
d
 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 
m
o
d
e
ls
 
to
 
p
ro
v
id
e
 
in
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 
a
n
d
 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
 
fo
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 
w
it
h
 
le
a
rn
in
g
 

d
is
a
b
ili
ti
e
s
 a
n
d
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 f
o
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 t
o
 r
e
m
a
in
 l
iv
in
g
 w
it
h
 o
ld
e
r 
c
a
re
rs
 w
it
h
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 n
e
e
d
s
. 

•
 

A
n
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 F
la
tm

a
te
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
, 
m
a
in
ta
in
in
g
 a
 v
e
tt
e
d
 ‘
fl
a
tm

a
te
’li
s
t 
fo
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 w

it
h
 a
 l
e
a
rn
in
g
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty
 w
h
o
 

n
e
e
d
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 t
h
o
s
e
 w
h
o
 w
o
u
ld
 l
ik
e
 t
o
 s
h
a
re
. 

 
T
h
e
 t
h
re
e
 D
e
v
o
n
 L
o
c
a
l 
a
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s
 a
n
d
 t
w
o
 C
C
G
s
 h
a
v
e
 a
ls
o
 p
ro
d
u
c
e
d
 a
 m
e
n
ta
l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 (
2
0
1
3
-2
0
1
6
).
 ‘
A
 g
o
o
d
 h
o
m
e
’ 
is
 c
it
e
d
 a
s
 o
n
e
 o
f 

th
e
 f
o
u
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
g
o
o
d
 m

e
n
ta
l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 w
e
llb
e
in
g
. 
A
 c
ri
s
is
 h
o
u
s
e
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 i
n
 T
o
rb
a
y
 t
o
 r
e
d
u
c
e
 a
n
d
 a
v
o
id
 h
o
s
p
it
a
l 
a
d
m
is
s
io
n
s
 

a
n
d
 l
o
c
a
l 
im
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
s
 a
re
 i
n
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
w
it
h
 p
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 u
s
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
, 
th
e
ir
 c
a
re
rs
, 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 v
o
lu
n
ta
ry
 s
e
c
to
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
rs
. 

T
o
 m

a
k
e
 s
u
re
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 b
a
s
e
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
n
d
 p
a
th
w
a
y
s
 e
n
a
b
le
s
 f
a
m
ili
e
s
, 
c
h
ild
re
n
 a
n
d
 y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 t
o
 h
a
v
e
 t
h
e
 b
e
s
t 
s
ta
rt
 i
n
 l
if
e
 a
 r
e
v
ie
w
 

o
f 
p
la
c
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 i
s
 u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
  

Page 49



 

1
6

 

 W
e
 w
ill
 a
im
 t
o
 t
a
rg
e
t 
p
re
v
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
 m

e
a
s
u
re
s
 m

o
re
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
ly
, 
b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 a
n
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
d
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 o
ff
e
r 
a
n
d
 l
o
c
a
l 
n
e
e
d
 i
n
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 r
e
d
u
c
e
 t
h
e
 

p
re
s
s
u
re
 o
n
 s
ta
tu
to
ry
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
. 
 

T
h
e
 e
m
e
rg
in
g
 i
n
te
g
ra
te
d
 c
a
re
 o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 p
ro
v
id
e
s
 n
e
w
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 t
o
 j
o
in
 u
p
 t
h
e
 o
p
e
ra
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 c
a
re
 g
iv
in
g
 e
c
o
n
o
m
y
 e
.g
. 

fa
c
ili
ta
ti
n
g
 l
in
k
s
 w
it
h
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
t 
d
is
c
h
a
rg
e
 f
ro
m
 h
o
s
p
it
a
l.
  

F
u
e
l 
c
o
s
ts
 a
re
 r
is
in
g
 f
a
s
te
r 
th
a
n
 i
n
c
o
m
e
 r
a
te
s
, 
th
e
re
b
y
 i
n
c
re
a
s
in
g
 t
h
e
 p
re
s
s
u
re
 o
n
 i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
ls
 a
n
d
 f
a
m
ili
e
s
 t
o
 m

e
e
t 
th
e
ir
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 c
o
s
ts
. 
T
h
is
 c
a
n
 

in
 t
u
rn
 a
d
d
 d
e
m
a
n
d
 p
re
s
s
u
re
s
 o
n
 s
ta
tu
to
ry
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 e
.g
. 
th
e
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
te
m
p
o
ra
ry
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
, 
th
e
 t
a
k
e
 u
p
 o
f 
c
h
e
a
p
, 
lo
w
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
 r
e
n
te
d
 

p
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s
, 
e
tc
. 
 

O
u
r 
a
g
e
in
g
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 t
h
o
s
e
 w
it
h
 c
o
m
p
le
x
 n
e
e
d
s
 p
la
c
e
 d
e
m
a
n
d
s
 o
n
 c
a
re
 o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 i
f 
th
e
y
 a
re
 u
n
a
b
le
 t
o
 l
iv
e
 i
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
tl
y
 i
n
 t
h
e
ir
 o
w
n
 

h
o
m
e
. 
M
e
c
h
a
n
is
m
s
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
 t
o
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ts
’ 
a
b
ili
ty
 t
o
 e
it
h
e
r 
m
a
in
ta
in
 t
h
e
ir
 t
e
n
a
n
c
y
 o
r 
o
w
n
 h
o
m
e
s
 f
o
r 
lo
n
g
e
r.
  

O
u

tc
o

m
e

s
 

  
  
  
  
5
. 
C
lo
s
e
r 
w
o
rk
in
g
 w
it
h
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 v
o
lu
n
ta
ry
 s
e
c
to
r 
–
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
, 
  
in
c
re
a
s
e
d
 c
h
o
ic
e
, 
s
e
lf
 h
e
lp
 a
n
d
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 a
d
v
ic
e
 (
e
s
p
e
c
ia
lly
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
fi
n
a
n
c
ia
l)
 a
n
d
 e
a
rl
y
 i
n
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 a
c
ro
s
s
 a
g
e
n
c
ie
s
 a
n
d
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 

 

6
. 
 I
m
p
ro
v
e
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 o
ff
e
r 
to
 m
e
e
t 
a
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 
lo
c
a
l 
n
e
e
d
s
 a
n
d
 a
s
p
ir
a
ti
o
n
s
. 

7
. 
L
o
c
a
l 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
o
r 
th
o
s
e
 m
o
s
t 
v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 (
s
p
e
c
if
ic
a
lly
 t
o
 m
it
ig
a
te
 t
h
e
 i
m
p
a
c
ts
 o
f 
W
e
lf
a
re
 r
e
fo
rm
) 

  
  
  
 8
. 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 t
h
a
t 
is
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
a
n
 i
n
te
g
ra
te
d
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 h
e
a
lt
h
, 
s
o
c
ia
l 
c
a
re
 a
n
d
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 k
e
e
p
in
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 h
e
a
lt
h
y
 a
n
d
 i
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
a
s
 t
h
e
y
 a
g
e
  

  
  
  
  
  
 a
n
d
 m

a
k
in
g
 s
u
re
 t
h
e
y
 h
a
v
e
 t
h
e
 b
e
s
t 
s
ta
rt
 i
n
 l
if
e
. 

 
9
. 
L
o
n
g
 t
e
rm

 p
la
c
e
m
e
n
ts
 f
o
r 
a
d
u
lt
s
 a
n
d
 c
h
ild
re
n
 i
n
to
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l 
a
n
d
 n
u
rs
in
g
 c
a
re
 a
re
 r
e
d
u
c
e
d
. 
E
n
s
u
re
 m

o
re
 p
e
o
p
le
 w
it
h
 l
e
a
rn
in
g
  
  
 

  
  
   

   
   

 d
is
a
b
ili
ti
e
s
 a
n
d
 t
h
o
s
e
 w
it
h
 p
o
o
r 
m
e
n
ta
l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 a
re
 a
b
le
 t
o
 l
iv
e
 i
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
tl
y
 a
n
d
 o
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 a
re
 e
n
a
b
le
d
 t
o
 r
e
m
a
in
 i
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
in
 t
h
e
ir
  
 

  
  
  
  
  
 o
w
n
 h
o
m
e
. 
  

   

Page 50



 

1
7

 

 H
e
a
d

li
n

e
 A

c
ti

o
n

s
 

D
e
li
v
e
rs
 o
n
 

O
u
tc
o
m
e
/s
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
 

P
e
rs
o
n
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
le
 

C
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
 d
a
te
 

R
is
k
/ 
D
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
c
ie
s
 

 5
,6
,7
,8
, 
9
 

C
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
 o
f 
n
e
w
 

H
o
m
e
le
s
s
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 

in
c
lu
d
e
s
 t
e
m
p
o
ra
ry
 

a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 p
la
n
. 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 O
p
ti
o
n
s
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
 M

a
n
a
g
e
r 

a
n
d
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
 

E
x
e
c
 H
e
a
d
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 S
a
fe
ty
 

F
H
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
r 

J
S
 

A
p
ri
l 
–
 J
u
n
e
 2
0
1
5
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 5
,6
,7
,8
 ,
9
 

C
o
 p
ro
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 o
f 

a
 n
e
w
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
/m

o
d
e
l 

fo
r 
In
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

A
d
v
ic
e
. 
In
c
lu
d
e
s
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 

C
h
ild
re
n
’s
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

H
u
b
 

 

In
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

a
d
v
ic
e
 S
te
e
ri
n
g
 

g
ro
u
p
, 
a
n
d
 

C
h
ild
re
n
 H
u
b
 

S
te
e
ri
n
g
 g
ro
u
p
 

 H
o
u
s
in
g
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
r 

J
S
 a
n
d
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

A
p
ri
l 
2
0
1
6
 

D
e
la
y
s
 f
ro
m
 a
 c
o
 –
 p
ro
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 

m
o
d
e
l,
 f
u
ll 
e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
fr
o
m
 

k
e
y
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
. 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 5
,6
,7
,8
 

E
x
p
lo
re
 c
o
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 O
p
ti
o
n
s
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 a
t 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

a
c
c
e
s
s
 p
o
in
ts
/ 
h
u
b
s
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 O
p
ti
o
n
s
 

T
e
a
m
 a
n
d
 

p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 

E
x
e
c
 H
e
a
d
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 S
a
fe
ty
 

F
H
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 5
,6
,7
,8
 

E
x
p
lo
re
/ 
D
e
v
e
lo
p
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 p
a
th
w
a
y
 f
o
r 

N
o
n
 S
ta
tu
to
ry
 S
in
g
le
 

H
o
m
e
le
s
s
  

Id
e
n
ti
fy
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 

o
p
p
s
/ 
g
ra
n
ts
. 

E
x
e
c
 H
e
a
d
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 S
a
fe
ty
 

F
H
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 5
,6
,7
,8
 

E
x
p
lo
re
 a
lt
e
rn
a
ti
v
e
 

o
p
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 m

e
e
t 
th
e
 

id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 
th
e
 

B
a
y
 e
.g
. 
e
q
u
it
y
 

re
le
a
s
e
 s
c
h
e
m
e
s
, 

 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
r 

J
S
 

 
 

Page 51



 

1
8

 

 

p
ro
c
u
ri
n
g
 d
if
fe
re
n
t 

ty
p
e
s
 o
f 
te
m
p
o
ra
ry
 

a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
, 
ro
le
 

o
f 
th
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

s
e
c
to
r 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 5
,6
,7
,8
 

W
o
rk
 w
it
h
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 t
o
 

ra
is
e
 t
h
e
 p
ro
fi
le
 o
f 
a
n
 

in
d
iv
id
u
a
l’s
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 

n
e
e
d
s
 a
t 
k
e
y
 m

o
m
e
n
ts
 

in
 t
h
e
 i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
l’s
 l
if
e
, 

a
n
d
 e
n
a
b
le
 t
h
e
m
 t
o
 

re
m
a
in
 i
n
 t
h
e
ir
 o
w
n
 

h
o
m
e
s
 f
o
r 
lo
n
g
e
r 
e
.g
. 

h
o
s
p
it
a
l 
d
is
c
h
a
rg
e
 

In
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

a
d
v
ic
e
 c
o
 

p
ro
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 m

o
d
e
l 

a
n
d
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
r 

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
6
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 6
,7
 

W
o
rk
 w
it
h
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 t
o
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
 m

e
a
n
s
 o
f 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
in
g
 t
e
n
a
n
ts
 t
o
 

m
a
in
ta
in
 t
h
e
ir
 

te
n
a
n
c
ie
s
 e
.g
. 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
 

w
it
h
 m

e
n
ta
l 
w
e
llb
e
in
g
, 

c
re
d
it
 u
n
io
n
s
, 
e
tc
. 
 

 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 H
e
a
d
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 S
a
fe
ty
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 5
,6
,7
,8
,9
 

  

W
o
rk
 w
it
h
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 

a
s
s
o
c
ia
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 

h
o
u
s
in
g
 p
ro
v
id
e
rs
 t
o
 

e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
re
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

a
re
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
o
s
e
 

m
o
s
t 
in
 n
e
e
d
 

T
o
rb
a
y
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

  

E
x
e
c
 H
e
a
d
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 S
a
fe
ty
 

F
H
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
r 
J
S
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 8
,9
 

 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
e
x
tr
a
 

c
a
re
 h
o
u
s
in
g
  

F
o
r 
o
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 a
n
d
 

y
o
u
n
g
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 

 
 

 
 

Page 52



 

1
9

 

 

 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
h
o
s
e
 w
it
h
 

le
a
rn
in
g
 d
is
a
b
ili
ti
e
s
, 
 

p
o
o
r 
m
e
n
ta
l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 

a
n
d
 a
c
q
u
ir
e
d
 b
ra
in
 

in
ju
ry
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 6
,9
 

 

F
la
tm

a
te
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 f
o
r 

p
e
o
p
le
 w
it
h
 L
D
s
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

5
,6
,7
,8
,9
 

F
a
m
ili
e
s
 y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 

a
n
d
 c
h
ild
re
n
 

p
la
c
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

p
a
th
w
a
y
 r
e
v
ie
w
 

C
h
ild
re
n
’s
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

a
n
d
 S
u
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y
 

P
la
n
 

C
h
ild
re
n
’s
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
n
d
 

P
e
n
in
s
u
la
 

F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
r 

J
S
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

T
h
e
m
e
 

H
e
a
lt
h
y
 H
o
m
e
, 
H
e
a
lt
h
y
 Y
o
u
, 
H
e
a
lt
h
y
 B
a
y
 –
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 H
e
a
lt
h
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 q
u
a
lit
y
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 i
n
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 p
e
o
p
le
 w
a
n
t 
to
 l
iv
e
. 
 

T
h
e
re
 i
s
 a
 c
o
m
p
e
lli
n
g
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 c
h
a
n
n
e
ls
 i
n
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 t
o
 b
u
ild
 r
e
s
ili
e
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 c
o
h
e
s
io
n
. 
 W

h
ils
t 
w
e
 

h
a
v
e
 s
ta
rt
e
d
 t
o
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 t
h
e
 l
a
n
d
s
c
a
p
e
 i
n
 T
o
rb
a
y
, 
m
u
c
h
 m

o
re
 n
e
e
d
s
 t
o
 b
e
 d
o
n
e
. 

 T
h
e
re
 a
re
 a
ls
o
 a
 v
a
ri
e
ty
 o
f 
h
id
d
e
n
 h
a
rm

s
 w

it
h
in
 o
u
r 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 w

h
ic
h
 h
a
v
e
 a
 d
ir
e
c
t 
a
n
d
 g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
a
l 
im
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
l 
fa
m
ili
e
s
. 
 F
o
r 

e
x
a
m
p
le
, 
th
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
f 
d
o
m
e
s
ti
c
 a
b
u
s
e
 r
e
a
c
h
e
s
 o
u
t 
fu
rt
h
e
r 
th
a
n
 t
h
e
 c
ri
m
in
a
l 
ju
s
ti
c
e
 s
y
s
te
m
 a
n
d
 a
ff
e
c
ts
 a
 f
a
m
ily
’s
 e
n
ti
re
 l
if
e
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 f
in
a
n
c
e
, 

h
e
a
lt
h
, 
w
e
llb
e
in
g
, 
e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
, 
e
tc
. 
P
ro
v
id
in
g
 a
 h
o
lis
ti
c
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 t
o
 s
u
rv
iv
o
rs
 o
f 
d
o
m
e
s
ti
c
 a
b
u
s
e
 w

ill
 e
n
a
b
le
 t
h
e
m
 t
o
 e
n
jo
y
 a
 h
e
a
lt
h
ie
r 
lif
e
, 
th
is
 

in
c
lu
d
e
s
 t
h
e
 l
iv
in
g
 i
n
 g
o
o
d
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
, 
s
a
fe
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
, 
a
c
ro
s
s
 a
ll 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 s
e
c
to
rs
. 
 

 T
h
e
 i
n
te
g
ra
te
d
 c
a
re
 o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 (
IC
O
) 
p
ro
v
id
e
s
 n
e
w
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 t
o
 j
o
in
 u
p
 t
h
e
 o
p
e
ra
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 c
a
re
 g
iv
in
g
 e
c
o
n
o
m
y
 e
.g
. 

fa
c
ili
ta
ti
n
g
 l
in
k
s
 w
it
h
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
t 
d
is
c
h
a
rg
e
 f
ro
m
 h
o
s
p
it
a
l.
  

Page 53



 

2
0

 

 In
 t
h
e
 f
u
tu
re
 w
e
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
e
q
u
ip
m
e
n
t 
p
ro
v
is
io
n
, 
H
o
m
e
 I
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
A
g
e
n
c
y
 S
e
rv
ic
e
 a
n
d
 D
is
a
b
le
d
 F
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 g
ra
n
ts
 a
re
 m

o
re
 j
o
in
e
d
 

u
p
 i
n
 t
h
e
ir
 c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 a
s
p
ir
a
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 f
u
tu
re
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
. 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 i
s
 a
n
 i
m
p
o
rt
a
n
t 
s
o
c
ia
l 
d
e
te
rm

in
a
n
t 
o
f 
h
e
a
lt
h
. 
T
h
e
 a
v
a
ila
b
ili
ty
, 
q
u
a
lit
y
 a
n
d
 t
e
n
u
re
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
in
g
, 
a
lo
n
g
 w
it
h
 m

o
re
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
 f
a
c
to
rs
 s
u
c
h
 a
s
 

d
a
m
p
, 
in
a
d
e
q
u
a
te
 h
e
a
ti
n
g
, 
in
d
o
o
r 
p
o
llu
ta
n
ts
 a
n
d
 n
o
is
e
 a
ll 
h
a
v
e
 a
n
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
h
e
 h
e
a
lt
h
 o
f 
it
s
 o
c
c
u
p
a
n
ts
. 
 O
v
e
ra
ll 
th
e
 B
u
ild
in
g
 R
e
s
e
a
rc
h
 

E
s
ta
b
lis
h
m
e
n
t 
(B
R
E
) 
h
a
s
 c
a
lc
u
la
te
d
 t
h
a
t 
p
o
o
r 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 c
o
s
ts
 t
h
e
 N
H
S
 a
t 
le
a
s
t 
£
6
0
0
 m

ill
io
n
 p
e
r 
y
e
a
r.
 A
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 
s
p
e
c
if
ic
 h
o
u
s
in
g
-r
e
la
te
d
 f
a
c
to
rs
 

a
re
 k
n
o
w
n
 t
o
 a
d
v
e
rs
e
ly
 a
ff
e
c
t 
h
e
a
lt
h
: 

 •
 

A
g
e
n
ts
 t
h
a
t 
a
ff
e
c
t 
th
e
 q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 
th
e
 i
n
d
o
o
r 
e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
s
u
c
h
 a
s
 i
n
d
o
o
r 
p
o
llu
ta
n
ts
 (
e
.g
. 
a
s
b
e
s
to
s
, 

c
a
rb
o
n
 m

o
n
o
x
id
e
, 
in
c
o
m
p
le
te
 c
o
m
b
u
s
ti
o
n
, 
ra
d
o
n
, 
le
a
d
, 
m
o
u
ld
s
 a
n
d
 v
o
la
ti
le
 o
rg
a
n
ic
 c
h
e
m
ic
a
ls
) 

 •
 

C
o
ld
 a
n
d
 d
a
m
p
, 
te
m
p
e
ra
tu
re
 o
r 
w
a
rm

th
, 
fu
e
l 
p
o
v
e
rt
y
 

 •
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 d
e
s
ig
n
 /
ty
p
e
 o
r 
la
y
o
u
t 
(w
h
ic
h
 i
n
 t
u
rn
 c
a
n
 a
ff
e
c
t 
a
c
c
e
s
s
ib
ili
ty
 a
n
d
 u
s
a
b
ili
ty
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
in
g
),
 i
n
fe
s
ta
ti
o
n
, 
h
a
z
a
rd
o
u
s
 i
n
te
rn
a
l 
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
s
 o
r 

fi
x
tu
re
s
 

 •
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 
fa
c
to
rs
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 n
o
is
e
, 
e
x
te
rn
a
l 
a
ir
 p
o
llu
ti
o
n
, 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
, 
d
ra
in
a
g
e
 

 •
 

F
a
c
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
re
la
te
 m

o
re
 t
o
 t
h
e
 b
ro
a
d
e
r 
s
o
c
ia
l 
a
n
d
 b
e
h
a
v
io
u
ra
l 
e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
s
u
c
h
 a
s
: 

o
v
e
rc
ro
w
d
in
g
, 
s
le
e
p
 d
e
p
ri
v
a
ti
o
n
, 
n
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 q
u
a
lit
y
, 
in
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 d
e
p
ri
v
a
ti
o
n
 /
 i
n
a
c
c
e
s
s
ib
ili
ty
 (
i.
e
. 
la
c
k
 o
f 
a
v
a
ila
b
ili
ty
 a
n
d
 a
c
c
e
s
s
ib
ili
ty
 o
f 

h
e
a
lt
h
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
, 
p
a
rk
s
, 
s
to
re
s
 s
e
lli
n
g
 h
e
a
lt
h
y
 f
o
o
d
s
 a
t 
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 p
ri
c
e
s
),
 n
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 s
a
fe
ty
, 
a
n
d
 s
o
c
ia
l 
c
o
h
e
s
io
n
 

 •
 

F
a
c
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
re
la
te
 t
o
 t
h
e
 b
ro
a
d
e
r 
m
a
c
ro
-p
o
lic
y
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
s
u
c
h
 a
s
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
llo
c
a
ti
o
n
, 
la
c
k
 o
f 

h
o
u
s
in
g
 (
h
o
m
e
le
s
s
n
e
s
s
, 
w
h
e
th
e
r 
w
it
h
o
u
t 
a
 h
o
m
e
 o
r 
h
o
u
s
e
d
 i
n
 t
e
m
p
o
ra
ry
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
),
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 t
e
n
u
re
, 
(i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 o
w
n
e
rs
h
ip
) 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 

in
v
e
s
tm

e
n
t,
 a
n
d
 u
rb
a
n
 p
la
n
n
in
g
. 

 T
h
e
re
 a
re
 a
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 
h
e
a
lt
h
 c
o
n
d
it
io
n
s
 a
ri
s
in
g
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
s
e
 f
a
c
to
rs
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 c
a
rd
io
v
a
s
c
u
la
r 
d
is
e
a
s
e
, 
d
e
p
re
s
s
io
n
 a
n
d
 a
n
x
ie
ty
; 
n
a
u
s
e
a
 a
n
d
 

d
ia
rr
h
o
e
a
; 
in
fe
c
ti
o
n
s
; 
a
lle
rg
ic
 s
y
m
p
to
m
s
; 
h
y
p
o
th
e
rm

ia
. 
4
5
%
 o
f 
a
c
c
id
e
n
ts
 o
c
c
u
r 
in
 t
h
e
 h
o
m
e
 a
n
d
 a
c
c
id
e
n
ts
 a
re
 i
n
 t
h
e
 t
o
p
 1
0
 c
a
u
s
e
s
 o
f 
d
e
a
th
 

fo
r 
a
ll 
a
g
e
s
. 
 

  U
n
in
te
n
ti
o
n
a
l 
in
ju
ri
e
s
 i
n
 a
n
d
 a
ro
u
n
d
 t
h
e
 h
o
m
e
 a
re
 a
 l
e
a
d
in
g
 c
a
u
s
e
 o
f 
p
re
v
e
n
ta
b
le
 d
e
a
th
 f
o
r 
c
h
ild
re
n
 u
n
d
e
r 
fi
v
e
 y
e
a
rs
 a
n
d
 a
re
 a
 m

a
jo
r 
c
a
u
s
e
 o
f 
ill
 

h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 s
e
ri
o
u
s
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty
. 
A
n
a
ly
s
is
 s
h
o
w
s
 t
h
a
t 
e
a
c
h
 y
e
a
r 
in
 t
h
e
 U
K
 a
p
p
ro
x
im
a
te
ly
 6
0
 c
h
ild
re
n
 a
n
d
 y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 d
ie
d
, 
4
5
0
,0
0
0
 a
tt
e
n
d
e
d
 

a
c
c
id
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 e
m
e
rg
e
n
c
y
 (
A
&
E
) 
a
n
d
 4
0
,0
0
0
 w
e
re
 a
d
m
it
te
d
 t
o
 h
o
s
p
it
a
l 
a
s
 a
n
 e
m
e
rg
e
n
c
y
. 

 

Page 54



 

2
1

 

 

C
o
ld
 h
o
m
e
s
 a
re
 l
in
k
e
d
 t
o
 

in
c
re
a
s
e
d
 r
is
k
 o
f 
c
a
rd
io
-

v
a
s
c
u
la
r,
 r
e
s
p
ir
a
to
ry
 a
n
d
 

rh
e
u
m
a
to
id
 d
is
e
a
s
e
s
, 
a
s
 

w
e
ll 
a
s
 h
y
p
o
th
e
rm

ia
 a
n
d
 

p
o
o
re
r 
m
e
n
ta
l 
h
e
a
lt
h
. 
T
h
e
re
 

w
e
re
 a
n
 e
s
ti
m
a
te
d
 3
6
,4
5
0
 

e
x
c
e
s
s
 w
in
te
r 
d
e
a
th
s
 

a
tt
ri
b
u
ta
b
le
 t
o
 a
ll 
c
a
u
s
e
s
 i
n
 

E
n
g
la
n
d
 a
n
d
 W

a
le
s
 i
n
 

2
0
0
8
/0
9
3
. 
 

 T
o
rb
a
y
 h
a
s
 s
o
m
e
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
 

h
o
u
s
in
g
 f
a
c
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
le
a
d
 t
o
 

p
o
o
r 
h
e
a
lt
h
. 
T
h
o
s
e
 w
it
h
o
u
t 

a
 h
o
m
e
 a
re
 e
x
p
e
c
te
d
 t
o
 

e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
 n
e
g
a
ti
v
e
 h
e
a
lt
h
 

o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
. 
In
 T
o
rb
a
y
 t
h
e
 

n
u
m
b
e
rs
 a
c
c
e
p
te
d
 a
s
 b
e
in
g
 

h
o
m
e
le
s
s
 a
n
d
 i
n
 p
ri
o
ri
ty
 

n
e
e
d
 i
n
 T
o
rb
a
y
 i
s
 1
.2
 p
e
r 

1
,0
0
0
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 

(2
0
1
2
/1
3
).
  
 

 T
h
e
 c
o
n
d
it
io
n
 o
f 
T
o
rb
a
y
’s
 

d
w
e
lli
n
g
 s
to
c
k
 c
o
u
ld
 b
e
 

d
e
s
c
ri
b
e
d
 a
s
 w
o
rs
e
 t
h
a
n
 

th
e
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
v
e
ra
g
e
. 
O
v
e
r 

h
a
lf
 o
f 
th
e
 a
re
a
s
 i
n
 T
o
rb
a
y
 

a
re
 i
n
 t
h
e
 t
o
p
 2
0
%
 (
q
u
in
ti
le
) 

m
o
s
t 
d
e
p
ri
v
e
d
 f
o
r 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 i
n
 p
o
o
r 
c
o
n
d
it
io
n
s
 i
n
 E
n
g
la
n
d
 (
2
0
1
0
).
 T
o
rb
a
y
 h
a
s
 a
 r
e
la
ti
v
e
ly
 l
o
w
 s
o
c
ia
l 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 s
to
c
k
. 
F
ig
u
re
s
 f
o
r 
A
p
ri
l 
2
0
1
1
 s
u
g
g
e
s
t 

th
e
 s
o
c
ia
l 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 s
to
c
k
 i
n
 T
o
rb
a
y
 t
o
 b
e
 7
.9
%
, 
c
o
m
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 1
8
%
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
lly
 a
n
d
 1
3
.6
%
 r
e
g
io
n
a
lly
. 
T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 t
h
a
t 

e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
 f
u
e
l 
p
o
v
e
rt
y
 b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 t
h
e
 "
L
o
w
 i
n
c
o
m
e
, 
h
ig
h
 c
o
s
t"
 m

e
th
o
d
o
lo
g
y
 i
s
 1
1
.4
%
, 
s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
tl
y
 w
o
rs
e
 t
h
a
n
 t
h
e
 E
n
g
la
n
d
 v
a
lu
e
 (
2
0
1
1
).
 

 

Page 55



 

2
2

 

 T
h
e
 J
o
in
t 
S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 N
e
e
d
s
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
fo
u
n
d
 t
h
a
t 
s
o
m
e
 g
ro
u
p
s
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 a
re
 n
o
ta
b
ly
 w
o
rs
e
 o
ff
 i
n
 t
e
rm

s
 o
f 
h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 c
a
re
 i
n
e
q
u
a
lit
ie
s
. 
W
e
 w
ill
 

c
o
n
tr
ib
u
te
 t
o
 t
a
c
k
lin
g
 t
h
e
s
e
 d
is
p
a
ri
ti
e
s
 b
y
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
in
g
 a
 b
e
tt
e
r 
u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 o
f 
o
u
r 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 a
n
d
 e
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
a
t 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
, 
d
e
liv
e
re
d
 

th
ro
u
g
h
 o
u
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
s
 w
it
h
 l
o
c
a
l 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 a
n
d
 s
p
e
c
ia
lis
t 
a
g
e
n
c
ie
s
, 
p
ro
m
o
te
 a
n
d
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 i
n
c
lu
s
io
n
 a
n
d
 a
re
 a
c
c
e
s
s
ib
le
 t
o
 a
n
 i
n
c
re
a
s
in
g
ly
 

d
iv
e
rs
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
. 

 T
h
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 h
a
s
 a
 c
o
m
m
it
m
e
n
t 
to
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
in
g
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 l
iv
in
g
 a
n
d
 f
o
r 
m
a
n
y
 p
e
o
p
le
 w
it
h
 l
e
a
rn
in
g
 d
if
fi
c
u
lt
ie
s
 o
r 
p
o
o
r 
m
e
n
ta
l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 t
h
is
 

m
e
a
n
s
 g
iv
in
g
 t
h
e
m
 g
re
a
te
r 
c
h
o
ic
e
 a
n
d
 c
o
n
tr
o
l 
o
v
e
r 
w
h
e
re
 t
h
e
y
 l
iv
e
. 
In
 a
d
d
it
io
n
, 
th
e
 g
ro
w
in
g
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
o
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 w
ill
 c
re
a
te
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
d
 

d
e
m
a
n
d
 f
o
r 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
o
 l
iv
e
 i
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
tl
y
 a
t 
h
o
m
e
 a
n
d
 f
o
r 
e
x
tr
a
 c
a
re
 a
n
d
 s
h
e
lt
e
re
d
 h
o
u
s
in
g
. 
W
e
 w
ill
 m

e
e
t 
th
e
s
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 b
y
 r
e
m
o
d
e
lli
n
g
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 

p
ro
v
is
io
n
 a
n
d
 e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
in
g
 t
h
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
s
u
it
a
b
le
 a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 o
p
ti
o
n
s
. 

 O
u

tc
o

m
e

s
 

1
0
. 
G
o
o
d
 q
u
a
lit
y
 h
o
m
e
s
 w
it
h
 h
ig
h
 e
n
e
rg
y
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y
, 
s
a
fe
ty
, 
m
in
im
u
m
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 a
n
d
 g
o
o
d
 L
a
n
d
lo
rd
s
 

1
1
. 
Im
p
ro
v
e
 a
n
d
 m
a
in
ta
in
 i
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 i
n
c
lu
s
io
n
, 
e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
o
r 
d
is
a
b
le
d
, 
o
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 a
n
d
 v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 g
ro
u
p
s
. 

1
2
. 
E
n
s
u
re
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 i
s
 d
e
s
ig
n
e
d
 a
n
d
 m
a
in
ta
in
e
d
 t
o
 m
in
im
is
e
 e
x
p
o
s
u
re
 t
o
 b
o
th
 i
n
d
o
o
r 
a
n
d
 o
u
td
o
o
r 
p
o
llu
ta
n
ts
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 d
a
m
p
, 
  

  
  
  
m
o
u
ld
, 
c
o
m
b
u
s
ti
o
n
, 
C
O
, 
P
a
rt
ic
u
la
te
s
, 
n
o
is
e
, 
a
s
b
e
s
to
s
 

. 
 
1
3
. 
R
e
d
u
c
e
 i
n
ju
ri
e
s
 i
n
 h
o
m
e
 -
 e
s
p
e
c
ia
lly
 f
a
lls
 i
n
 t
h
e
 e
ld
e
rl
y
; 
a
n
d
 a
c
c
id
e
n
ts
 a
m
o
n
g
 c
h
ild
re
n
 

 
  
  
 1
4
. 
D
e
s
ig
n
 h
e
a
lt
h
y
 h
o
m
e
s
 t
o
 e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
 p
h
y
s
ic
a
l 
a
c
ti
v
it
y
 e
.g
. 
w
a
lk
/ 
c
y
c
le
/p
la
y
/g
a
rd
e
n
 e
tc
. 
a
n
d
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 h
e
a
lt
h
y
 f
o
o
d
 a
n
d
 l
if
e
s
ty
le
s
 

.    
  

      

Page 56



 

2
3

 

 H
e
a
d

li
n

e
 A

c
ti

o
n

s
 

 D
e
li
v
e
rs
 o
n
 

O
u
tc
o
m
e
/s
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
 

P
e
rs
o
n
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
le
 

C
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
 

d
a
te
 

R
is
k
s
/ 

D
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
c
ie
s
 

1
3
, 

  

R
e
d
u
c
e
 u
n
in
te
n
ti
o
n
a
l 
in
ju
ri
e
s
 i
n
 a
n
d
 

a
ro
u
n
d
 t
h
e
 h
o
m
e
 a
m
o
n
g
 c
h
ild
re
n
 u
n
d
e
r 

fi
v
e
 y
e
a
rs
 t
o
 b
ri
n
g
 d
o
w
n
 t
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 

c
h
ild
re
n
 a
d
m
it
te
d
 t
o
 h
o
s
p
it
a
l 
fr
o
m
 i
n
ju
ri
e
s
. 

  

P
H
E
 r
e
p
o
rt
 (
2
0
1
4
) 

a
c
ti
o
n
s
 

 

P
u
b
lic
 H
e
a
lt
h
 

C
h
ild
re
n
’s
 L
e
a
d
 a
n
d
 

E
a
rl
y
 Y
e
a
rs
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 

T
o
rb
a
y
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 

p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

1
0
,1
2
 

 
C
o
n
s
id
e
r 
u
s
e
 o
f 
e
x
te
rn
a
l 
a
n
d
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 

re
n
e
w
a
l 
fu
n
d
in
g
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 h
o
m
e
s
 m

o
re
 

e
n
e
rg
y
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
a
n
d
 t
a
c
k
le
 F
u
e
l 
P
o
v
e
rt
y
, 

a
n
d
 t
a
rg
e
t 
to
 p
e
o
p
le
 a
n
d
 a
re
a
s
 i
n
 g
re
a
te
s
t 

n
e
e
d
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
 

 
E
x
e
c
 H
e
a
d
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 S
a
fe
ty
 

F
H
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

1
0
,1
2
,1
3
 

 
U
s
e
 p
o
w
e
rs
 a
n
d
 s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 i
n
fl
u
e
n
c
e
 t
o
 

re
d
u
c
e
 n
o
n
 D
e
c
e
n
t 
H
o
m
e
s
 t
o
 a
 m

in
im
u
m
, 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
in
g
 t
h
e
 r
e
m
o
v
a
l 
o
f 
c
a
te
g
o
ry
 1
 h
e
a
lt
h
 

a
n
d
 s
a
fe
ty
 h
a
z
a
rd
s
, 
e
x
p
o
s
u
re
 t
o
 p
o
llu
ta
n
ts
, 

a
n
d
 t
a
c
k
lin
g
 o
v
e
rc
ro
w
d
in
g
. 

 
E
x
e
c
 H
e
a
d
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 S
a
fe
ty
  

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

1
0
,1
1
,1
2
,1
3
,1
4
 

T
a
rg
e
t 
a
s
s
is
ta
n
c
e
 t
o
 l
o
w
 i
n
c
o
m
e
 a
n
d
 

v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 t
o
 r
e
d
u
c
e
 h
e
a
lt
h
 

a
n
d
 s
a
fe
ty
 r
is
k
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
ir
 h
o
m
e
s
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 

e
x
c
e
s
s
 w
in
te
r 
d
e
a
th
s
 a
n
d
 f
a
lls
. 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

1
4
 

D
e
s
ig
n
 h
o
m
e
s
 a
n
d
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l 
a
re
a
s
 t
o
 

e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
 p
h
y
s
ic
a
l 
a
c
ti
v
it
y
 a
n
d
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 

w
a
lk
in
g
, 
c
y
c
lin
g
, 
p
la
y
, 
o
p
e
n
 s
p
a
c
e
s
, 

g
a
rd
e
n
s
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
, 

p
la
n
n
e
rs
 

 
 

 

` 
 

 
 

 
 

1
1
, 

W
o
rk
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 a
n
d
 A
d
u
lt
 

 
 

Page 57



 

2
4

 

 

T
ru
s
t 
to
 r
e
d
u
c
e
 s
o
c
ia
l 
is
o
la
ti
o
n
 i
n
 T
o
rb
a
y
  

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
rs
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

1
1
 

W
o
rk
 w
it
h
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 t
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 

m
e
c
h
a
n
is
m
s
 f
o
r 
v
ic
ti
m
s
 o
f 
d
o
m
e
s
ti
c
 a
b
u
s
e
 

 
E
x
e
c
 H
e
a
d
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 S
a
fe
ty
 

F
H
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

1
0
,1
1
,1
2
,1
3
,1
4
 

M
a
x
im
is
e
 t
h
e
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 o
f 
jo
in
t 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 

th
e
 w
id
e
 d
e
te
rm

in
a
n
ts
 o
f 
h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 

re
d
u
c
e
 i
n
e
q
u
a
lit
ie
s
 a
c
ro
s
s
 c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
d
 

a
n
d
 d
ir
e
c
tl
y
 d
e
liv
e
re
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
. 

J
o
in
t 
C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

G
ro
u
p
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

1
1
,1
3
 

W
o
rk
 w
it
h
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 t
o
 p
ro
m
o
te
 i
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 

liv
in
g
 e
s
p
e
c
ia
lly
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 m

o
re
 v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 e
.g
. 
ti
m
e
 b
a
n
k
in
g
, 
d
is
a
b
le
d
 

fa
c
ili
ti
e
s
 a
d
a
p
ta
ti
o
n
s
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
 ,
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
T
ru
s
t 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

1
1
,1
3
 

R
e
d
u
c
e
 t
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
re
v
e
n
ta
b
le
 

a
c
c
id
e
n
ts
 i
n
 t
h
e
 h
o
m
e
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 t
a
rg
e
te
d
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
 e
.g
. 
h
a
n
d
y
p
e
rs
o
n
s
 s
c
h
e
m
e
; 
c
h
ild
 

a
c
c
id
e
n
t 
p
re
v
e
n
ti
o
n
 

   

H
o
u
s
in
g
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
 

C
C
G
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

   

Page 58



 

2
5

 

  4
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 D
e
li
v
e
ry
 

R
e
 f
o
c
u
s
 o
f 
T
o
rb
a
y
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 a
n
d
 m
e
m
b
e
rs
h
ip
 

A
c
ti
o
n
/ 
a
g
re
e
 T
O
R
 

5
 R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

In
c
lu
d
in
g
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 i
n
v
e
s
tm
e
n
t 
–
 i
s
 t
h
is
 n
o
w
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
 i
n
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
s
?
?
 

G
a
p
s
 

R
is
k
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t,
 E
IA
 

W
e
lf
a
re
 r
e
fo
rm
/r
e
p
o
rt
 f
in
d
in
g
s
 

  A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

L
in
k
s
 t
o
 o
th
e
r 
S
tr
a
te
g
ie
s
/ 
d
o
c
s
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 w

h
a
t 
o
th

e
r 

s
tr

a
te

g
ie

s
/ 

p
la

n
s
/ 
p
o
lic

ie
s
 e

x
is

t 
in

 T
o
rb

a
y
 

(I
n
s
e
rt
 l
in
k
 t
o
 e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
n
d
 C
P
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
, 
L
D
P
) 

 2
0
1
1
 0

9
 1

5
 T

o
rb

a
y
 

U
p
d
a
te

.p
d
f

  
  
   

   
   

  
   

   
   

  
   

  

 

Page 59



 

2
6

 

  h
tt

p
:/

/w
w

w
.t

o
rb

a
y
.g

o
v
.u

k
/i

n
d

e
x/

yo
u

rs
e

rv
ic

e
s/

p
la

n
n

in
g

/s
tr

a
te

g
ic

p
la

n
n

in
g

/s
h

m
a

to
rb

a
y
u

p
d

a
te

.p
d

f 

 h
tt

p
:/

/w
w

w
.t

o
rb

a
y
.g

o
v
.u

k
/i

n
d

e
x/

yo
u

rs
e

rv
ic

e
s/

p
la

n
n

in
g

/s
tr

a
te

g
ic

p
la

n
n

in
g

/h
m

a
m

a
in

re
p

o
rt

.p
d

f 

 h
tt

p
:/

/w
w

w
.t

o
rb

a
y
.g

o
v
.u

k
/i

n
d

e
x/

yo
u

rs
e

rv
ic

e
s/

p
la

n
n

in
g

/s
tr

a
te

g
ic

p
la

n
n

in
g

/h
m

a
e

xe
cu

ti
ve

su
m

m
a

ry
.p

d
f 

 h
tt

p
:/

/w
w

w
.t

o
rb

a
y
.g

o
v
.u

k
/h

o
u

si
n

g
re

q
u

ir
e

m
e

n
tr

e
p

o
rt

.p
d

f 

T
h

e
 L

o
ca

l P
la

n
 T

o
p

ic
 P

a
p

e
r 

b
e

lo
w

 s
u

m
m

a
ri

se
s 

th
e

 e
v
id

e
n

ce
 o

f 
n

e
e

d
/d

e
m

a
n

d
 f

o
r 

h
o

u
si

n
g

 (
in

cl
u

d
in

g
 2

0
1

2
 b

a
se

d
 (

p
u

b
li
sh

e
d

 M
a

y
 2

0
1

4
) 

p
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 

p
ro

je
ct

io
n

s)
  

2
4
T
o
rb
a
yL
o
ca
lP
la

n
T
e
ch

n
ic
a
lP
a
p
e
...

 

   

Page 60



 

2
7

 

 A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 2
 

  K
e
y
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
p
o
li
c
y
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 s
in
c
e
 t
h
e
 l
a
s
t 
s
tr
a
te
g
y
 

 

L
o
c
a
li
s
m
 A
c
t 
2
0
1
1
 -
 a
im
s
 t
o
 d
e
c
e
n
tr
a
lis
e
 p
o
w
e
r 
to
 t
h
e
 l
o
w
e
s
t 
p
ra
c
ti
c
a
b
le
 l
e
v
e
l 
w
h
e
th
e
r 
th
a
t 
is
 t
h
e

 l
o
c
a
l a
u
th
o
ri
ty
, 
p
a
ri
s
h
 o
r 
n
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
. 

 N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
: 

L
a
y
in

g
 t

h
e
 F

o
u
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
: 

a
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 s

tr
a
te

g
y
 f

o
r 

E
n
g
la

n
d
 w
a
s
 p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
 i
n
 N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
1
1
. 
It
 s
e
ts
 o
u
t 
a
 s
e
ri
e
s
 

o
f 
c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 s
y
s
te
m
, 
s
o
m
e
 o
f 
w
h
ic
h

 w
e
re
 a
lr
e
a
d
y
 u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
 w
h
e
n
 t
h
e
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 w
a
s
 p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
. 
T
h
e
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
im
s
 t
o
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
 

h
o
u
s
in
g

 s
u
p
p
ly
 (
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 b
ri
n
g
in
g
 e
m
p
ty
 h
o
m
e
s
 b
a
c
k
 i
n
to
 u
s
e
),
 g
e
t 
th
e
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 m

a
rk
e
t 
m
o
v
in
g
 a
n
d
 b
o
o
s
t 
th
e
 e
c
o
n
o
m
y
. 
It
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
s
 c
h
o
ic
e
 

a
n
d
 q
u
a
lit
y
 f
o
r 
te
n
a
n
ts
, 
p
ro
v
id
e
s
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
o
r 
v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 p
e
o
p
le
, 
a
n
d
 im

p
ro
v
e
d
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 a
n
d
 d
e
s
ig
n
 q
u
a
lit
y
. 

 F
u
n
d
in
g
 
o
f 
n
e
w
 
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 
- 
g
ra
n
t 
a
v
a
ila
b
le
 
fo
r 
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 
h
a
lv
e
d
 
in
 
c
o
m
p
a
ri
s
o
n
 
w
it
h
 
w
h
a
t 

w
a
s
 
a
v
a
ila
b
le
 
p
ri
o
r 
to
 
2
0
1
1
 
a
n
d
 
a
 
n
e
w
 
re
v
e
n
u
e
-b
a
s
e
d

 f
u
n
d
in
g
 m

o
d
e
l 
in
tr
o
d
u
c
e
d
. 
F
u
n
d
in
g
 i
s
 n
o
w
 g
e
n
e
ra
lly
 o
n
ly
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 f
o
r 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 t
h
a
t 

w
ill
 b
e
 l
e
t 
a
t 
a
n

 A
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 R
e
n
t 
fo
r 
w
h
ic
h
 s
o
c
ia
l 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 p
ro
v
id
e
rs
 a
re
 a
b
le
 t
o
 c
h
a
rg
e
 r
e
n
ts
 o
f 
u
p
 t
o
 8
0
%
 o
f 
th
e

 m
a
rk
e
t 
re
n
t 
c
o
m
p
a
re
d
 
to
 

a
 
m
o
re
 
ty
p
ic
a
l 
5
0
-6
0
 
p
e
r 
c
e
n
t 
u
n
d
e
r 
th
e
 
o
ld
 
fu
n
d
in
g
 
re
g
im
e
. 
T
h
e

 a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
in
c
o
m
e
 g
e
n
e
ra
te
d
 m

u
s
t 
b
e
 u
s
e
d
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 
n
e
w
 a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 

h
o
m
e
s
 A
c
ti
o
n
 s
e
c
ti
o
n
 .
N
e
e
d
s
 u
p
d
a
ti
n
g
 

 N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 
P
o
li
c
y
 
F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 
(N
P
P
F
) 
- 
w
a
s
 
p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
 
in
 
s
p
ri
n
g
 
2
0
1
2
 
a
n
d
 
s
e
ts
 
o
u
t 
a

 
p
re
s
u
m
p
ti
o
n
 
in
 f
a
v
o
u
r 
o
f 
s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t.
 N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
P
la
n
s
 a
n
d

 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
  
R
ig
h
t 
 t
o
  
B
u
ild
  
e
n
a
b
le
  
lo
c
a
l 
 p
e
o
p
le
  
to
  
h
a
v
e
  
m
o
re
  
in
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 
 a
n
d
  

c
o
n
tr
o
l 
 
o
v
e
r 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
in
 
th
e
ir
 
a
re
a
. 
C
h
a
n
g
e
s
 
to
 
th
e
 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 
o
b
lig
a
ti
o
n
s
 
s
y
s
te
m
 
(s
e
c
ti
o
n
 
1
0
6
 
a
g
re
e
m
e
n
ts
) 
m
e
a
n
 
th
a
t 
s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 

in
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 
is
 
n
o
w
 
fu
n
d
e
d
 
b
y
 
a
 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 
In
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 
L
e
v
y
 
(C
IL
) 
o
n

 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
rs
. 
A
t 
p
re
s
e
n
t,
 a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
s
 t
o
 b
e
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 s
e
c
ti
o
n
1
0
6
 p
la
n
n
in
g

 a
g
re
e
m
e
n
ts
. 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 P

o
lic
y
 f
o
r 
T
ra
v
e
le
rs
 S

it
e
s
 c
a
m
e
 i
n
to
 f
o
rc
e
 a
t 
th
e
 s
a
m
e
 t
im
e
 a
s
 t
h
e
 N

P
P
F

 

a
n
d
 
re
q
u
ir
e
s
 
th
e
 
c
o
u
n
c
il 
to
 
s
e
t 
p
it
c
h
 
ta
rg
e
ts
 
fo
r 
G
y
p
s
ie
s
 
a
n
d
 
T
ra
v
e
le
rs
 
a
n
d
 
p
lo
t 
ta
rg
e
ts
 
fo
r 
tr
a
v
e
lli
n
g
 S
h
o
w
 p
e
o
p
le
. 

 W
e
lf
a
re
 R
e
fo
rm

 –
 t
h
e
 W

e
lf
a
re
 R
e
fo
rm

 A
c
t 
(2
0
1
2
) 
a
im
s
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 w
o
rk
 p
a
y
. 
It
 i
n
tr
o
d
u
c
e
s
 U
n
iv
e
rs
a
l 
C
re
d
it
, 
a
 
s
in
g
le
 
b
e
n
e
fi
t 
fo
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 
o
f 

w
o
rk
in
g
 
a
g
e
 
w
h
ic
h
 
re
p
la
c
e
d
 
e
x
is
ti
n
g
 
b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 
s
u
c
h
 
a
s
 I
n
c
o
m
e
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
ro
m
 O

c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
1
3
. 
In
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
1
3
 a
ll 
w
e
lf
a
re
 b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 w
e
re
 

c
a
p
p
e
d
 a
t 
th
e

 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 e
a
rn
e
d
 i
n
c
o
m
e
. 
T
h
e
 c
a
p
 w

ill
 n
o
t 
re
fl
e
c
t 
v
a
ri
a
ti
o
n
s
 i
n
 i
n
c
o
m
e
 a
n
d
 r
e
n
ta
l 
c
o
s
ts

 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
tr
y
. 
A
n
y
 

m
o
n
e
y
 o
v
e
r 
a
n
d
 a
b
o
v
e
 t
h
e
 c
a
p
 w
ill
 b
e
 r
e
d
u
c
e
d
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 c
o
s
ts

 e
le
m
e
n
t 
th
e
re
fo
re
 s
o
m
e
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 m

a
y
 b
e
 a
t 
ri
s
k
 o
f 
fa
lli
n
g
 i
n
to
 

a
rr
e
a
rs
 b
e
c
a
u
s
e
 t
h
e
ir
 h
o
u
s
in
g

 a
w
a
rd
 i
s
 i
n
s
u
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
to
 m

e
e
t 
th
e
ir
 r
e
n
t.
 T
h
e
re
 h
a
v
e
 a
ls
o
 b
e
e
n
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 t
o
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 b
e
n
e
fi
t 
a
im
e
d
 a
t 

Page 61



 

2
8

 

 

re
d
u
c
in
g
 t
h
e
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 b
e
n
e
fi
t 
b
u
d
g
e
t.
 

 R
e
g
u
la
ti
o
n
 o
f 
s
o
c
ia
l 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 –
 a
 n
e
w
 R
e
g
u
la
to
ry
 F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 w
a
s
 i
n
tr
o
d
u
c
e
d
 i
n
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
1
2
 w
h
ic
h

 s
e
ts
 o
u
t 
s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 t
h
a
t 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 p
ro
v
id
e
rs
 

m
u
s
t 
m
e
e
t 
w
it
h
 i
n
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 o
n
ly
 t
a
k
in
g
 p
la
c
e
 i
n
 c
a
s
e
s
 o
f 
‘s
e
ri
o
u
s
 d
e
tr
im
e
n
t’
 t
o
 t
e
n
a
n
ts
 s
u
c
h
 a
s
 h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 s
a
fe
ty
; 
lo
s
s
 o
f 
h
o
m
e
, 
u
n
la
w
fu
l 

d
is
c
ri
m
in
a
ti
o
n
, 
lo
s
s
 o
f 
le
g
a
l 
ri
g
h
ts
. 

 H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 s
o
c
ia
l 
c
a
re
 r
e
fo
rm

s
 –
 t
h
e
 H
e
a
lt
h
 &
 S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 A
c
t 
a
b
o
lis
h
e
s
 P
ri
m
a
ry
 C
a
re
 T
ru
s
ts

 (
P
C
T
s
) 
a
n
d
 t
ra
n
s
fe
rs
 t
h
e
ir
 c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

re
s
p
o
n
s
ib
ili
ti
e
s
 t
o
 C
lin
ic
a
l 
C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 G
ro
u
p
s
 (
C
C
G
s
).
 T
h
e
 S

o
u
th

 D
e
v
o
n
 a

n
d
 T

o
r
b
a
y
 C

C
G
 i
s
 m

a
d
e
 u
p
 o
f?
 G

P
 p
ra
c
ti
c
e
s
. 
L
o
c
a
l 

a
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s
 (
to
p
 t
ie
r)
 w

e
r
e
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
o
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
 H

e
a
lt
h
 &

 W
e
llb
e
in
g
 B

o
a
rd
s
 t
o

 p
ro
m
o
te
 m
o
re
 j
o
in
e
d
-u
p
 c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 o
f 
h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 s
o
c
ia
l 

c
a
re
 a
n
d
 p
u
b
lic
 h
e
a
lt
h
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

C
a
re
 b
ill
 c
a
re
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 r
e
fo
rm

- 
D
iln
o
t,
 p
e
rs
o
n
a
l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 c
a
re
 b
u
d
g
e
ts
 

M
a
k
in
g
 e
v
e
ry
 c
o
n
ta
c
t 
c
o
u
n
t 
p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 g
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
in
 A
u
g
u
s
t 
2
0
1
2
. 
It
 s
e
ts
 o
u
t 
th
e

 g
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t’
s
 c
o
m
m
it
m
e
n
t 
to
 e
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
a
t 

e
a
rl
y
 i
n
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 e
n
s
u
re
s
 t
h
a
t 
p
e
o
p
le
 a
re
 h
e
lp
e
d
 t
o

 e
it
h
e
r 
re
m
a
in
 i
n
 t
h
e
ir
 h
o
m
e
 o
r 
fi
n
d
 s
o
m
e
w
h
e
re
 e
ls
e
 t
o
 l
iv
e
. 

 

P
o
o
r 
q
u
a
li
ty
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 

 

T
h
e
 q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 h
a
s
 a
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
im
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 w
e
llb
e
in
g
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
w
it
h
 t
h
e
 q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 
th
e
 p
h
y
s
ic
a
l 
e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

n
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
s
. 
T
h
e
 B
u
ild
in
g
 R
e
s
e
a
rc
h
 E
s
ta
b
lis
h
m
e
n
t 
(B
R
E
) 
h
a
s
 c
a
lc
u
la
te
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 e
ff
e
c
ts
 o
f 
p
o
o
r 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 c
o
s
ts
 t
h
e
 N
H
S
 a
t 
le
a
s
t 
£
6
0
0
m
 

p
e
r 
y
e
a
r3

5
. 
F
o
r 
e
x
a
m
p
le
, 
p
o
o
r 
q
u
a
lit
y
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 i
s
 a
s
s
o
c
ia
te
d
 w
it
h
 a
n
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
d
 r
is
k
 o
f 
c
a
rd
io
v
a
s
c
u
la
r 
d
is
e
a
s
e
s
, 
re
s
p
ir
a
to
ry

 d
is
e
a
s
e
s
 a
n
d
 

d
e
p
re
s
s
io
n
 a
n
d
 a
n
x
ie
ty
. 
In
 a
d
d
it
io
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 p
h
y
s
ic
a
l 
ill
-h
e
a
lt
h
 e
ff
e
c
ts
 o
f 
fu
e
l 
p
o
v
e
rt
y
, 
a

 s
tu
d
y
 s
h
o
w
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
p
e
o
p
le
 i
n
 f
u
e
l 
p
o
v
e
rt
y
 w
e
re
 m

o
re
 t
h
a
n
 

fo
u
r 
ti
m
e
s
 m

o
re
 l
ik
e
ly
 t
o
 s
u
ff
e
r 
a
n
x
ie
ty
 o
r 
d
e
p
re
s
s
io
n
 t
h
a
n
 p
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 c
o
u
ld
 p
a
y
 t
h
e
ir
 f
u
e
l 
b
ill
s
 e
a
s
ily
.3

6
 

 E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 n
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
s
 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
s
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 w
id
e
r 
p
h
y
s
ic
a
l 
e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
a
re
 j
u
s
t 
a
s
 i
m
p
o
rt
a
n
t 
to
 a
n
 i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
l’s
 h
e
a
lt
h

 a
n
d
 w
e
llb
e
in
g
 a
s
 t
h
e
 b
ri
c
k
s
 a
n
d
 m

o
rt
a
r.
 

T
h
e
re
 i
s
 w

id
e
 b
o
d
y
 o
f 
e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 t
h
a
t 
d
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
te
s
 l
iv
in
g

 
c
lo
s
e
 
to
 
a
re
a
s
 
o
f 
g
re
e
n
 
s
p
a
c
e
 
c
a
n
 
im
p
ro
v
e
 
b
o
th
 
p
h
y
s
ic
a
l 
a
n
d
 
m
e
n
ta
l 
h
e
a
lt
h
. 

O
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 
fo
r 
s
o
c
ia
l 
c
o
n
ta
c
t,
 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
s
o
c
ia
l 
n
e
tw
o
rk
s
 
a
n
d
 
p
a
rt
ic
ip
a
ti
o
n
 
in
 
th
e
 
lo
c
a
l 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 
a
re
 
a
ls
o

 
a
s
s
o
c
ia
te
d
 
w
it
h
 

p
o
s
it
iv
e
 
h
e
a
lt
h
 
o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 
s
u
c
h
 
a
s
 
a
 
re
d
u
c
e
d
 
ri
s
k
 
o
f 
d
e
p
re
s
s
io
n
 
a
n
d
 
re
d
u
c
e
d

 m
o
rb
id
it
y
 a
n
d
 m
o
rt
a
lit
y
. 

 

Page 62



M
y

 H
o
m

e 
is

 m
y

 l
if

e 

N
a

m
e

 o
f 

 

R
e

v
ie

w
e

r 

S
e

ct
io

n
/p

a
g

e
 

n
u

m
b

e
r 

Li
n

e
 

N
u

m
b

e
r 

B
ri

e
f 

C
o

m
m

e
n

ts
 

 

P
le

a
s
e

 i
n

s
e

r
t
 e

a
c
h

 n
e

w
 c

o
m

m
e

n
t
 i

n
 a

 n
e

w
 r

o
w

 

E
x
a

m
p

le
 

Ju
li
e

 S
h

a
rl

a
n

d
 

E
x
a

m
p

le
 

O
u

t
c
o

m
e

s
 

P
4

 

E
x
a

m
p

le
 

3
2

 

E
x
a

m
p

le
 

A
d

d
 ‘

x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
’ 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Agenda Item 8
Appendix 2

Page 63



 

 

 

 

Title:  
 

Update Report – Health and Wellbeing Board Priority 8: Reduce 
alcohol consumption 
 

Wards Affected: 
 

All 

To: 
 

Health and Wellbeing Board On: 2 October 2014 

Contact: Bruce Bell 
Telephone: 01803 207315 
Email: Bruce.bell@torbay.gov.uk 
 

1. Purpose 

1.1 This report provides a summary on progress on the Health and Wellbeing 
Board’s priority of reducing alcohol consumption.  

2. Recommendation 

2.1 That the Torbay Health and Wellbeing Board accepts the progress stated in 
this report. 

2.2  That the Torbay Health and Wellbeing Board endorses the development of a 
new alcohol strategy and implementation plan. 

3. Supporting Information 

3.1 The Alcohol Update Report attached. 

4. Relationship to Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 

4.1 Reducing alcohol related harms is a local priority outlined in the JSNA 

5. Relationship to Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

5.1 Reducing alcohol consumption is a strategic priority for the Torbay Health and 
Wellbeing strategy, sitting within ‘Outcome 2: A healthy life with a reduced gap 
in life expectancy’. 

6. Implications for future iterations of the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment and/or Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

6.1 For review following consultation and ratification of the new alcohol strategy 
and implementation plan. 

 

Agenda Item 9

Page 64



2 

 

Appendices 

Alcohol Update Report 

Background Papers: 
The following documents/files were used to compile this report: 

• Local Alcohol Profiles for England: Torbay 2014. 

• NHS Health Checks data – Devon, Cornwall & Somerset Centre as at 30 
June 2014 (Quarter 1, 2014/15). 

• Public Health – Lifestyles. Survey Results June 2014. 

   

 

  

Page 65



3 

 

ALCOHOL UPDATE REPORT 

 

Current Position 

The latest Local Alcohol Profiles for England report was published in August 2014. 
This shows Torbay to have significantly worse rate than the England average of 
alcohol-related harm for: 

• Alcohol-specific mortality for males and females 

• Mortality from chronic liver disease for males 

• Alcohol-specific hospital admissions for males, females and under-18s. 

• Alcohol-related admissions (narrow definition) for males 

• Admission episodes for alcohol-related conditions 

Unfortunately, due to a change in methodology adopted this year by Public Health 
England it is not possible to compare directly with previous iterations. 

Achievements to Date 

In line with the priority areas identified by the Torbay Health and Wellbeing Board: 

Priority Area  Activity  

Continue to include 
alcohol screening in the 
NHS Healthchecks 
programme as this 
programme expands  

Alcohol screening is embedded in the NHS Healthchecks 
programme. As of Quarter 1 2014/15 the Torbay uptake 
was 60% of those offered received a Healthcheck which 
compares favourably with the national figure of 44%. 

A training programme has been commissioned and run to 
support staff in GP practices to deliver Healthchecks. This 
included significant input on alcohol screening and how to 
respond to different drinking patterns. 

Extend the range of 
Identification and Brief 
Advice opportunities 
available through non-
medical settings for 
people with alcohol 
problems. 

No activity currently, to be informed by the new alcohol 
strategy (see Alcohol Update Report for details). 

Improve pathway 
between hospital and 
community treatment 
services for people with 
alcohol related problems. 

Alcohol screening models have been embedded in A&E, 
outpatients and high-prevalence wards. This has seen a 

significant increase, with over 300 individuals being 

screened at Torbay hospital each month. 

Southern Devon & Torbay Clinical Commissioning Group 
has agreed an incentive payment with Torbay Hospital to 

Page 66



4 

 

increase the screening activity for alcohol for 2014/15. 

Targeted alcohol caseworker post in place who is 

assertively working with ‘high-attenders’ at hospital and 

primary care with complex needs and low motivation to 
reduce further hospital admissions. 

One of the Integrated Care Organisation’s (ICO) 

development priorities is of a care-model for alcohol. 
Projects within this include: 

• Increasing universal alcohol screening across the 
ICO. 

• Development of a specialist alcohol service at 
Torbay Hospital. 

Promote and support 
peer-led recovery 
opportunities in the 
community. 

There is an accessible, recovery-focused, alcohol 
treatment system in place that is configured to meet the 
needs of the local population. 

A range of recovery support interventions are available to 
promote recovery e.g. mutual aid, peer support, family 

and parenting support, volunteering pathways for 
employment, Job Centre Plus. 

Public health are funding a ‘recovery grants’ process 
where people in recovery (supported by treatment 
services and the Community Development Trust) allocate 

grants to groups of people in recovery to support their 
peers.  

 

In addition, the public consultation for the new ‘lifestyles’ service identified strong 
support for promoting drinking within recommended limits within a service. A key 
feature of a newly commissioned service will, therefore, include information and 
advice to address ‘increasing risk’ drinking. 

Future Activity 

A new alcohol strategy and implementation is required as the current strategy is now 
out of date and a re-base lining exercise is required to clarify which strategic 
programmes and interventions are still operational in light of the significant redesign 
and restructuring of public service in recent years. 

The intention is to focus, in the first instance, on four themes to reflect the cross-
cutting nature of the alcohol agenda: 

• Prevention of alcohol-related harm in adults: 

• Reduction in Alcohol-related crime, disorder and impact on communities: 

Page 67



5 

 

• Protection of Children & Young People from Harm 

• Alcohol Control 

Consultation on a new draft strategy will commence in December 2014. 

Scoping work has commenced with Public Health England and Devon Public Health 
to develop a social marketing approach to alcohol. Key areas of work are: 

• Promoting health checks. 

• Dry January campaign. 

 

 

Bruce Bell 

Head of Public Health Improvement. 

 

 

Page 68



 

 

 

 

Title: 
 

Update Report – High level Joint Mental Health Commissioning 
Strategy for South Devon and NEW Devon CCGs, and Torbay, 
Plymouth and Devon Councils 

Wards Affected: 
 

All 

To: 
 

Torbay Health and Wellbeing 
Board 

On: 2 October 2014 

Contact: Derek O’Toole 
Telephone: 01803 652559 
Email: derekotoole@nhs.net 
 

1. Achievements since last meeting 

1.1 The Devon wide Mental Health Commissioning Strategy was presented last to 
the Torbay Health and Wellbeing Board in June 2014. Since then, we have 
been receiving and correlating comments from the people of Torbay and 
South Devon. These comments have been pooled with reflections from across 
Devon. 

1.2 The strategy now reflects many of those comments, suggestions, and 
changes of emphasis, presentation style and language from all of the 
engagement processes across Devon. 

2. Action required by partners 

2.1 The final Mental Health Commissioning Strategy for Devon, Plymouth and 
Torbay 2014-2017 is now attached and the Board is requested to receive and 
approve it for publication and launch.  

Appendices 

A Mental Health Commissioning Strategy for Devon, Plymouth & Torbay 2014-
2017 

Background Papers: 
The following documents/files were used to compile this report: 

No Health without Mental Health (DH, 2011), Talking therapies (DH, 2011), No 
health without mental health: implementation framework (DH, 2012), Preventing 
suicide in England (DH, 2012), Caring For Our Future: reforming care and support 
(DH, 2012), Closing the Gap (DH, 2014), Torbay Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy, Draft Devon Wide Prevention Strategy 2014-2017, Draft Children’s 
Emotional Health and Wellbeing  

Agenda Item 10

Page 69



 
   

Page 70



A
 m

e
n

ta
l 

h
e

a
lt

h
 

co
m

m
is

si
o

n
in

g
  

st
ra

te
g

y
 f

o
r 

 
D

e
v
o

n
, 

P
ly

m
o

u
th

  
a

n
d

 T
o

rb
a

y
 2

0
1

4
-2

0
1

7

  Jo
in

t 
C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
in

g
  

2
0

1
4

-2
0

1
7

D
e
vo

n
 C

o
u
n
ty

 C
o
u
n
ci

l 
  
  
 

P
ly

m
o
u
th

 C
it
y 

C
o
u
n
ci

l 
  

S
o
u
th

 D
e
vo

n
 a

n
d
 T

o
rb

a
y 

C
C

G
 

N
E
W

 D
e
vo

n
 C

C
G

  
To

rb
a
y 

C
o
u
n
ci

l 
  

N
o

rt
h

e
rn

, 
E

a
st

e
rn

 a
n

d
 W

e
st

e
rn

 D
e

v
o

n
  

C
li

n
ic

a
l 

C
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

in
g

 G
ro

u
p

Agenda Item 10
Appendix 1

Page 71



 

 N
o

te
: 

T
h

is
 i
s 

th
e
 i
n

si
d

e
 c

o
ve

r 

Page 72



In
tr

o
d

u
ct

io
n

O
u

r 
co

m
m

it
m

e
n

t

O
u

tc
o

m
e
s

R
e
v
ie

w
in

g
 o

u
r 

p
ro

g
re

ss

O
u

r 
p

ri
o

ri
ti

e
s

E
q

u
a
li
ty

 

M
a
rk

e
t 

p
o

si
ti

o
n

 s
ta

te
m

e
n

ts

M
e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt

h
 n

e
e
d

s 
a
ss

e
ss

m
e
n

t

P
re

v
e
n

ti
o

n

P
e
rs

o
n

a
li
sa

ti
o

n

In
te

g
ra

ti
o

n

Im
p

ro
v
in

g
 h

e
a
lt

h
 a

n
d

 w
e
ll
b

e
in

g

S
u

p
p

o
rt

in
g

 r
e
co

v
e
ry

A
cc

e
ss

 t
o

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s 

In
v
o

lv
e
m

e
n

t 
o

f 
p

e
o

p
le

 w
h

o
 u

se
  

se
rv

ic
e
s 

a
n

d
 c

a
re

rs
 

H
ig

h
-q

u
a
li
ty

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s 

a
n

d
  

fi
n

a
n

ci
a
l 
su

st
a
in

a
b

il
it

y

S
a
fe

g
u

a
rd

in
g

S
u

m
m

a
ry

A
cn

o
w

le
d

g
e
m

e
n

ts

C
o

n
te

n
ts

A
 m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 c
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

in
g

 s
tr

a
te

g
y 

fo
r 

D
e
vo

n
, 

P
ly

m
o

u
th

 a
n

d
 T

o
rb

a
y 

2
0

1
4

-2
0

1
6

0
1

0
2

0
3

0
4

0
5

0
6

0
7

0
8

0
9

1
1

1
2

1
4

1
5

1
7

2
0
 

2
1
 

2
2

2
3

2
4

Page 73



W
e
lc

o
m

e
 t

o
 t

h
e
 c

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
in

g
 s

tr
a
te

g
y 

fo
r 

a
d

u
lt
 m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s 

in
 D

e
vo

n
. 

It
 r

e
fl

e
ct

s 
th

e
 i
n

te
n

ti
o

n
s 

o
f 

th
e
 h

e
a
lt
h

 a
n

d
 s

o
ci

a
l 
ca

re
  

co
m

m
is

si
o

n
e
rs

 f
o

r 
D

e
vo

n
 C

o
u

n
ty

 C
o

u
n

ci
l,
  

P
ly

m
o

u
th

 C
it
y 

C
o

u
n

ci
l,
 S

o
u

th
 D

e
vo

n
 a

n
d

 T
o

rb
a
y 

C
lin

ic
a
l 
C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
in

g
 G

ro
u

p
 a

n
d

 N
o

rt
h

e
rn

, 
E
a
st

e
rn

 a
n

d
 W

e
st

e
rn

 D
e
vo

n
 C

lin
ic

a
l 
 

C
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

in
g

 G
ro

u
p

. 
T
h

is
 s

tr
a
te

g
y 

is
 f

o
r 

 
a
ll 

a
d

u
lt
s,

 r
e
g

a
rd

le
ss

 o
f 

th
e
ir
 a

g
e
.

T
h

e
 s

tr
a
te

g
y 

w
ill

 l
in

k
 t

h
e
 n

e
e
d

s 
a
ss

e
ss

m
e
n

t 
w

o
rk

 
fo

r 
D

e
vo

n
, 

P
ly

m
o

u
th

 a
n

d
 T

o
rb

a
y 

w
it
h

 n
a
ti
o

n
a
l 

p
o

lic
y,

 s
ta

tu
to

ry
 o

b
lig

a
ti
o

n
s,

 e
vi

d
e
n

ce
 b

a
se

s 
a
n

d
  

th
e
 c

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
in

g
 i
n

te
n

ti
o

n
s 

fo
r 

a
ll 

o
f 

th
e
  

co
m

m
is

si
o

n
in

g
 o

rg
a
n

is
a
ti
o

n
s 

in
 D

e
vo

n
. 
 

T
h

is
 s

tr
a
te

g
y 

sh
o

u
ld

 b
e
 r

e
a
d

 a
lo

n
g

si
d

e
 t

h
e
  

st
ra

te
g

ie
s 

fo
r 

d
e
m

e
n

ti
a
, 

ca
re

rs
, 

le
a
rn

in
g

  
d

is
a
b

ili
ty

, 
e
m

o
ti
o

n
a
l 
w

e
llb

e
in

g
 a

n
d

 m
e
n

ta
l 

h
e
a
lt
h

 c
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

in
g

 s
tr

a
te

g
y 

fo
r 

ch
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 

th
e
 e

a
rl
y 

h
e
lp

 a
n

d
 t

h
e
 e

a
rl
y 

h
e
lp

 s
tr

a
te

g
y 

fo
r 

ch
ild

re
n

 s
o

 t
h

a
t 

it
 c

a
n

 b
e
 s

e
e
n

 i
n

 t
h

e
 p

ro
p

e
r 

co
n

te
xt

.

T
h

is
 s

tr
a
te

g
y 

h
a
s 

b
e
e
n

 d
is

cu
ss

e
d

 w
it
h

 k
e
y 

 
st

a
k
e
h

o
ld

e
rs

, 
p

a
rt

ic
u

la
rl
y 

u
se

r 
a
n

d
 c

a
re

r 
g

ro
u

p
s,

 
w

it
h

 a
 c

le
a
r 

in
te

n
ti
o

n
 t

o
 g

a
in

 c
o

n
se

n
su

s 
a
n

d
 

su
p

p
o

rt
 f

o
r 

th
e
 f

u
tu

re
 o

f 
m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s.

 
T
h
e
 t

h
e
m

e
s 

a
n
d
 p

ri
o
ri
ti
e
s 

id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 t

h
ro

u
g
h
  

th
e
 e

n
g

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
p

ro
ce

ss
 w

ill
 b

e
 i
d

e
n

ti
fi

e
d

  
a
n

d
 p

ri
o

ri
ti
se

d
.

T
h

e
 c

o
n

te
xt

 f
o

r 
fu

tu
re

 c
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

in
g

 i
s 

se
t 

 
b

y 
th

e
 s

ig
n

ifi
ca

n
tl
y 

ch
a
lle

n
g

in
g

 fi
n

a
n

ci
a
l 
 

e
n

vi
ro

n
m

e
n

t 
in

 t
h

e
 p

u
b

lic
 s

e
ct

o
r.
 R

e
so

u
rc

e
s 

a
va

ila
b

le
 f

o
r 

co
m

m
is

si
o

n
e
rs

 a
re

 s
u

b
je

ct
 t

o
  

su
b

st
a
n

ti
a
l 
p

re
ss

u
re

 a
n

d
 t

h
is

 h
a
s 

in
e
vi

ta
b

ly
 l
e
d

  
to

 c
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

e
rs

, 
p

ro
vi

d
e
rs

 a
n

d
 s

ta
k
e
h

o
ld

e
rs

 
co

n
si

d
e
ri
n

g
 o

p
ti
o

n
s 

fo
r 

fu
tu

re
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s 

w
h

ic
h

 
re

d
u

ce
 d

e
m

a
n

d
 f

o
r 

se
rv

ic
e
s,

 p
ro

m
o

te
 e

a
rl
ie

r 
in

te
rv

e
n

ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 e
n

su
re

 t
h

e
 b

e
st

 v
a
lu

e
 f

o
r 

 
m

o
n

e
y.

 T
h

is
 m

u
st

 a
ll 

b
e
 a

ch
ie

ve
d

 a
g

a
in

st
 a

  
b

a
ck

g
ro

u
n

d
 o

f 
in

cr
e
a
si

n
g

 d
e
m

a
n

d
 a

n
d

 a
n

  
a
g

e
in

g
 p

o
p

u
la

ti
o

n
.

In
tr

o
d

u
ct

io
n

A
 m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 c
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

in
g

 s
tr

a
te

g
y 

fo
r 

D
e
vo

n
, 

P
ly

m
o

u
th

 a
n

d
 T

o
rb

a
y 

2
0

1
4

-2
0

1
6

0
1

Page 74



W
e
 f

e
e
l 
th

e
 p

e
o

p
le

 o
f 

D
e
vo

n
, 

P
ly

m
o

u
th

 a
n

d
 

To
rb

a
y 

d
e
se

rv
e
 e

xc
e
lle

n
t 

m
e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s 

th
a
t 

a
re

 a
va

ila
b

le
 w

h
e
n

 t
h

e
y 

a
re

 n
e
e
d

e
d

 a
n

d
 a

re
 

b
a
se

d
 o

n
 t

h
e
 b

e
st

 e
vi

d
e
n

ce
 f

o
r 

e
ff

e
ct

iv
e
n

e
ss

. 
A

lo
n

g
si

d
e
 t

h
e
se

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s 

th
e
re

 n
e
e
d

s 
to

 b
e
 a

 
w

id
e
 r

a
n

g
e
 o

f 
o

p
p

o
rt

u
n

it
ie

s 
fo

r 
p

e
o

p
le

 t
o

 d
o

  
th

e
 t

h
in

g
s 

th
a
t 

w
ill

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 g
o

o
d

 m
e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 
a
n

d
 w

e
llb

e
in

g
 a

n
d

 p
ro

vi
d

e
 t

h
e
 c

h
o

ic
e
s 

th
a
t 

 
p

ro
m

o
te

 g
o

o
d

 h
o

u
si

n
g

, 
a
 p

la
ce

 i
n

 t
h

e
  

co
m

m
u

n
it
y,

 s
tr

e
n

g
th

e
n

 f
a
m

ili
e
s,

 e
n

a
b

le
  

fr
ie

n
d

sh
ip

s 
a
n

d
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 e

m
p

lo
ym

e
n

t,
 a

ct
iv

it
ie

s 
a
n

d
 p

o
si

ti
ve

 l
if
e
st

yl
e
s.

T
h

is
 c

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
in

g
 s

tr
a
te

g
y 

fo
cu

se
s 

o
n

 h
o

w
 w

e
 

ca
n

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 g
o

o
d

 m
e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 a
n

d
 s

e
e
k
 t

o
 

p
re

ve
n

t 
m

e
n

ta
l 
ill

 h
e
a
lt
h

. 
It
 e

m
p

h
a
si

se
s 

th
e
 n

e
e
d

 
to

 p
ro

m
o

te
 r

e
co

ve
ry

 a
n

d
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 p

e
o

p
le

 t
o

 
o

ve
rc

o
m

e
 t

h
e
 c

o
n

se
q

u
e
n

ce
s 

o
f 

m
e
n

ta
l 
ill

n
e
ss

 s
o

 
th

a
t 

th
e
y 

ca
n

 l
e
a
d

 s
a
ti
sf

yi
n

g
, 

in
d

e
p

e
n

d
e
n

t 
a
n

d
 

p
ro

d
u

ct
iv

e
 l
iv

e
s.

W
e
 a

re
 c

o
m

m
it
te

d
 t

o
 e

n
su

ri
n

g
 t

h
a
t 

th
e
 p

e
o

p
le

 
o

f 
D

e
vo

n
, 

P
ly

m
o

u
th

 a
n

d
 T

o
rb

a
y 

ca
n

:

A
cc

e
ss

 t
h

e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s 

a
n

d
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 t

h
e
y 

n
e
e
d

H
a
ve

 a
 c

h
o

ic
e
 o

ve
r 

h
o

w
 t

h
e
y 

re
ce

iv
e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s 

a
n

d
 s

u
p

p
o

rt

H
a
ve

 c
o

n
tr

o
l 
o

ve
r 

th
e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s 

a
n

d
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 

th
e
y 

re
ce

iv
e

E
xp

e
ct

 t
h

e
 c

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
in

g
 a

n
d

 d
e
liv

e
ry

  
o

f 
th

o
se

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s 

to
 b

e
 i
n

te
g

ra
te

d

D
e
m

a
n

d
 t

h
a
t 

co
m

m
is

si
o

n
e
rs

 s
e
e
k
 t

o
  

im
p

ro
ve

 a
n

d
 d

e
ve

lo
p

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s 

in
 l
in

e
 w

it
h

 
b

e
st

 p
ra

ct
ic

e
 a

n
d

 n
e
e
d

B
e
 i
n

vo
lv

e
d

 i
n

 p
la

n
n

in
g

 a
n

d
 d

e
liv

e
ri
n

g
  

tr
e
a
tm

e
n

t 
a
n

d
 s

u
p

p
o

rt

H
a
ve

 t
h

e
 o

p
p

o
rt

u
n

it
y 

to
 i
n

fl
u

e
n

ce
 h

o
w

  
se

rv
ic

e
s 

a
re

 c
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

e
d

 a
n

d
 p

ro
vi

d
e
d

B
e
 p

a
rt

 o
f 

th
e
 m

o
n

it
o

ri
n

g
 a

n
d

 e
va

lu
a
ti
o

n
 o

f 
se

rv
ic

e
s 

in
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 w
it
h

 c
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

e
rs

.

O
u

r 
co

m
m

it
m

e
n

t

A
 m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 c
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

in
g

 s
tr

a
te

g
y 

fo
r 

D
e
vo

n
, 

P
ly

m
o

u
th

 a
n

d
 T

o
rb

a
y 

2
0

1
4

-2
0

1
6

0
2

Page 75



T
h

e
 c

o
n

su
lt
a
ti
o

n
 w

it
h

 p
e
o

p
le

 w
it
h

 m
e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 
p

ro
b

le
m

s,
 c

a
re

rs
 a

n
d

 o
th

e
r 

st
a
k
e
h

o
ld

e
rs

 h
a
s 

st
e
e
re

d
 t

h
e
 d

e
ve

lo
p

m
e
n

t 
o

f 
th

is
 s

tr
a
te

g
y.

 W
e
 

w
a
n

t 
to

 m
a
k
e
 s

u
re

 p
e
o

p
le

 w
ill

 b
e
 a

b
le

 t
o

 s
a
y:

I 
h

a
ve

 p
e
rs

o
n

a
l 
ch

o
ic

e
 a

n
d

 c
o

n
tr

o
l 
o

r 
 

in
fl

u
e
n

ce
 o

ve
r 

th
e
 d

e
ci

si
o

n
s 

a
b

o
u

t 
m

e

I 
k
n

o
w

 t
h

a
t 

se
rv

ic
e
s 

a
re

 d
e
si

g
n

e
d

 a
ro

u
n

d
  

m
e
 a

n
d

 m
y 

n
e
e
d

s

I 
h

a
ve

 a
n

 i
m

p
ro

ve
d

 q
u

a
lit

y 
o

f 
lif

e
 a

s 
m

y 
m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 n
e
e
d

s 
a
re

 a
ss

e
ss

e
d

 s
w

if
tl
y 

 
a
n

d
 e

ff
e
ct

iv
e
ly

 a
n

d
 I
 a

m
 a

b
le

 t
o

 a
cc

e
ss

 t
h

e
  

tr
e
a
tm

e
n

t 
a
n

d
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 I
 n

e
e
d

I 
h

a
ve

 a
 p

o
si

ti
ve

 e
xp

e
ri
e
n

ce
 o

f 
ca

re
 a

n
d

 
su

p
p

o
rt

I 
re

ce
iv

e
 h

e
lp

 a
n

d
 i
n

te
rv

e
n

ti
o

n
s 

su
ffi

ci
e
n

tl
y 

e
a
rl
y 

to
 p

re
ve

n
t 

th
e
 a

vo
id

a
b

le
 d

e
te

ri
o

ra
ti
o

n
 

o
f 

m
y 

m
e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

I 
h

a
ve

 a
 s

e
n

se
 o

f 
b

e
lo

n
g

in
g

 a
n

d
 o

f 
b

e
in

g
 a

 
va

lu
e
d

 p
a
rt

 o
f 

fa
m

ily
, 

co
m

m
u

n
it
y 

a
n

d
 c

iv
ic

 
lif

e

I 
re

ce
iv

e
 t

h
e
 t

re
a
tm

e
n

t 
a
n

d
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 t

h
a
t 

 
a
llo

w
s 

m
e
 t

o
 r

e
co

ve
r 

a
n

d
 s

u
st

a
in

 t
h

a
t 

 
re

co
ve

ry

I 
h

a
ve

 a
 s

a
y 

in
 t

h
e
 d

e
ve

lo
p

m
e
n

t 
a
n

d
  

m
o

n
it
o

ri
n

g
 o

f 
m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s

O
u

tc
o

m
e

s

A
 m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 c
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

in
g

 s
tr

a
te

g
y 

fo
r 

D
e
vo

n
, 

P
ly

m
o

u
th

 a
n

d
 T

o
rb

a
y 

2
0

1
4

-2
0

1
6

0
3

Page 76



W
e
 h

a
ve

 a
 p

la
n

 f
o

r 
im

p
le

m
e
n

ti
n

g
 a

ll 
o

f 
th

e
  

id
e
n

ti
fi

e
d

 p
ri
o

ri
ty

 a
ct

io
n

s 
to

 h
e
lp

 e
n

su
re

 t
h

a
t 

th
is

 
st

ra
te

g
y 

is
 a

 s
u

cc
e
ss

.

W
e
 w

a
n

t 
to

 m
a
k
e
 s

u
re

 p
e
o

p
le

 a
re

 f
u

lly
 i
n

vo
lv

e
d

 
in

 t
h

e
 c

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
in

g
 a

n
d

 p
ro

vi
si

o
n

 o
f 

se
rv

ic
e
s.

 
T
h

is
 i
s 

cr
u

ci
a
l 
to

 t
h

e
 e

ff
e
ct

iv
e
 i
m

p
le

m
e
n

ta
ti
o

n
  

o
f 

th
e
 s

tr
a
te

g
y.

 

W
it
h

in
 m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 c
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

in
g

 a
n

d
, 

b
y 

e
xt

e
n

si
o

n
, 

se
rv

ic
e
 p

ro
vi

si
o

n
 w

e
 a

re
 c

le
a
r 

th
a
t 

se
rv

ic
e
 u

se
rs

 a
n

d
 p

a
ti
e
n

ts
 w

ill
 b

e
 a

b
le

 t
o

 h
a
ve

 
o

ve
rs

ig
h

t 
a
n

d
 i
n

fl
u

e
n

ce
 o

ve
r 

th
e
 e

ff
e
ct

iv
e
n

e
ss

  
o

f 
th

is
 s

tr
a
te

g
y 

a
n

d
 i
ts

 d
e
liv

e
ry

.

T
h

e
se

 i
ss

u
e
s 

w
ill

 b
e
 r

e
fl

e
ct

e
d

 i
n

 a
n

 a
tt

e
m

p
t 

to
 

sh
o

w
 g

re
a
te

r 
tr

a
n

sp
a
re

n
cy

 i
n

 h
o

w
 d

e
ci

si
o

n
s 

a
re

 
m

a
d

e
 a

n
d

 w
h

o
 m

a
k
e
s 

th
e
m

 s
o

 t
h

a
t 

sc
ru

ti
n

y 
is

 
a
p

p
lie

d
 t

o
 a

ll 
o

u
r 

p
ro

ce
ss

e
s 

–
 b

o
th

 i
n

 N
H

S
 a

n
d

 
Lo

ca
l 
A

u
th

o
ri
ty

 o
rg

a
n

is
a
ti
o

n
s.

O
n

e
 o

f 
th

e
 k

e
y 

te
st

s 
fo

r 
o

u
r 

p
ro

g
re

ss
 w

ill
 b

e
 

p
e
o

p
le

 w
h

o
 h

a
ve

 u
se

d
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s,

 p
e
o

p
le

 w
h

o
 a

re
 

e
xp

e
rt

s 
b

y 
e
xp

e
ri
e
n

ce
, 

re
p

o
rt

in
g

 t
o

 u
s 

th
a
t 

 
th

e
y 

a
re

 e
ff

e
ct

iv
e
ly

 i
n

cl
u

d
e
d

 i
n

 t
h

e
ir
 c

a
re

 a
n

d
  

tr
e
a
tm

e
n

t;
 r

e
p

o
rt

in
g

 t
h

a
t 

th
e
y 

a
re

 a
b

le
 t

o
  

co
n

tr
o

l 
th

e
ir
 o

w
n

 e
xp

e
ri
e
n

ce
s 

a
s 

in
d

iv
id

u
a
ls

 a
s 

w
e
ll 

a
s 

b
e
in

g
 a

b
le

 t
o

 i
n

fl
u

e
n

ce
 t

h
e
 w

id
e
r 

 
im

p
le

m
e
n

ta
ti
o

n
 o

f 
th

is
 s

tr
a
te

g
y.

R
e

v
ie

w
in

g
 o

u
r 

p
ro

g
re

ss

A
 m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 c
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

in
g

 s
tr

a
te

g
y 

fo
r 

D
e
vo

n
, 

P
ly

m
o

u
th

 a
n

d
 T

o
rb

a
y 

2
0

1
4

-2
0

1
6

0
4

Page 77



T
h

is
 s

tr
a
te

g
y 

p
ro

vi
d

e
s 

a
n

 o
ve

rv
ie

w
 o

f 
n

a
ti
o

n
a
l 

p
o

lic
y,

 e
vi

d
e
n

ce
 b

a
se

s,
 c

u
rr

e
n

t 
co

m
m

it
m

e
n

ts
 

a
n

d
, 

cr
u

ci
a
lly

, 
in

p
u

t 
fr

o
m

 s
ta

k
e
h

o
ld

e
rs

 a
n

d
  

p
e
o

p
le

 w
h

o
 u

se
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s.

T
h

e
 c

ru
ci

a
l 
p

o
lic

y 
d

o
cu

m
e
n

ts
 t

h
a
t 

in
fo

rm
 t

h
is

 
co

m
m

is
si

o
n

in
g

 s
tr

a
te

g
y 

a
re

:

N
o

 H
e
a
lt
h

 W
it
h

o
u

t 
M

e
n

ta
l 
H

e
a
lt
h

 (
D

H
, 

2
0

1
1

)

Ta
lk

in
g

 t
h

e
ra

p
ie

s 
(D

H
, 

2
0

1
1

)

N
o

 h
e
a
lt
h

 w
it
h

o
u

t 
m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

: 
 

im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti
o

n
 f

ra
m

e
w

o
rk

 (
D

H
, 

2
0

1
2

)

P
re

ve
n

ti
n

g
 s

u
ic

id
e
 i
n

 E
n

g
la

n
d

 (
D

H
, 

2
0

1
2

)

C
a
ri
n

g
 F

o
r 

O
u

r 
Fu

tu
re

: 
re

fo
rm

in
g

 c
a
re

 a
n

d
 

su
p

p
o

rt
 (

D
H

, 
2

0
1

2
)

C
lo

si
n

g
 t

h
e
 G

a
p

 (
D

H
, 

2
0

1
4

)

T
h

e
se

 a
re

 t
h

e
 m

o
st

 i
m

p
o

rt
a
n

t 
o

f 
a
 w

id
e
 r

a
n

g
e
 

p
o

lic
y 

a
n

d
 g

u
id

a
n

ce
 d

o
cu

m
e
n

ts
 t

h
a
t 

h
a
ve

  
in

fo
rm

e
d

 t
h

e
 d

e
ve

lo
p

m
e
n

t 
o

f 
th

is
 s

tr
a
te

g
y.

T
h

e
 i
n

te
n

ti
o

n
 f

o
r 

th
e
 C

C
G

s 
a
n

d
 c

o
u

n
ci

ls
 i
n

 
D

e
vo

n
 i
s 

to
 e

n
su

re
 t

h
a
t 

a
ll 

lo
ca

l 
co

m
m

is
si

o
n

in
g

 
a
n

d
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 d

e
liv

e
ry

 c
a
n

 r
e
fl

e
ct

 n
a
ti
o

n
a
l 
p

ri
o

ri
ti
e
s 

a
s 

e
xp

re
ss

e
d

 i
n

 t
h

e
 a

b
o

ve
 d

o
cu

m
e
n

ts
. 

N
a
ti
o

n
a
l 

p
o

lic
y 

h
a
s 

id
e
n

ti
fi

e
d

 t
h

e
se

 k
e
y 

p
ri
o

ri
ti
e
s 

a
n

d
 a

ll 
lo

ca
l 
p

la
n

n
in

g
 a

n
d

 d
e
liv

e
ry

 w
ill

 f
o

cu
s 

o
n

 w
o

rk
 

th
a
t 

a
d

d
re

ss
e
s 

th
e
se

 a
re

a
s:

P
re

ve
n

ti
o

n

P
e
rs

o
n

a
lis

a
ti
o

n

In
te

g
ra

ti
o

n

Im
p

ro
vi

n
g

 h
e
a
lt
h

 a
n

d
 w

e
llb

e
in

g

S
u

p
p

o
rt

in
g

 r
e
co

ve
ry

A
cc

e
ss

 t
o

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s

A
ll 

o
f 

th
e
se

 p
ri
o

ri
ti
e
s 

a
re

 u
n

d
e
rp

in
n

e
d

 b
y 

a
  

sy
st

e
m

-w
id

e
 c

o
m

m
it
m

e
n

t 
to

:

E
n

g
a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
a
n

d
 i
n

vo
lv

e
m

e
n

t 
o

f 
p

e
o

p
le

 
w

h
o

 u
se

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s 

a
n

d
 c

a
re

rs
 i
n

 b
o

th
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 

m
o

n
it
o

ri
n

g
 a

n
d

 t
h

e
 c

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
in

g
 p

ro
ce

ss

Fi
n

a
n

ci
a
l 
su

st
a
in

a
b

ili
ty

E
ff

e
ct

iv
e
 s

a
fe

g
u

a
rd

in
g

 a
rr

a
n

g
e
m

e
n

ts
 f

o
r 

vu
ln

e
ra

b
le

 a
d

u
lt
s 

a
n

d
 f

o
r 

ch
ild

re
n

 i
n

 f
a
m

ili
e
s 

a
ff

e
ct

e
d

 b
y 

m
e
n

ta
l 
ill

 h
e
a
lt
h

H
ig

h
-q

u
a
lit

y 
se

rv
ic

e
s

O
u

r 
p

ri
o

ri
ti

e
s

A
 m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 c
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

in
g

 s
tr

a
te

g
y 

fo
r 

D
e
vo

n
, 

P
ly

m
o

u
th

 a
n

d
 T

o
rb

a
y 

2
0

1
4

-2
0

1
6

0
5

Page 78



A
ll 

o
f 

th
e
 c

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
in

g
 o

rg
a
n

is
a
ti
o

n
s 

a
re

 
co

m
m

it
te

d
 t

o
 p

re
ve

n
ti
n

g
 d

is
cr

im
in

a
ti
o

n
, 

va
lu

in
g

 
d

iv
e
rs

it
y 

a
n

d
 a

ch
ie

vi
n

g
 e

q
u

a
lit

y 
o

f 
o

p
p

o
rt

u
n

it
y 

in
 

re
la

ti
o

n
 t

o
 t

h
e
 p

ro
te

ct
e
d

 c
h

a
ra

ct
e
ri
st

ic
s 

a
s 

 
se

t 
o

u
t 

b
y 

th
e
 E

q
u

a
lit

y 
A

ct
 2

0
1

0
:

A
g

e

D
is

a
b

ili
ty

G
e
n

d
e
r 

re
a
ss

ig
n

m
e
n

t

M
a
rr

ia
g

e
 a

n
d

 c
iv

il 
p

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

P
re

g
n

a
n

cy
 a

n
d

 m
a
te

rn
it
y

S
e
x

S
e
xu

a
l 
o

ri
e
n

ta
ti
o

n

R
a
ce

/e
th

n
ic

it
y

R
e
lig

io
n

 o
r 

b
e
lie

f

It
 i
s 

re
co

g
n

is
e
d

 t
h

a
t 

in
 m

a
n

y 
ca

se
s 

fu
rt

h
e
r 

e
ff

o
rt

 
is

 r
e
q

u
ir
e
d

 t
o

 e
n

su
re

 t
h

a
t 

p
e
o

p
le

 a
re

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

e
d

 
to

 g
a
in

 t
h

e
 a

cc
e
ss

, 
tr

e
a
tm

e
n

t 
a
n

d
 o

u
tc

o
m

e
s 

th
e
y 

n
e
e
d

. 
A

ll 
co

m
m

is
si

o
n

e
rs

 w
ill

 w
o

rk
 t

o
 

e
n

su
re

 t
h

a
t 

co
m

m
is

si
o

n
e
d

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s 

re
co

g
n

is
e
 

d
iv

e
rs

it
y 

a
n

d
 w

ill
 m

a
k
e
 r

e
a
so

n
a
b

le
 a

d
ju

st
m

e
n

ts
 

to
 e

n
su

re
 t

h
a
t 

p
e
o

p
le

 w
it
h

 m
e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

  
n

e
e
d

s 
ca

n
 a

cc
e
ss

 a
p

p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 s
e
rv

ic
e
 a

n
d

 g
e
t 

 
g

o
o

d
-q

u
a
lit

y 
o

u
tc

o
m

e
s.

E
q

u
a
li
ty

A
 m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 c
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

in
g

 s
tr

a
te

g
y 

fo
r 

D
e
vo

n
, 

P
ly

m
o

u
th

 a
n

d
 T

o
rb

a
y 

2
0

1
4

-2
0

1
6

0
6

Page 79



P
ly

m
o

u
th

 C
it
y 

C
o

u
n

ci
l 
a
n

d
 D

e
vo

n
 C

o
u

n
ty

  
C

o
u

n
ci

l 
h

a
ve

 m
a
rk

e
t 

p
o

si
ti
o

n
 s

ta
te

m
e
n

ts
 t

h
a
t 

e
xp

la
in

 t
o

 s
e
rv

ic
e
 a

n
d

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 p
ro

vi
d

e
rs

 w
h

a
t 

th
e
y 

re
q

u
ir
e
 i
n

 t
e
rm

s 
o

f 
n

e
e
d

, 
d

e
m

a
n

d
 a

n
d

  
p

ro
vi

si
o

n
. 

T
h

is
 i
s 

d
e
si

g
n

e
d

 t
o

 e
n

co
u

ra
g

e
  

p
ro

vi
d

e
rs

 t
o

 d
e
ve

lo
p

 t
h

e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s 

th
a
t 

w
ill

 m
e
e
t 

th
e
 c

h
a
n

g
in

g
 n

e
e
d

s 
o

f 
th

e
 p

e
o

p
le

 o
f 

D
e
vo

n
.

T
h

e
 s

ta
te

m
e
n

ts
 c

le
a
rl
y 

o
u

tl
in

e
 c

u
rr

e
n

t 
a
n

d
 f

u
tu

re
 

d
e
m

a
n

d
 f

o
r 

se
rv

ic
e
s 

a
n

d
 e

xp
re

ss
 t

h
e
 f

o
cu

s 
o

n
 

st
a
te

-f
u

n
d

e
d

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 f
o

r 
th

o
se

 w
it
h

 t
h

e
 g

re
a
te

st
 

n
e
e
d

 a
n

d
 t

h
e
 p

ro
m

o
ti
o

n
 o

f 
se

lf
-s

u
p

p
o

rt
e
d

 c
a
re

 
fo

r 
th

o
se

 w
it
h

 l
o

w
e
r 

n
e
e
d

s.

T
h

e
 d

ri
ve

 c
o

n
ti
n

u
e
s 

to
 p

ro
m

o
te

 m
o

re
  

se
lf
-d

ir
e
ct

e
d

 c
a
re

, 
ca

re
 a

t 
h

o
m

e
 a

n
d

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 
to

w
a
rd

s 
g

re
a
te

r 
in

d
e
p

e
n

d
e
n

ce
 a

n
d

 r
e
co

ve
ry

. 
T
h

is
 w

ill
 r

e
d

u
ce

 t
h

e
 m

a
rk

e
t 

fo
r 

re
si

d
e
n

ti
a
l 
a
n

d
 

n
u

rs
in

g
 h

o
m

e
 c

a
re

. 
A

lo
n

g
si

d
e
 t

h
is

 t
h

e
re

 i
s 

 
g

re
a
te

r 
su

p
p

o
rt

 f
o

r 
ca

re
rs

 a
n

d
 g

re
a
te

r 
fl

e
xi

b
ili

ty
 

in
 t

h
e
 m

a
rk

e
t 

fo
r 

a
lt
e
rn

a
ti
ve

s 
to

 c
a
re

.

P
ly

m
o

u
th

 C
it
y 

C
o

u
n

ci
l 
h

a
s 

re
vi

e
w

e
d

 t
h

e
  

e
ff

e
ct

iv
e
n

e
ss

 o
f 

cu
rr

e
n

t 
m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 p
ro

vi
si

o
n

 
u

n
d

e
r 

th
e
 P

le
d

g
e
 9

0
 R

e
vi

e
w

 a
n

d
 t

h
is

 w
o

rk
 h

a
s 

b
e
e
n

 i
n

fl
u

e
n

ti
a
l 
in

 s
e
tt

in
g

 t
h

e
 d

ir
e
ct

io
n

 f
o

r 
th

is
 

st
ra

te
g

y.

D
e
vo

n
 C

o
u

n
ty

 C
o

u
n

ci
l 
h

a
ve

 u
p

d
a
te

d
 t

h
e
 c

a
re

rs
’ 

st
ra

te
g

y,
 a

cc
o

m
m

o
d

a
ti
o

n
 s

tr
a
te

g
y 

a
n

d
  

su
p

p
o

rt
e
d

 l
iv

in
g

 s
tr

a
te

g
y 

a
s 

w
e
ll 

a
s 

su
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 

se
lf
-d

ir
e
ct

e
d

 c
a
re

 a
n

d
 t

h
e
 u

se
 o

f 
p

e
rs

o
n

a
l 
 

b
u

d
g

e
ts

.

M
a
rk

e
t 

p
o

si
ti

o
n

 s
ta

te
m

e
n

ts

A
 m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 c
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

in
g

 s
tr

a
te

g
y 

fo
r 

D
e
vo

n
, 

P
ly

m
o

u
th

 a
n

d
 T

o
rb

a
y 

2
0

1
4

-2
0

1
6

0
7

Page 80



T
h

e
 p

u
b

lic
 h

e
a
lt
h

 t
e
a
m

s 
o

f 
D

e
vo

n
 C

o
u

n
ty

  
C

o
u

n
ci

l,
 P

ly
m

o
u

th
 C

it
y 

C
o

u
n

ci
l 
a
n

d
 T

o
rb

a
y 

C
o

u
n

ci
l 
re

ce
n

tl
y 

p
ro

d
u

ce
d

 c
o

m
p

re
h

e
n

si
ve

  
m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 n
e
e
d

s 
a
ss

e
ss

m
e
n

ts
 f

o
r 

th
e
  

p
o

p
u

la
ti
o

n
 o

f 
D

e
vo

n
. 

T
h

e
se

 d
o

cu
m

e
n

ts
 r

e
ve

a
l 

th
e
 p

a
tt

e
rn

 o
f 

n
e
e
d

 a
n

d
 h

e
lp

 i
d

e
n

ti
fy

 p
ri
o

ri
ty

 
a
re

a
s 

fo
r 

a
ct

io
n

.

T
h

e
 n

e
e
d

s 
a
ss

e
ss

m
e
n

t 
fo

r 
D

e
vo

n
 i
d

e
n

ti
fi

e
d

 t
h

e
 

fo
llo

w
in

g
 k

e
y 

p
ri
o

ri
ti
e
s:

P
e
rs

o
n

a
lit

y 
d

is
o

rd
e
r 

a
n

d
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s 

fo
r 

th
o

se
 

th
a
t 

se
lf
-h

a
rm

E
a
ti
n

g
 d

is
o

rd
e
r 

su
p

p
o

rt
 f

o
r 

yo
u

n
g

 p
e
o

p
le

S
u

ic
id

e
 p

re
ve

n
ti
o

n

Im
p

ro
ve

d
 a

n
a
ly

si
s 

o
f 

p
re

sc
ri
b

in
g

Im
p

ro
vi

n
g

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s 

fo
r 

yo
u

n
g

 p
e
o

p
le

 a
n

d
 

ch
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 w

o
rk

in
g

 t
o

 p
re

ve
n

t 
m

e
n

ta
l 

ill
n

e
ss

Im
p

ro
ve

d
 a

cc
e
ss

 t
o

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s 

a
n

d
 t

re
a
tm

e
n

t 
 

a
t 

th
e
 t

im
e
 a

n
d

 p
la

ce
 i
t 

is
 r

e
q

u
ir
e
d

T
h

e
 n

e
e
d

s 
a
ss

e
ss

m
e
n

t 
fo

r 
P
ly

m
o

u
th

 i
d

e
n

ti
fi

e
d

 
th

e
 f

o
llo

w
in

g
 p

ri
o

ri
ti
e
s:

Im
p

ro
vi

n
g

 u
n

iv
e
rs

a
l 
se

rv
ic

e
s 

a
n

d
 d

e
ve

lo
p

in
g

 
m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 a
n

d
 w

e
llb

e
in

g

Ta
rg

e
te

d
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it
y-

b
a
se

d
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s 

to
 

su
p

p
o

rt
 g

o
o

d
 m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 a
n

d
 p

ro
m

o
te

 
a
cc

e
ss

 t
o

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

Im
p

ro
vi

n
g

 s
p

e
ci

a
lis

t 
m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 f
u

n
ct

io
n

s

Im
p

ro
ve

d
 e

n
g

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
a
n

d
 i
n

vo
lv

e
m

e
n

t 
o

f 
th

o
se

 w
it
h

 l
iv

e
d

 e
xp

e
ri
e
n

ce

T
h

e
 k

e
y 

m
e
ss

a
g

e
 f

ro
m

 t
h

e
se

 a
ss

e
ss

m
e
n

ts
 i
s 

 
th

a
t 

co
m

m
is

si
o

n
in

g
 p

ri
o

ri
ti
e
s 

sh
o

u
ld

 f
o

cu
s 

o
n

  
p

ro
m

o
ti
n

g
 t

h
e
 m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 a
n

d
 w

e
llb

e
in

g
 o

f 
th

e
 p

o
p

u
la

ti
o

n
 e

sp
e
ci

a
lly

 i
n

 t
e
rm

s 
o

f 
a
cc

e
ss

  
to

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 a
n

d
 t

re
a
tm

e
n

t,
 a

cc
e
ss

 t
o

 s
ta

b
le

  
a
cc

o
m

m
o

d
a
ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 h
o

u
si

n
g

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

, 
su

p
p

o
rt

 
fo

r 
e
m

p
lo

ym
e
n

t,
 p

ro
m

o
ti
n

g
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it
y-

b
a
se

d
 

p
ro

vi
si

o
n

 a
n

d
 e

n
su

ri
n

g
 t

h
a
t 

m
e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

  
se

rv
ic

e
s 

a
re

 i
n

te
g

ra
te

d
.

M
e

n
ta

l 
h

e
a

lt
h

 n
e

e
d

s 
a

ss
e

ss
m

e
n

t

A
 m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 c
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

in
g

 s
tr

a
te

g
y 

fo
r 

D
e
vo

n
, 

P
ly

m
o

u
th

 a
n

d
 T

o
rb

a
y 

2
0

1
4

-2
0

1
6

0
8

Page 81



T
h

e
 h

e
a
rt

 o
f 

g
o

o
d

 m
e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 i
s 

e
m

o
ti
o

n
a
l 

re
si

lie
n

ce
 t

o
 t

h
e
 s

h
if
ti
n

g
 p

re
ss

u
re

s 
a
n

d
 t

id
e
s 

o
f 

lif
e
. 

T
h

is
 i
n

vo
lv

e
s 

a
 c

o
m

b
in

a
ti
o

n
 o

f 
p

e
rs

o
n

a
l 

q
u

a
lit

ie
s 

a
n

d
 s

k
ill

s 
w

it
h

 f
o

u
n

d
a
ti
o

n
s 

o
f 

h
o

m
e
, 

e
m

p
lo

ym
e
n

t,
 e

d
u

ca
ti
o

n
, 

fa
m

ily
 a

n
d

 c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y.

 
In

 a
ll 

fa
m

ili
e
s 

a
n

d
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it
ie

s 
it
 i
s 

in
e
vi

ta
b

le
 

th
a
t 

th
e
re

 w
ill

 b
e
 c

h
a
lle

n
g

e
s 

th
a
t 

ca
n

 c
a
u

se
 t

h
e
 

k
in

d
 o

f 
d

if
fi

cu
lt
ie

s 
a
n

d
 p

re
ss

u
re

s 
th

a
t 

p
o

te
n

ti
a
lly

 
le

a
d

 t
o

 m
e
n

ta
l 
d

is
tr

e
ss

 a
n

d
 i
lln

e
ss

.

M
e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s 

h
a
ve

 t
ra

d
it
io

n
a
lly

  
fo

cu
se

d
 o

n
 r

e
sp

o
n

d
in

g
 t

o
 t

h
e
 n

e
e
d

s 
o

f 
p

e
o

p
le

 
a
s 

th
e
y 

d
e
ve

lo
p

. 
O

ve
r 

re
ce

n
t 

ye
a
rs

 t
h

e
re

 h
a
s 

b
e
e
n

 a
n

 i
n

cr
e
a
si

n
g

 i
n

te
re

st
 i
n

 u
n

d
e
rs

ta
n

d
in

g
 t

h
e
 

ca
u

se
s 

o
f 

m
e
n

ta
l 
ill

 h
e
a
lt
h

 a
n

d
 a

tt
e
m

p
ti
n

g
 t

o
 

a
d

d
re

ss
 t

h
e
m

 b
e
fo

re
 t

h
e
y 

b
e
co

m
e
 s

e
ve

re
. 

T
h

e
re

 
a
re

 t
h

re
e
 b

a
si

c 
a
p

p
ro

a
ch

e
s 

w
h

ic
h

 f
o

cu
s 

o
n

  
p

re
ve

n
ti
n

g
 o

r 
lim

it
in

g
 t

h
e
 o

n
se

t 
o

f 
 

si
g

n
ifi

ca
n

t 
sy

m
p

to
m

s:

P
ri

m
a

ry
 p

re
v
e

n
ti

o
n

 –
 i
n

te
rv

e
n

in
g

 w
it
h

  
in

d
iv

id
u

a
ls

, 
fa

m
ili

e
s 

o
r 

co
m

m
u

n
it
ie

s 
to

  
p

re
ve

n
t 

th
e
 d

e
ve

lo
p

m
e
n

t 
o

f 
p

re
d

ic
ta

b
le

 
m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 i
ss

u
e
s.

 T
h

is
 r

e
lie

s 
u

p
o

n
  

g
o

o
d

 d
a
ta

 a
b

o
u

t 
n

e
e
d

s 
co

m
b

in
e
d

 w
it
h

  
in

te
lli

g
e
n

ce
 s

h
a
ri
n

g
 a

b
o

u
t 

fa
m

ili
e
s 

a
n

d
  

in
d

iv
id

u
a
ls

 a
t 

ri
sk

. 
T
h

e
 D

e
vo

n
 E

a
rl
y 

H
e
lp

 
S
tr

a
te

g
y 

fo
r 

C
h

ild
re

n
 a

n
d

 F
a
m

ili
e
s 

 
d

e
m

o
n

st
ra

te
s 

th
e
 k

e
y 

o
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it
ie

s 
th

a
t 

 
ca

n
 b

o
th

 h
e
lp

 a
n

d
 p

ro
te

ct
 c

h
ild

re
n

.

S
e

co
n

d
a

ry
 p

re
v
e

n
ti

o
n

 –
 a

ls
o

 k
n

o
w

n
 a

s 
e
a
rl
y 

in
te

rv
e
n

ti
o

n
, 

th
is

 i
s 

th
e
 p

ra
ct

ic
e
 o

f 
 

in
te

rv
e
n

in
g

 a
t 

th
e
 fi

rs
t 

si
g

n
s 

o
f 

se
ve

re
  

m
e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 i
ss

u
e
s,

 e
sp

e
ci

a
lly

 i
n

 p
sy

ch
o

si
s,

 
p

e
rs

o
n

a
lit

y 
d

is
o

rd
e
r,
 b

ip
o

la
r 

d
is

o
rd

e
r 

a
n

d
 

e
a
ti
n

g
 d

is
o

rd
e
rs

. 
E
ff

e
ct

iv
e
 s

e
co

n
d

a
ry

  
p

re
ve

n
ti
o

n
 r

e
lie

s 
o

n
 w

o
rk

in
g

 w
it
h

 o
th

e
r 

a
g

e
n

ci
e
s 

to
 fi

n
d

 p
o

te
n

ti
a
l 
p

a
ti
e
n

ts
, 

cl
e
a
r 

g
u

id
a
n

ce
 o

n
 r

e
fe

rr
a
l 
a
n

d
 e

n
g

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
w

it
h

 
p

e
o

p
le

 t
o

 h
e
lp

 t
h

e
m

 o
ve

rc
o

m
e
 t

h
e
 fi

rs
t 

 
st

a
g

e
s 

o
f 

se
ri
o

u
s 

m
e
n

ta
l 
ill

n
e
ss

.

Te
rt

ia
ry

 p
re

v
e

n
ti

o
n

 –
 r

a
p

id
 r

e
sp

o
n

se
  

to
 r

e
la

p
se

 o
f 

k
n

o
w

n
 p

a
ti
e
n

ts
. 

T
h

is
 i
s 

 
p

a
rt

ic
u

la
rl
y 

re
lia

n
t 

o
n

 g
o

o
d

 p
la

n
n

in
g

  
a
n

d
 c

o
m

m
u

n
ic

a
ti
o

n
 a

cr
o

ss
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s.

E
ff

e
ct

iv
e
 p

re
ve

n
ti
o

n
 o

f 
co

u
rs

e
 r

e
lie

s 
u

p
o

n
 s

tr
o

n
g

 
co

m
m

u
n

ic
a
ti
o

n
 w

it
h

in
 h

e
a
lt
h

, 
so

ci
a
l 
ca

re
, 

cr
im

in
a
l 
ju

st
ic

e
, 

e
d

u
ca

ti
o

n
, 

fa
m

ily
 a

n
d

 h
o

u
si

n
g

 
sy

st
e
m

s.
 T

h
e
 i
n

fo
rm

a
ti
o

n
 g

a
th

e
re

d
 b

y 
th

e
se

 
a
g

e
n

ci
e
s 

a
n

d
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s 

m
u

st
 b

e
 u

se
d

 t
o

 e
n

a
b

le
 

m
e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 s
p

e
ci

a
lis

ts
 t

o
 f

o
cu

s 
o

n
 t

h
o

se
  

co
m

m
u

n
it
ie

s,
 f

a
m

ili
e
s 

a
n

d
 i
n

d
iv

id
u

a
ls

 i
n

 w
a
y 

th
a
t 

ca
n

 c
h

a
n

g
e
 o

u
tc

o
m

e
s.

T
h

e
 f

o
u

n
d

a
ti
o

n
s 

o
f 

g
o

o
d

 m
e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 a
n

d
 

w
e
llb

e
in

g
 a

re
:

G
o

o
d

 r
e
la

ti
o

n
sh

ip
s

Fi
n

a
n

ci
a
l 
se

cu
ri
ty

M
e
a
n

in
g

fu
l 
o

cc
u

p
a
ti
o

n
 o

r 
e
m

p
lo

ym
e
n

t

P
e
rs

o
n

a
l 
g

ro
w

th

P
re

v
e

n
ti

o
n

A
 m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 c
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

in
g

 s
tr

a
te

g
y 

fo
r 

D
e
vo

n
, 

P
ly

m
o

u
th

 a
n

d
 T

o
rb

a
y 

2
0

1
4

-2
0

1
6

0
9

Page 82



A
 g

o
o

d
 h

o
m

e

D
e
ve

lo
p

in
g

 r
e
si

lie
n

ce

C
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

in
g

 w
ill

 b
e
 f

o
cu

se
d

 o
n

 t
h

e
  

d
e
ve

lo
p

m
e
n

t 
o

f 
su

p
p

o
rt

 a
t 

a
ll 

le
ve

ls
 t

h
a
t 

 
e
n

co
u

ra
g

e
s 

th
e
se

 f
o

u
n

d
a
ti
o

n
s,

 w
it
h

 t
h

e
 a

im
  

b
e
in

g
 t

o
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 p

e
o

p
le

 t
o

 d
e
ve

lo
p

 a
n

d
  

m
a
in

ta
in

 t
h

e
se

 c
o

re
 e

le
m

e
n

ts
 a

n
d

 p
re

ve
n

t 
th

e
 

o
n

se
t 

o
f 

d
a
m

a
g

in
g

 m
e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 p
re

se
n

ta
ti
o

n
s.

  
E
xa

m
p

le
s 

in
cl

u
d

e
 a

llo
tm

e
n

t 
g

ro
u

p
s,

 ‘
M

e
n

 i
n

 
S
h

e
d

s’
, 
sp

e
ci

a
lis

t 
h

o
u

si
n

g
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
, 
m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 
e
d

u
ca

ti
o

n
 i
n

 s
ch

o
o

ls
 a

n
d

 e
m

p
lo

ym
e
n

t 
re

te
n

ti
o

n
 

su
p

p
o

rt
. 

T
h

e
se

 e
xa

m
p

le
s 

a
re

 s
im

p
ly

 a
 s

e
le

ct
io

n
 

o
f 

th
e
 p

o
te

n
ti
a
l 
o

p
p

o
rt

u
n

it
ie

s 
fo

r 
co

m
m

is
si

o
n

e
rs

 
to

 e
n

co
u

ra
g

e
 g

o
o

d
 m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 a
n

d
 p

ro
m

o
te

 
th

e
 k

in
d

 o
f 

su
p

p
o

rt
 t

h
a
t 

re
d

u
ce

s 
th

e
 n

e
e
d

 f
o

r 
in

d
iv

id
u

a
ls

 t
o

 r
e
ce

iv
e
 s

p
e
ci

a
lis

t 
in

te
rv

e
n

ti
o

n
s.

A
 m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 c
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

in
g

 s
tr

a
te

g
y 

fo
r 

D
e
vo

n
, 

P
ly

m
o

u
th

 a
n

d
 T

o
rb

a
y 

2
0

1
4

-2
0

1
6

1
0

 F
a

m
il

ie
s 

w
it

h
 a

 f
u

tu
re

 

T
h

is
 p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e
 i
n

 P
ly

m
o

u
th

 i
s 

th
e
 s

o
rt

 o
f 

o
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it
y 

th
a
t 

ca
n

 b
ri
n

g
 e

ff
e
ct

iv
e
 p

ri
m

a
ry

 
p

re
ve

n
ti
o

n
 t

o
 b

e
a
r 

o
n

 t
h

e
 i
n

ci
d

e
n

ce
 o

f 
 

m
e
n

ta
l 
ill

 h
e
a
lt
h

 i
n

 o
u

r 
co

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s.
 B

a
se

d
 

o
n

 a
n

 a
n

a
ly

si
s 

o
f 

n
e
e
d

 a
n

d
 i
n

d
ic

a
to

rs
 s

u
ch

 a
s 

n
o

n
-a

tt
e
n

d
a
n

ce
 a

t 
sc

h
o

o
l,
 w

o
rk

le
ss

n
e
ss

 i
n

 t
h

e
 

fa
m

ily
 a

n
d

 i
n

vo
lv

e
m

e
n

t 
w

it
h

 y
o

u
th

 o
ff

e
n

d
in

g
 

a
n

d
 c

ri
m

in
a
l 
ju

st
ic

e
  

–
 i
t 

a
llo

w
s 

p
ro

fe
ss

io
n

a
ls

 
to

 t
a
rg

e
t 

in
te

rv
e
n

ti
o

n
s 

a
t 

sp
e
ci

fi
c 

fa
m

ili
e
s 

a
n

d
  

 
in

 t
h

e
 p

la
ce

s 
w

h
e
re

 i
t 

ca
n

 l
e
a
d

 t
o

 r
e
a
l 
ch

a
n

g
e
. 

T
h

is
 i
s 

e
sp

e
ci

a
lly

 t
h

e
 c

a
se

 i
n

 t
h

e
 l
iv

e
s 

o
f 

yo
u

n
g

 
p

e
o

p
le

, 
g

iv
in

g
 t

h
e
m

 r
e
si

lie
n

ce
 a

n
d

 t
h

e
 h

e
lp

 
th

e
y 

n
e
e
d

 t
o

 e
sc

a
p

e
 t

h
e
 c

o
n

se
q

u
e
n

ce
s 

o
f 

ch
a
lle

n
g

in
g

 f
a
m

ily
 l
iv

e
s.

Page 83



P
e
rs

o
n

a
lis

a
ti
o

n
 i
s 

a
b

o
u

t 
re

sp
e
ct

in
g

 a
 p

e
rs

o
n

’s
 

h
u

m
a
n

 r
ig

h
ts

, 
d

ig
n

it
y 

a
n

d
 a

u
to

n
o

m
y,

 a
n

d
 t

h
e
ir
 

ri
g

h
t 

to
 s

h
a
p

e
 a

n
d

 d
e
te

rm
in

e
 t

h
e
 w

a
y 

th
e
y 

le
a
d

 
th

e
ir
 l
if
e
. 

P
e
rs

o
n

a
lis

e
d

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 a
n

d
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s 

a
re

 
d

e
si

g
n

e
d

 f
o

r 
th

e
 p

u
rp

o
se

s 
o

f 
in

d
e
p

e
n

d
e
n

ce
, 

w
e
llb

e
in

g
 a

n
d

 d
ig

n
it
y.

 E
ve

ry
 p

e
rs

o
n

 w
h

o
  

re
ce

iv
e
s 

su
p

p
o

rt
 s

h
o

u
ld

 h
a
ve

 c
h

o
ic

e
 a

n
d

  
co

n
tr

o
l,
 r

e
g

a
rd

le
ss

 o
f 

th
e
 c

a
re

 s
e
tt

in
g

.

(N
o

 H
e
a
lt
h

 W
it
h

o
u

t 
M

e
n

ta
l 
H

e
a
lt
h

, 
D

H
, 

2
0

1
1

)

T
h

e
 k

e
y 

va
lu

e
s 

a
n

d
 p

ri
n

ci
p

le
s 

th
a
t 

w
ill

 d
ri
ve

 
th

e
 c

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
in

g
 o

f 
m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s 

in
 D

e
vo

n
 a

re
 b

a
se

d
 o

n
 a

 c
o

m
m

it
m

e
n

t 
to

 t
h

e
 

in
d

iv
id

u
a
ls

 w
h

o
 r

e
ce

iv
e
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 t

o
 t

a
k
e
 c

o
n

tr
o

l 
o

f 
th

e
ir
 o

w
n

 m
e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 i
ss

u
e
s 

a
n

d
 r

e
ta

in
 t

h
e
 

in
d

e
p

e
n

d
e
n

ce
 t

a
k
e
n

 f
o

r 
g

ra
n

te
d

 b
y 

th
o

se
 w

h
o

 
a
re

 w
e
ll.

T
h

e
re

 a
re

 t
w

o
 i
m

p
o

rt
a
n

t 
a
re

a
s 

o
f 

d
e
ve

lo
p

m
e
n

t 
fo

r 
p

e
rs

o
n

a
lis

a
ti
o

n
:

T
h

e
 p

ro
m

o
ti
o

n
 o

f 
st

ro
n

g
 p

ro
ce

ss
e
s 

th
a
t 

p
la

ce
 p

e
o

p
le

 a
t 

th
e
 h

e
a
rt

 o
f 

a
ll 

d
e
ci

si
o

n
 

m
a
k
in

g
 a

n
d

 p
la

n
n

in
g

 b
y 

st
a
tu

to
ry

  
o

rg
a
n

is
a
ti
o

n
s 

a
n

d
 t

h
e
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

  
co

m
m

is
si

o
n

e
d

 b
y 

h
e
a
lt
h

 a
n

d
 s

o
ci

a
l 
ca

re
 –

  
fo

r 
e
xa

m
p

le
, 

p
e
rs

o
n

-c
e
n

tr
e
d

 p
la

n
n

in
g

 a
n

d
  

p
a
ti
e
n

t-
co

n
tr

o
lle

d
 m

e
d

ic
a
ti
o

n
 p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e
s

T
h

e
 u

se
 o

f 
p

e
rs

o
n

a
l 
b

u
d

g
e
ts

 a
n

d
 d

ir
e
ct

  
p

a
ym

e
n

ts
 t

o
 g

iv
e
 p

e
o

p
le

 m
o

re
  

d
e
te

rm
in

a
ti
o

n
 o

f 
h

o
w

 t
o

 e
xe

rc
is

e
 c

h
o

ic
e
  

a
n

d
 c

o
n

tr
o

l 
–
 f

o
r 

e
xa

m
p

le
 b

y 
d

e
ve

lo
p

in
g

  
p

e
rs

o
n

a
l 
b

u
d

g
e
t 

p
ro

ce
ss

e
s 

a
n

d
 e

n
su

ri
n

g
 

th
e
re

 i
s 

a
 m

a
rk

e
t 

o
f 

p
ro

vi
d

e
rs

 t
o

 r
e
sp

o
n

d
  

to
 i
n

d
iv

id
u

a
l 
re

q
u

ir
e
m

e
n

ts

P
e
rs

o
n

a
lis

a
ti
o

n
 i
s 

m
o

re
 t

h
a
n

 p
ro

ce
ss

e
s 

a
n

d
  

p
e
rs

o
n

a
l 
b

u
d

g
e
ts

 a
n

d
 t

h
e
se

 t
w

o
 a

re
a
s 

a
re

 j
u

st
 

th
e
 b

e
g

in
n

in
g

 o
f 

d
e
ve

lo
p

in
g

 t
ru

ly
 p

e
rs

o
n

a
lis

e
d

 
a
p

p
ro

a
ch

e
s 

to
 b

o
th

 c
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

in
g

 a
n

d
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 

d
e
liv

e
ry

.

    T
h

e
 N

a
ti
o

n
a
l 
D

e
ve

lo
p

m
e
n

t 
Te

a
m

 f
o

r 
in

cl
u

si
o

n
 

(N
D

T
i)
 a

n
d

 T
h

in
k
 L

o
ca

l 
A

ct
 P

e
rs

o
n

a
l 
(T

LA
P
) 

 
h

a
ve

 i
d

e
n

ti
fi

e
d

 a
 w

h
o

le
-s

ys
te

m
 f

ra
m

e
w

o
rk

  
fo

r 
p

e
rs

o
n

a
lis

a
ti
o

n
 i
n

 m
e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

. 

T
h

e
 k

e
y 

p
ri
n

ci
p

le
s 

a
re

 s
h

o
w

n
 b

e
lo

w
.

H
e
lp

fu
l,
 p

e
rs

o
n

-c
e
n

tr
e
d

 a
p

p
ro

a
ch

e
s

In
fo

rm
a
ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 a
d

vi
ce

, 
p

e
rs

o
n

a
l 
m

o
ti
va

ti
o

n
  

a
n

d
 s

e
lf
-h

e
lp

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 f
o

r 
m

a
n

a
g

in
g

 p
e
rs

o
n

a
l 
b

u
d

g
e
ts

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 f
o

r 
ca

re
rs

Fa
ir
 a

cc
e
ss

 a
n

d
 e

q
u

a
lit

y

C
re

a
ti
ve

 c
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

in
g

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 f
o

r 
in

cl
u

si
o

n

P
re

ve
n

ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 e
a
rl
y 

in
te

rv
e
n

ti
o

n

G
o

o
d

 l
e
a
d

e
rs

h
ip

W
o

rk
fo

rc
e
 a

n
d

 o
rg

a
n

is
a
ti
o

n
 d

e
ve

lo
p

m
e
n

t

(P
a
th

s 
to

 p
e
rs

o
n

a
lis

a
ti
o

n
 i
n

 m
e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

:  
A

 w
h

o
le

 s
ys

te
m

 f
ra

m
e
w

o
rk

, 
N

D
T
i 
2

0
1

3
)

P
e

rs
o

n
a

li
sa

ti
o

n

A
 m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 c
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

in
g

 s
tr

a
te

g
y 

fo
r 

D
e
vo

n
, 

P
ly

m
o

u
th

 a
n

d
 T

o
rb

a
y 

2
0

1
4

-2
0

1
6

1
1

 In
 C

o
n

tr
o

l
 T
h
e
 ‘
In

 C
o
n
tr

o
l’
 p

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
 h

a
s 

d
e
m

o
n
st

ra
te

d
 

m
a
n

y 
o

f 
th

e
 k

e
y 

b
e
n

e
fi

ts
 o

f 
p

e
rs

o
n

a
l 
b

u
d

g
e
ts

 
a
n

d
, 

cr
u

ci
a
lly

, 
re

tu
rn

in
g

 t
h

e
 p

o
w

e
r 

a
n

d
  

a
u

th
o

ri
ty

 t
o

 m
a
k
e
 d

e
ci

si
o

n
s 

a
n

d
 c

a
re

, 
su

p
p

o
rt

 
a
n

d
 t

re
a
tm

e
n

t 
b

a
ck

 t
o

 u
se

rs
 o

f 
se

rv
ic

e
s 

a
n

d
 

th
e
ir
 f

a
m

ili
e
s 

a
n

d
 c

a
re

rs
.

T
h

is
 p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e
 i
s 

a
 k

e
y 

in
fl

u
e
n

ce
 o

n
 t

h
e
 

w
o

rk
 o

f 
D

e
vo

n
 C

o
u

n
ty

 C
o

u
n

ci
l,
 P

ly
m

o
u

th
 C

it
y 

C
o

u
n

ci
l 
a
n

d
 T

o
rb

a
y 

C
o

u
n

ci
l 
in

 d
e
ve

lo
p

in
g

 t
h

e
 

u
se

 o
f 

p
e
rs

o
n

a
l 
b

u
d

g
e
ts

, 
d

ir
e
ct

 p
a
ym

e
n

ts
 a

n
d

 
h

ig
h

ly
 p

e
rs

o
n

 c
e
n

tr
e
d

 a
p

p
ro

a
ch

e
s.

 

Page 84



T
h

e
 D

e
p

a
rt

m
e
n

t 
o

f 
H

e
a
lt
h

 h
a
s 

id
e
n

ti
fi

e
d

 t
h

a
t 

 
in

te
g

ra
ti
o

n
 o

f 
h

e
a
lt
h

 a
n

d
 s

o
ci

a
l 
ca

re
 s

ys
te

m
s 

is
 a

n
 o

p
p

o
rt

u
n

it
y 

to
 i
m

p
ro

ve
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s,

 b
e
co

m
e
 

m
o

re
 e

ffi
ci

e
n

t 
a
n

d
, 

cr
u

ci
a
lly

, 
to

 i
m

p
ro

ve
 t

h
e
  

e
xp

e
ri
e
n

ce
 o

f 
u

se
rs

. 
C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
e
rs

 h
a
ve

 a
  

n
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

k
e
y 

p
ri
o

ri
ti
e
s 

fo
r 

m
e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

  
se

rv
ic

e
s 

in
 D

e
vo

n
:

In
st

it
u

ti
n

g
 a

n
 i
n

te
g

ra
te

d
 c

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
in

g
  

a
p
p
ro

a
ch

 f
o
r 

N
E
W

 D
e
vo

n
 C

C
G

, 
S
o
u
th

 D
e
vo

n
 

a
n

d
 T

o
rb

a
y 

C
C

G
, 

D
e
vo

n
 C

o
u

n
ty

 C
o

u
n

ci
l,
 

P
ly

m
o

u
th

 C
it
y 

C
o

u
n

ci
l 
a
n

d
 T

o
rb

a
y 

C
o

u
n

ci
l

E
n

su
ri
n

g
 p

ri
m

a
ry

 a
n

d
 s

e
co

n
d

a
ry

 c
a
re

  
se

rv
ic

e
s 

h
a
ve

 s
h

a
re

d
 a

n
d

 i
n

te
g

ra
te

d
  

p
ro

ce
ss

e
s 

fo
r 

m
a
n

a
g

in
g

 c
a
re

 a
n

d
  

tr
e
a
tm

e
n

t,
 i
n

cl
u

d
in

g
 i
n

te
g

ra
te

d
 t

re
a
tm

e
n

t 
p

a
th

w
a
ys

In
te

g
ra

te
d

 a
p

p
ro

a
ch

e
s 

to
 m

a
n

a
g

in
g

 m
e
n

ta
l 

h
e
a
lt
h

 i
n

 g
e
n

e
ra

l 
h

o
sp

it
a
l 
se

tt
in

g
s

In
te

g
ra

te
d

 a
rr

a
n

g
e
m

e
n

ts
 w

it
h

 s
o

ci
a
l 
ca

re
 

a
n

d
 l
o

ca
l 
a
u

th
o

ri
ti
e
s,

 i
n

cl
u

d
in

g
 d

is
tr

ic
t 

 
co

u
n

ci
ls

, 
fo

r 
se

rv
ic

e
 u

se
rs

 t
o

 a
cc

es
s 

 
 

em
p

lo
ym

en
t 

su
p

p
o

rt
, 

ta
rg

et
ed

 h
o

u
si

n
g
  

su
p

p
o

rt
, 

e
d

u
ca

ti
o

n
, 

a
d

vi
ce

 a
n

d
 i
n

fo
rm

a
ti
o

n

E
n

su
ri
n

g
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s 

fo
r 

ch
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 y

o
u

n
g

 
p

e
o

p
le

 a
re

 i
n

te
g

ra
te

d
 w

it
h

 t
h

o
se

 f
o

r 
a
d

u
lt
s 

so
 t

h
a
t 

tr
a
n

si
ti
o

n
 p

ro
ce

ss
e
s 

a
n

d
 t

h
e
  

o
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it
ie

s 
fo

r 
p

re
ve

n
ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 e
a
rl
y 

 
in

te
rv

e
n

ti
o

n
 a

re
 m

a
xi

m
is

e
d

In
te

g
ra

ti
o

n
 o

f 
se

rv
ic

e
 d

e
liv

e
ry

 s
o

 t
h

a
t 

 
vo

lu
n

ta
ry

, 
ch

a
ri
ty

, 
th

ir
d

 s
e
ct

o
r 

a
n

d
 p

ri
va

te
 

p
ro

vi
d

e
rs

 a
re

 f
u

ll 
p

a
rt

n
e
rs

 i
n

 t
h

e
 d

e
liv

e
ry

  
o

f 
su

p
p

o
rt

, 
ca

re
 a

n
d

 t
re

a
tm

e
n

t

In
te

g
ra

ti
o

n

A
 m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 c
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

in
g

 s
tr

a
te

g
y 

fo
r 

D
e
vo

n
, 

P
ly

m
o

u
th

 a
n

d
 T

o
rb

a
y 

2
0

1
4

-2
0

1
6

1
2

Page 85



T
h

e
 i
ss

u
e
s 

th
a
t 

d
ri
ve

 t
h

e
se

 i
n

te
n

ti
o

n
s 

a
re

 m
o

re
 

th
a
n

 j
u

st
 m

a
tt

e
rs

 o
f 

e
ffi

ci
e
n

cy
 a

n
d

 e
ff

e
ct

iv
e
n

e
ss

. 
T
h

e
 D

e
p

a
rt

m
e
n

t 
o

f 
H

e
a
lt
h

 a
n

d
 N

H
S
 E

n
g

la
n

d
 

u
se

 t
h

e
 B

e
tt

e
r 

C
a
re

 F
u

n
d

 t
o

 e
n

su
re

 t
h

a
t 

th
e
 f

u
ll 

b
e
n

e
fi

ts
 o

f 
in

te
g

ra
ti
o

n
 a

re
 f

e
lt
 i
n

 t
h

e
 h

e
a
lt
h

 a
n

d
 

so
ci

a
l 
ca

re
 s

ys
te

m
. 

Fo
r 

p
e
o

p
le

 w
h

o
 u

se
 m

e
n

ta
l 

h
e
a
lt
h

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s 

th
is

 w
ill

 m
e
a
n

:

P
e
o

p
le

 n
o

t 
h

a
vi

n
g

 t
o

 r
e
te

ll 
th

e
ir
 s

to
ry

B
e
in

g
 a

b
le

 t
o

 a
cc

e
ss

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 w
h

e
n

 n
e
e
d

e
d

 
a
s 

th
e
 o

ve
ra

ll 
sy

st
e
m

 c
o

m
m

u
n

ic
a
te

s 
w

e
ll

D
is

ch
a
rg

e
 f

ro
m

 h
o

sp
it
a
l 
a
n

d
 s

p
e
ci

a
lis

t 
 

se
rv

ic
e
s 

su
p

p
o

rt
 t

o
 b

e
 m

o
re

 s
u

st
a
in

a
b

le

S
e
rv

ic
e
 d

e
liv

e
ry

 a
t 

th
e
 c

o
n

tr
o

l 
o

f 
u

se
rs

 a
n

d
 

th
e
ir
 c

a
re

rs

Le
n

g
th

s 
o

f 
st

a
y 

in
 h

o
sp

it
a
l 
re

d
u

ce
d

In
 o

rd
e
r 

to
 a

ch
ie

ve
 t

h
e
se

 o
u

tc
o

m
e
s 

th
e
re

 a
re

  
si

g
n

ifi
ca

n
t 

o
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it
ie

s 
to

 i
n

te
g

ra
te

 h
e
a
lt
h

  
a
n

d
 s

o
ci

a
l 
ca

re
 p

ro
vi

si
o

n
 s

o
 t

h
a
t 

p
ro

vi
si

o
n

 o
f 

 
tr

e
a
tm

e
n

t,
 c

a
re

 a
n

d
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 i
s 

e
xp

e
ri
e
n

ce
d

 a
s 

 
a
 s

in
g

le
 p

a
th

w
a
y.

 E
vi

d
e
n

ce
 h

a
s 

sh
o

w
n

 t
h

a
t 

 

in
te

g
ra

ti
n

g
 w

h
o

le
 s

ys
te

m
s 

a
n

d
 p

a
th

w
a
ys

 c
a
n
 

g
e
n
e
ra

te
 s

ig
n
ifi

ca
n
t 

im
p
ro

ve
m

e
n
ts

 f
o

r 
cl

in
ic

a
l 

o
u

tc
o

m
e
s,

 e
ffi

ci
e
n

cy
 a

n
d

 p
a
ti
e
n

t 
e
xp

e
ri
e
n

ce
.

T
h

e
 p

ri
m

a
ry

 o
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it
ie

s 
fo

r 
se

rv
ic

e
  

im
p

ro
ve

m
e
n

t 
vi

a
 i
n

te
g

ra
ti
o

n
 a

re
:

In
te

g
ra

ti
n

g
 m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 e
xp

e
rt

is
e
 i
n

to
  

g
e
n

e
ra

l 
h

e
a
lt
h

ca
re

 –
 e

sp
e
ci

a
lly

 i
n

 A
&

E
, 
 

p
ri
m

a
ry

 c
a
re

, 
m

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
o

f 
lo

n
g

-t
e
rm

 
co

n
d

it
io

n
s 

a
n

d
 i
n

 g
e
n

e
ra

l 
h

o
sp

it
a
l 
se

tt
in

g
s

In
te

g
ra

ti
n

g
 p

a
th

w
a
ys

 f
o

r 
ch

ild
re

n
 a

n
d

 y
o

u
n

g
 

p
e
o

p
le

 i
n

to
 a

d
u

lt
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s,

 e
n

su
ri
n

g
 t

h
a
t 

tr
a
n

si
ti
o

n
 p

ro
ce

ss
e
s 

a
re

 m
a
n

a
g

e
d

 e
ff

e
ct

iv
e
ly

D
u

a
l 
d

ia
g

n
o

si
s 

(m
e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 w
it
h

 a
lc

o
h

o
l 

o
r 

su
b

st
a
n

ce
 m

is
u

se
)

P
e
rs

o
n

a
lit

y 
d

is
o

rd
e
r

E
a
ti
n

g
 d

is
o

rd
e
rs

M
a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
o

f 
m

ild
 t

o
 m

o
d

e
ra

te
 m

e
n

ta
l 

h
e
a
lt
h

 i
ss

u
e
s

A
 m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 c
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

in
g

 s
tr

a
te

g
y 

fo
r 

D
e
vo

n
, 

P
ly

m
o

u
th

 a
n

d
 T

o
rb

a
y 

2
0

1
4

-2
0

1
6

1
3

 E
a

ti
n

g
 d

is
o

rd
e

rs
 i

n
 P

ly
m

o
u

th
 T
h

e
 p

a
th

w
a
y 

fo
r 

e
a
ti
n

g
 d

is
o

rd
e
r 

tr
e
a
tm

e
n

t 
h

a
s 

b
e
e
n

 i
n

te
g

ra
te

d
 s

o
 t

h
a
t 

se
rv

ic
e
s 

p
ro

vi
d

e
d

 b
y 

E
D

S
 

(a
 c

h
a
ri
ty

 i
n

 P
ly

m
o

u
th

),
 P

ly
m

o
u

th
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it
y 

H
e
a
lt
h

ca
re

 (
a
 s

p
e
ci

a
lis

t 
m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 p
ro

vi
d

e
r)

, 
H

o
u

n
d

 W
a
rd

 a
t 

D
e
rr

if
o

rd
 H

o
sp

it
a
l 
a
n

d
 t

h
e
 H

a
ld

o
n

 U
n

it
 (

a
 s

p
e
ci

a
lis

t 
se

rv
ic

e
 p

ro
vi

d
e
d

 b
y 

D
P
T
) 

h
a
ve

 
d

e
liv

e
re

d
 s

ig
n

ifi
ca

n
t 

im
p

ro
ve

m
e
n

ts
 i
n

 t
h

e
 s

ys
te

m
 e

n
su

ri
n

g
 a

p
p

ro
p

ri
a
te

 a
cc

e
ss

 t
o

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s,

 c
a
re

 
cl

o
se

r 
to

 h
o

m
e
 a

n
d

 a
 s

u
b

st
a
n

ti
a
l 
re

d
u

ct
io

n
 i
n

 i
n

p
a
ti
e
n

t 
a
d

m
is

si
o

n
s,

 a
ll 

o
f 

w
h

ic
h

 h
a
ve

 a
llo

w
e
d

  
a
 r

e
a
llo

ca
ti
o

n
 o

f 
re

so
u

rc
e
s 

to
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it
y 

se
rv

ic
e
s.

Page 86



A
cc

o
rd

in
g

 t
o

 N
H

S
 E

n
g

la
n

d
 a

lm
o

st
 h

a
lf
 o

f 
a
ll 

ill
 

h
e
a
lt
h

 a
m

o
n

g
 t

h
o

se
 u

n
d

e
r 

6
5

 i
s 

m
e
n

ta
l 
ill

n
e
ss

. 
T
h

is
 r

e
p

re
se

n
ts

 a
 h

u
g

e
 b

u
rd

e
n

s 
o

n
 t

h
e
 S

ta
te

, 
lo

ca
l 
co

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s,
 h

e
a
lt
h

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s 

a
n

d
, 

a
b

o
ve

  
a
ll 

e
ls

e
, 

p
e
o

p
le

. 
A

s 
a
 h

e
a
lt
h

 a
n

d
 s

o
ci

a
l 
ca

re
  

co
m

m
u

n
it
y 

w
e
 h

a
ve

 t
o

 a
d

d
re

ss
 t

h
e
 f

a
ilu

re
 t

o
 

h
a
ve

 ‘
p

a
ri
ty

 o
f 

e
st

e
e
m

’ 
fo

r 
m

e
n

ta
l 
ill

n
e
ss

  
co

m
p

a
re

d
 t

o
 p

h
ys

ic
a
l 
ill

n
e
ss

.

R
e
ce

n
t 

re
se

a
rc

h
 b

y 
th

e
 H

e
a
lt
h

 a
n

d
 S

o
ci

a
l 
C

a
re

 
In

fo
rm

a
ti
o

n
 C

e
n

tr
e
 s

h
o

w
s 

th
a
t 

p
e
o

p
le

 w
it
h

 
se

ve
re

 m
e
n

ta
l 
ill

n
e
ss

, 
in

cl
u

d
in

g
 t

h
o

se
 i
n

 c
o

n
ta

ct
 

w
it
h

 s
p

e
ci

a
lis

t 
m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s,

 a
re

 n
e
a
rl
y 

fo
u

r 
ti
m

e
s 

m
o

re
 l
ik

e
ly

 t
o

 d
ie

 p
re

m
a
tu

re
ly

  
th

a
n

 t
h

e
 r

e
st

 o
f 

th
e
 p

o
p

u
la

ti
o

n
. 

T
h

is
 i
s 

a
n

  
u

n
a
cc

e
p

ta
b

le
 p

o
si

ti
o

n
 f

o
r 

co
m

m
is

si
o

n
e
rs

 a
n

d
 

p
o

lic
y 

m
a
k
e
rs

 a
n

d
 i
s 

th
e
 f

o
cu

s 
fo

r 
si

g
n

ifi
ca

n
t 

ch
a
n

g
e
 i
n

 t
h

e
 c

o
m

in
g

 y
e
a
rs

.

T
h

e
re

 i
s 

cl
e
a
r 

e
vi

d
e
n

ce
 t

h
a
t 

p
e
o

p
le

 w
it
h

 m
e
n

ta
l 

h
e
a
lt
h

 p
ro

b
le

m
s 

h
a
ve

 p
o

o
re

r 
lif

e
st

yl
e
s,

 i
n

cl
u

d
in

g
 

a
 s

ig
n

ifi
ca

n
tl
y 

h
ig

h
e
r 

ra
te

 o
f 

to
b

a
cc

o
 u

se
 a

n
d

 
a
lc

o
h

o
l 
co

n
su

m
p

ti
o

n
. 

T
h

is
 c

o
n

tr
ib

u
te

s 
to

 h
ig

h
e
r 

ra
te

s 
o

f 
is

ch
a
e
m

ic
 h

e
a
rt

 d
is

e
a
se

, 
re

sp
ir
a
to

ry
 

ill
n

e
ss

 a
n

d
 l
iv

e
r 

p
ro

b
le

m
s.

T
h

is
 s

it
u

a
ti
o

n
 i
s 

co
m

p
o

u
n

d
e
d

 b
y 

th
e
 e

vi
d

e
n

ce
 

w
h

ic
h

 i
n

d
ic

a
te

s 
th

a
t 

p
e
o

p
le

 w
it
h

 s
e
ve

re
 m

e
n

ta
l 

h
e
a
lt
h

 p
ro

b
le

m
s 

a
re

 l
e
ss

 l
ik

e
ly

 t
o

 r
e
ce

iv
e
 t

h
e
 b

e
st

 
tr

e
a
tm

e
n

ts
 f

o
r 

p
h

ys
ic

a
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 p
ro

b
le

m
s 

a
n

d
 t

h
a
t 

p
e
o

p
le

 w
it
h

 a
 d

ia
g

n
o

si
s 

o
f 

sc
h

iz
o

p
h

re
n

ia
 a

re
 l
e
ss

 
lik

e
ly

 t
o

 b
e
 r

e
g

is
te

re
d

 w
it
h

 a
 G

P.

It
 i
s 

n
o

w
 a

 k
e
y 

e
xp

e
ct

a
ti
o

n
 f

o
r 

b
o

th
 m

e
n

ta
l 

h
e
a
lt
h

 s
e
rv

ic
e
 p

ro
vi

d
e
rs

 a
n

d
 g

e
n

e
ra

l 
h

o
sp

it
a
l 
 

se
rv

ic
e
s 

th
a
t 

th
e
y 

w
ill

 e
n

su
re

 e
q

u
a
l 
a
cc

e
ss

 t
o

 

h
e
a
lt
h

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s.

 I
n

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 o
f 

th
is

, 
o

n
e
 o

f 
th

e
 k

e
y  

p
ri
o

ri
ti
e
s 

fo
r 

co
m

m
is

si
o

n
e
rs

 i
s 

th
e
 i
m

p
ro

ve
m

e
n

t 
o

f 
p

sy
ch

ia
tr

ic
 l
ia

is
o

n
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s 

to
 e

n
su

re
 t

h
a
t 

p
e
o

p
le

 w
it
h

 m
e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 p
ro

b
le

m
s 

in
 h

o
sp

it
a
l 

re
ce

iv
e
 g

o
o

d
-q

u
a
lit

y 
p

sy
ch

ia
tr

ic
 i
n

p
u

t.
  

C
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

in
g

 g
u

id
a
n

ce
 h

a
s 

b
e
e
n

 i
ss

u
e
d

 t
h

a
t 

w
ill

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 c
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

e
rs

 a
n

d
 p

ro
vi

d
e
rs

 t
o

 
e
n

su
re

 t
h

e
re

 a
re

 a
d

e
q

u
a
te

 r
e
so

u
rc

e
s 

a
llo

ca
te

d
  

to
 t

h
is

 a
re

a
 o

f 
w

o
rk

.

S
p

e
ci

a
lis

t 
m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s 

h
a
ve

 a
 k

e
y 

 
re

sp
o

n
si

b
ili

ty
 f

o
r 

e
n

su
ri
n

g
 t

h
a
t 

th
e
 p

e
o

p
le

  
re

ce
iv

in
g

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s 

fr
o

m
 t

h
e
m

 a
re

 g
iv

e
n

 
g

o
o

d
-q

u
a
lit

y 
h

e
a
lt
h

 r
e
vi

e
w

s.
 I
t 

is
 e

ss
e
n

ti
a
l 
th

a
t 

a
ss

e
ss

m
e
n

t 
a
n

d
 c

a
re

 p
la

n
n

in
g

 i
s 

fo
cu

se
d

 o
n

 
p

h
ys

ic
a
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

, 
p

a
rt

ic
u

la
rl
y 

fo
r 

th
o

se
 w

it
h

 s
e
ve

re
 

ill
n

e
ss

. 
A

d
d

re
ss

in
g

 l
if
e
st

yl
e
 i
ss

u
e
s 

is
 a

 p
ri
o

ri
ty

 f
o

r 
m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s,

 M
cM

a
n

u
s 

e
t 

a
l 
(2

0
1

0
) 

fo
u

n
d

 t
h

a
t 

4
2

%
 o

f 
to

ta
l 
to

b
a
cc

o
 c

o
n

su
m

p
ti
o

n
 

in
 E

n
g

la
n

d
 i
s 

b
y 

th
o

se
 w

it
h

 a
 m

e
n

ta
l 
d

is
o

rd
e
r.
 

C
a
re

 p
la

n
n

in
g

 w
ill

 n
e
e
d

 t
o

 i
n

cl
u

d
e
 e

ff
o

rt
s 

to
 

re
d

u
ce

 o
r 

st
o

p
 t

o
b

a
cc

o
 u

se
 a

n
d

 a
lc

o
h

o
l 
 

co
n

su
m

p
ti
o

n
 w

h
ils

t 
p

ro
m

o
ti
n

g
 h

e
a
lt
h

y 
e
a
ti
n

g
 

a
n

d
 e

xe
rc

is
e
.

C
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

e
rs

 w
ill

 a
ls

o
 w

o
rk

 w
it
h

 G
P
s 

to
 l
o

o
k
 

a
t 

h
o

w
 h

e
a
lt
h

 i
m

p
ro

ve
m

e
n

t 
ca

n
 b

e
 d

e
liv

e
re

d
 i
n

 
p

ri
m

a
ry

 c
a
re

, 
w

it
h

 e
xt

ra
 e

m
p

h
a
si

s 
o

n
 h

e
a
lt
h

y 
lif

e
st

yl
e
s 

b
e
in

g
 g

iv
e
n

 t
o

 p
a
ti
e
n

ts
 w

it
h

 m
e
n

ta
l 
 

h
e
a
lt
h

 i
ss

u
e
s.

U
lt
im

a
te

ly
 t

h
is

 s
tr

a
te

g
y 

sh
o

u
ld

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 a
  

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 o

f 
w

o
rk

 t
h

a
t 

e
n

su
re

s 
m

e
n

ta
l 
a
n

d
 

p
h

ys
ic

a
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 a
re

 t
re

a
te

d
 w

it
h

 e
q

u
a
l 
 

im
p

o
rt

a
n

ce
 b

y 
te

a
m

s 
th

a
t 

a
re

 i
n

te
g

ra
te

d
. 

 
P
ri
m

a
ry

 c
a
re

 s
h

o
u

ld
 b

e
 s

e
e
n

 a
s 

a
 p

la
ce

 w
h

e
re

 

th
e
re

 i
s 

a
 s

k
ill

e
d

 u
n

d
e
rs

ta
n

d
in

g
 o

f 
m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 
is

su
e
s 

a
n

d
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s 

ca
n

 b
e
 a

cc
e
ss

e
d

 w
h

e
n

 p
e
o

p
le

 
n

e
e
d

 t
h

e
m

.

A
ll 

sp
e
ci

a
lis

t 
h

e
a
lt
h

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s 

sh
o

u
ld

 b
e
 a

b
le

 t
o

 
w

o
rk

 w
it
h

 m
e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s 

to
 e

n
su

re
 

th
a
t 

th
e
 m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 a
n

d
 w

e
ll 

b
e
in

g
 o

f 
th

e
ir
 

p
a
ti
e
n

ts
 i
s 

a
 f

u
n

d
a
m

e
n

ta
l 
e
le

m
e
n

t 
o

f 
tr

e
a
tm

e
n

t 
p

a
th

w
a
ys

.

Im
p

ro
v
in

g
 h

e
a

lt
h

 a
n

d
 w

e
ll

b
e

in
g

A
 m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 c
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

in
g

 s
tr

a
te

g
y 

fo
r 

D
e
vo

n
, 

P
ly

m
o

u
th

 a
n

d
 T

o
rb

a
y 

2
0

1
4

-2
0

1
6

1
4

Page 87



W
h

e
n

 t
h

e
 r

e
si

lie
n

ce
 t

o
 c

o
p

e
 w

it
h

 t
h

e
 c

h
a
lle

n
g

e
s 

in
 l
if
e
 h

a
s 

b
e
e
n

 o
ve

rw
h

e
lm

e
d

 a
n

d
 p

re
ve

n
ti
ve

  
in

te
rv

e
n

ti
o

n
s 

h
a
ve

 n
o

t 
su

cc
e
e
d

e
d

, 
e
m

p
h

a
si

s 
m

u
st

 m
o

ve
 t

o
w

a
rd

s 
e
ff

e
ct

iv
e
 t

re
a
tm

e
n

t 
to

 h
e
lp

 
p

e
o

p
le

 r
e
co

ve
r 

fr
o

m
 t

h
e
 m

e
n

ta
l 
ill

 h
e
a
lt
h

 t
h

e
y 

a
re

 e
xp

e
ri
e
n

ci
n

g
. 

R
e
co

ve
ry

 c
a
n

 a
n

d
 d

o
e
s 

m
e
a
n

 
d

if
fe

re
n

t 
th

in
g

s 
to

 d
if
fe

re
n

t 
p

e
o

p
le

, 
b

u
t 

fo
r 

th
e
 

p
u

rp
o

se
s 

o
f 

th
is

 d
o

cu
m

e
n

t 
w

e
 a

re
 f

o
cu

si
n

g
 o

n
 

th
e
 i
d

e
a
 t

h
a
t 

fo
llo

w
in

g
 t

re
a
tm

e
n

t 
fo

r 
m

e
n

ta
l 
ill

 
h

e
a
lt
h

 p
e
o

p
le

 m
a
y 

re
q

u
ir
e
 o

n
g

o
in

g
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 t

o
 

e
n
a
b
le

 s
u
st

a
in

e
d
 w

e
llb

e
in

g
, 
re

d
u
ce

d
 d

e
p
e
n
d
e
n
ce

 
o

n
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s 

a
n

d
 t

h
e
 o

p
p

o
rt

u
n

it
y 

to
 t

h
ri
ve

.

T
h

e
 p

ri
o

ri
ty

 i
s 

fo
r 

se
rv

ic
e
s 

to
 e

n
g

a
g

e
 p

e
o

p
le

 w
it
h

 
m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 p
ro

b
le

m
s 

in
 t

re
a
tm

e
n

t,
 t

h
e
ra

p
y 

a
n

d
 a

ct
iv

it
ie

s 
th

a
t 

h
e
lp

 t
h

e
m

 r
e
g

a
in

 t
h

e
ir
  

re
si

lie
n

ce
, 

w
h

ile
 a

ls
o

 m
a
in

ta
in

in
g

 t
h

e
ir
 p

la
ce

 i
n

 
fa

m
ily

, 
co

m
m

u
n

it
y 

a
n

d
 e

m
p

lo
ym

e
n

t;
 a

n
d

 t
o

 h
e
lp

 
th

e
m

 d
e
ve

lo
p

 t
h

e
 s

k
ill

s 
to

 r
e
co

g
n

is
e
 w

h
e
n

 t
h

in
g

s 
a
re

 s
ta

rt
in

g
 t

o
 g

o
 w

ro
n

g
 a

s 
w

e
ll 

a
s 

th
e
 e

xp
e
rt

is
e
 

to
 m

a
n

a
g

e
 t

h
e
ir
 o

w
n

 t
re

a
tm

e
n

t.

Fo
r 

th
is

 t
o

 b
e
 a

ch
ie

va
b

le
 t

h
e
re

 n
e
e
d

s 
to

 b
e
 a

 
co

m
p

re
h

e
n

si
ve

 r
a
n

g
e
 o

f 
tr

e
a
tm

e
n

ts
 t

h
a
t 

w
ill

 
h

e
lp

 p
e
o

p
le

 t
o

 r
e
co

ve
r 

fr
o

m
 t

h
e
ir
 i
lln

e
ss

 a
n

d
 a

 
ra

n
g

e
 o

f 
su

p
p

o
rt

s 
th

a
t 

w
ill

 h
e
lp

 p
e
o

p
le

 m
a
in

ta
in

 
th

e
ir
 w

e
llb

e
in

g
 a

n
d

 a
vo

id
 r

e
la

p
se

 o
r 

cr
is

is
. 

T
h

is
 

sh
o

u
ld

 e
n

co
m

p
a
ss

 a
 r

a
n

g
e
 o

f 
tr

e
a
tm

e
n

ts
 a

n
d

 
su

p
p

o
rt

 a
t 

a
ll 

le
ve

ls
 o

f 
n

e
e
d

 a
n

d
 c

o
m

p
le

xi
ty

.

P
ri

m
a

ry
 c

a
re

: 
th

e
 I
m

p
ro

vi
n

g
 A

cc
e
ss

 t
o

  
P
sy

ch
o

lo
g

ic
a
l 
T
h

e
ra

p
ie

s 
(I
A

P
T
) 

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
  

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 m

a
d

e
 t

h
e
 c

a
se

 f
o

r 
sw

if
t 

a
cc

e
ss

 t
o

 
th

e
ra

p
y 

th
a
t 

w
ill

 h
e
lp

 p
e
o

p
le

 w
it
h

 m
ild

 t
o

  
m

o
d

e
ra

te
 d

e
p

re
ss

io
n

 a
n

d
 a

n
xi

e
ty

 p
re

se
n

ta
ti
o

n
s 

to
 r

e
co

ve
r.
 H

o
w

e
ve

r,
 t

h
e
re

 n
e
e
d

s 
to

 b
e
 f

u
rt

h
e
r 

S
u

p
p

o
rt

in
g

 r
e

co
v
e

ry

A
 m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 c
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

in
g

 s
tr

a
te

g
y 

fo
r 

D
e
vo

n
, 

P
ly

m
o

u
th

 a
n

d
 T

o
rb

a
y 

2
0

1
4

-2
0

1
6

1
5

Page 88



e
n

co
u

ra
g

e
m

e
n

t 
a
n

d
 g

u
id

a
n

ce
 f

o
r 

p
e
o

p
le

 t
o

 
a
cc

e
ss

 t
h

e
 k

in
d

 o
f 

su
p

p
o

rt
 t

h
a
t 

w
ill

 h
e
lp

 k
e
e
p

 
th

e
m

 w
e
ll 

w
it
h

o
u

t 
th

e
 n

e
e
d

 f
o

r 
m

e
d

ic
a
ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 
th

e
ra

p
y.

T
h

is
 d

o
cu

m
e
n

t 
h

a
s 

re
p

e
a
te

d
ly

 e
m

p
h

a
si

se
d

 t
h

e
 

im
p

o
rt

a
n

ce
 o

f 
e
n

su
ri
n

g
 p

e
o

p
le

 c
a
n

 h
a
ve

 a
 p

la
ce

 
in

 t
h

e
ir
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it
y,

 s
tr

o
n

g
 r

e
la

ti
o

n
sh

ip
s 

a
n

d
  

m
e
a
n

in
g

fu
l 
a
ct

iv
it
y,

 t
o

 g
iv

e
 t

h
e
m

 t
h

e
 k

in
d

 o
f 

su
p

p
o

rt
 t

h
a
t 

h
e
lp

s 
to

 b
re

a
k
 d

o
w

n
 s

o
ci

a
l 
is

o
la

ti
o

n
 

a
n

d
 o

ve
rc

o
m

e
 t

h
e
 i
n

a
ct

iv
it
y 

p
re

va
le

n
t 

w
it
h

in
 

m
e
n

ta
l 
ill

 h
e
a
lt
h

. 
S
o

ci
a
l 
a
ct

iv
it
ie

s 
lik

e
 e

xe
rc

is
e
 

g
ro

u
p

s,
 g

a
rd

e
n

in
g

 a
n

d
 ‘

M
e
n

 i
n

 S
h

e
d

s’
 a

re
  

a
va

ila
b

le
 t

o
 t

h
e
 p

e
o

p
le

 o
f 

D
e
vo

n
 t

o
d

a
y 

b
u

t 
it
 

is
 i
m

p
o

rt
a
n

t 
to

 e
n

su
re

 t
h

e
y 

a
re

 a
va

ila
b

le
 i
n

 a
ll 

a
re

a
s 

a
n

d
 a

re
 p

a
rt

 o
f 

a
 w

id
e
r 

n
e
tw

o
rk

 o
f 

m
e
n

ta
l 

h
e
a
lt
h

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

s 
a
n

d
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s.

 T
h

is
 i
n

cl
u

d
e
s 

a
 

cl
e
a
re

r 
se

t 
o

f 
e
xp

e
ct

a
ti
o

n
s 

fo
r 

G
P
s 

in
 t

h
e
 s

k
ill

s 
th

e
y 

h
a
ve

 t
o

 d
ia

g
n

o
se

 a
n

d
 t

re
a
t 

b
u

t 
a
ls

o
 h

o
w

 t
o

 
h

e
lp

 t
h

e
ir
 p

a
ti
e
n

ts
 a

cc
e
ss

 t
h

e
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
s 

th
a
t 

w
ill

 
im

p
ro

ve
 t

h
e
ir
 l
iv

e
s 

a
n

d
 c

e
m

e
n

t 
th

e
ir
 r

e
co

ve
ry

.

S
p

e
ci

a
li

st
 m

e
n

ta
l 

h
e

a
lt

h
 s

e
rv

ic
e

s:
 e

n
su

ri
n

g
 

th
a
t 

a
ll 

p
a
ti
e
n

ts
 a

re
 a

b
le

 t
o

 e
n

te
r 

a
p

p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 
tr

e
a
tm

e
n
t 

to
 d

e
liv

e
r 

th
e
 b

e
st

 c
h
a
n
ce

s 
o
f 

re
co

ve
ry

 
re

m
a
in

s 
th

e
 m

a
in

 r
e
q

u
ir
e
m

e
n

t 
o

f 
a
 s

p
e
ci

a
lis

t 
m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 s
e
rv

ic
e
, 

w
h

ils
t 

k
e
e
p

in
g

 p
e
o

p
le

 
w

it
h

 m
e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 i
ss

u
e
s 

a
n

d
 t

h
e
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it
y 

sa
fe

. 
A

s 
n

o
te

d
 a

b
o

ve
 i
t 

is
 n

o
t 

e
n

o
u

g
h

 t
o

 t
re

a
t;

  
it
 i
s 

a
ls

o
 n

e
ce

ss
a
ry

 t
o

 e
n

su
re

 p
e
o

p
le

 h
a
ve

 t
h

e
 

b
e
st

 c
h

a
n

ce
 t

o
 s

ta
y 

w
e
ll.

 T
h

e
 e

xp
e
ct

a
ti
o

n
 f

o
r 

p
ro

vi
d

e
rs

 o
f 

se
co

n
d

a
ry

 m
e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s 

is
 

th
a
t 

th
e
y 

w
ill

 f
o

cu
s 

a
tt

e
n

ti
o

n
 o

n
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 t

h
e
ir
 

p
a
ti
e
n

ts
 t

o
 r

e
co

ve
r 

b
y 

e
n

su
ri
n

g
 a

cc
e
ss

 t
o

  
e
ff

e
ct

iv
e
 a

n
d

 a
p

p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 t
re

a
tm

e
n

t 
a
n

d
 t

h
e
n

 
su

p
p

o
rt

in
g

 t
h

e
m

 t
o

 r
e
g

a
in

 t
h

e
ir
 p

la
ce

 i
n

 t
h

e
ir
 

h
o

m
e
, 

fa
m

ili
e
s,

 c
o

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s 
a
n

d
 i
n

  
e
m

p
lo

ym
e
n

t.

A
 k

e
y 

in
te

n
ti
o

n
 f

o
r 

co
m

m
is

si
o

n
e
rs

 i
s 

to
  

e
n

co
u

ra
g

e
 t

h
e
 d

e
ve

lo
p

m
e
n

t 
o

f 
p

e
e
r 

su
p

p
o

rt
 

w
h

e
re

 p
e
o

p
le

 i
n

 r
e
co

ve
ry

 c
a
n

 w
o

rk
 i
n

  
p

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 w
it
h

 p
ro

fe
ss

io
n

a
ls

. 
T
h

e
 k

e
y 

b
e
n

e
fi

t 
o

f 
p

e
e
r 

su
p

p
o

rt
 i
s 

sh
a
ri
n

g
 i
n

si
g

h
t 

a
n

d
 e

xp
e
ri
e
n

ce
 

a
lo

n
g

si
d

e
 t

re
a
tm

e
n

t 
a
n

d
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 t

o
 e

n
a
b

le
  

m
o

re
 e

ff
e
ct

iv
e
 r

e
co

ve
ry

.

S
o

ci
a

l 
ca

re
: 

su
st

a
in

in
g

 r
e
co

ve
ry

 a
n

d
 m

a
in

ta
in

in
g

 
g

o
o

d
 m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 i
s 

o
n

ly
 p

a
rt

ia
lly

 a
b

o
u

t 
 

co
m

p
ly

in
g

 w
it
h

 t
re

a
tm

e
n

t.
 T

h
e
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
  

n
e
ce

ss
a
ry

 t
o

 m
a
in

ta
in

 a
 p

la
ce

 i
n

 s
o

ci
e
ty

 i
s 

 
cr

u
ci

a
l 
to

 t
h

e
 l
o

n
g

-t
e
rm

 r
e
co

ve
ry

 o
f 

a
n

y 
p

e
rs

o
n

. 
N

a
tu

ra
lly

 m
a
n

y 
p

e
o

p
le

 w
ill

 h
a
ve

 t
h

e
ir
 r

e
so

u
rc

e
s 

o
f 

fa
m

ily
, 

fr
ie

n
d

s,
 h

o
m

e
, 

a
ct

iv
it
ie

s 
a
n

d
 w

o
rk

, 
b

u
t 

m
a
n

y 
o

f 
th

o
se

 w
h

o
 h

a
ve

 s
u

ff
e
re

d
 s

ig
n

ifi
ca

n
t 

m
e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 i
ss

u
e
s 

w
ill

 r
e
q

u
ir
e
 e

xt
ra

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

, 
e
sp

e
ci

a
lly

 a
ro

u
n

d
 fi

n
d

in
g

 a
n

d
 m

a
in

ta
in

in
g

  
a
 p

la
ce

 i
n

 t
h

e
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it
y,

 h
o

u
si

n
g

 a
n

d
  

e
m

p
lo

ym
e
n

t.
 T

h
e
se

 s
o

lu
ti
o

n
s 

n
e
e
d

 t
o

 b
e
 p

a
rt

  
o

f 
a
n

 i
n

te
g

ra
te

d
 a

p
p

ro
a
ch

 w
it
h

 t
re

a
tm

e
n

t 
 

fu
n

ct
io

n
s 

a
n

d
 s

o
ci

a
l 
su

p
p

o
rt

. 
T
h

e
 r

o
le

 o
f 

so
ci

a
l 

ca
re

 p
ro

vi
d

e
rs

 i
s 

p
a
ra

m
o

u
n

t 
in

 h
e
lp

in
g

 p
e
o

p
le

  
to

 s
u

st
a
in

 t
h

e
ir
 r

e
co

ve
ry

 b
u

t 
is

 a
ls

o
 f

u
n

d
a
m

e
n

ta
l 

in
 m

a
in

ta
in

in
g

 t
h

e
 c

a
p

a
ci

ty
 i
n

 m
e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

  
se

rv
ic

e
s 

in
 D

e
vo

n
 s

o
 t

h
a
t 

p
e
o

p
le

 a
re

 l
e
ss

 l
ik

e
ly

  
to

 r
e
la

p
se

 o
r 

e
n

d
u

re
 c

ri
se

s 
in

 t
h

e
ir
 l
iv

e
s.

A
 m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 c
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

in
g

 s
tr

a
te

g
y 

fo
r 

D
e
vo

n
, 

P
ly

m
o

u
th

 a
n

d
 T

o
rb

a
y 

2
0

1
4

-2
0

1
6

1
6

 D
e

v
o

n
 R

e
co

v
e

ry
 L

e
a

rn
in

g
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y
 T
h

e
 R

e
co

ve
ry

 L
e
a
rn

in
g

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

d
e
ve

lo
p

e
d

 
b

y 
D

e
vo

n
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 T
ru

st
 i
s 

a
 s

ig
n

ifi
ca

n
t 

a
d

va
n

ce
 i
n

 m
e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 d
e
ve

lo
p

m
e
n

ts
. 

It
 

e
n

g
a
g

e
s 

p
e
e
rs

 a
s 

tu
to

rs
 a

lo
n

g
si

d
e
 a

 r
a
n

g
e
 

o
f 

e
xp

e
ri
e
n

ce
d

 p
ra

ct
it
io

n
e
rs

 t
o

 c
o

-f
a
ci

lit
a
te

 
co

u
rs

e
s,

 t
h

u
s 

b
ri
n

g
in

g
 n

e
w

 i
n

si
g

h
ts

 f
ro

m
 

b
o

th
 t

u
to

rs
. 

P
e
e
r 

tu
to

rs
 c

a
n

 s
h

a
re

 i
n

si
g

h
ts

 
a
n

d
 e

xp
e
ri
e
n

ce
s 

a
s 

p
e
o

p
le

 w
h

o
 h

a
ve

 u
se

d
 

se
rv

ic
e
s 

a
n

d
 m

o
ve

d
 f

o
rw

a
rd

 w
it
h

 t
h

e
ir
 o

w
n

 
re

co
ve

ry
 a

n
d

 M
e
n

ta
l 
H

e
a
lt
h

 p
ra

ct
it
io

n
e
rs

 c
a
n

 
sh

a
re

 t
h

e
ir
 b

ro
a
d

e
r 

k
n

o
w

le
d

g
e
 f

ro
m

 t
h

is
 j
o

in
t 

w
o

rk
in

g
 r

e
la

ti
o

n
sh

ip
. 

C
o

-p
ro

d
u

ct
io

n
 i
s 

a
t 

th
e
 

h
e
a
rt

 o
f 

R
e
co

ve
ry

 E
d

u
ca

ti
o

n
, 

w
it
h

 t
h

e
 c

o
u

rs
e
s 

b
a
se

d
 o

n
 e

q
u

a
l 
p

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

s 
o

f 
p

ro
fe

ss
io

n
a
ls

 
o

r 
p

ra
ct

it
io

n
e
rs

 w
o

rk
in

g
 w

it
h

 p
e
e
r 

e
xp

e
rt

s 
o

n
 

th
e
 d

e
si

g
n

, 
d

e
liv

e
ry

 a
n

d
 e

va
lu

a
ti
o

n
.

 

 P
ly

m
o

u
th

 p
ro

v
id

e
r 

n
e

tw
o

rk
 T
h

e
 p

ro
vi

d
e
r 

n
e
tw

o
rk

 i
n

 P
ly

m
o

u
th

 h
a
s 

 
d

e
ve

lo
p

e
d

 i
ts

 o
w

n
 m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 s
tr

a
te

g
y 

 
w

it
h

 a
 f

o
cu

s 
o

n
 r

e
co

ve
ry

 a
n

d
 a

n
 e

m
p

h
a
si

s 
 

o
n

 i
n

te
g

ra
te

d
 p

a
th

w
a
ys

 a
n

d
 w

o
rk

in
g

  
a
rr

a
n

g
e
m

e
n

ts
. 

T
h

e
 n

e
tw

o
rk

 b
ri
n

g
s 

to
g

e
th

e
r 

a
 

ra
n

g
e
 o

f 
p

ro
vi

d
e
rs

, 
st

a
k
e
h

o
ld

e
rs

 a
n

d
 u

se
rs

 t
o

 
cr

e
a
te

 n
e
tw

o
rk

s 
a
n

d
 r

e
la

ti
o

n
sh

ip
s 

w
it
h

in
 t

h
e
 

ci
ty

 a
n

d
 i
m

p
ro

ve
 t

h
e
 o

p
p

o
rt

u
n

it
ie

s 
a
va

ila
b

le
  

to
 p

e
o

p
le

 w
it
h

 m
e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 p
ro

b
le

m
s.

 

T
h

e
 s

tr
a
te

g
y 

ca
n

 b
e
 s

e
e
n

 a
t:

  
w

w
w

.p
ly

m
o

u
th

m
e
n

ta
lh

e
a
lt
h

.o
rg

.u
k

 Page 89



T
h

e
 f

e
e
d

b
a
ck

 r
e
ce

iv
e
d

 d
u

ri
n

g
 t

h
e
 d

e
ve

lo
p

m
e
n

t 
o

f 
th

is
 d

o
cu

m
e
n

t 
ca

m
e
 b

a
ck

 r
e
p

e
a
te

d
ly

 t
o

 t
h

e
 

is
su

e 
o

f 
ac

ce
ss

 t
o

 s
er

vi
ce

s.
 It

 w
as

 a
 r

ec
u

rr
in

g
 t

h
em

e 
th

a
t 

ca
m

e
 f

ro
m

 p
e
o

p
le

 w
it
h

 l
iv

e
d

 e
xp

e
ri
e
n

ce
 o

f 
m

e
n

ta
l 
ill

 h
e
a
lt
h

, 
ca

re
rs

, 
re

fe
rr

e
rs

, 
co

m
m

is
si

o
n

e
rs

 
a
n

d
 p

ro
vi

d
e
rs

. 
A

cc
e
ss

 i
ss

u
e
s 

co
m

e
 i
n

 m
a
n

y 
fo

rm
s:

 c
a
p

a
ci

ty
, 

o
p

e
n

in
g

 h
o

u
rs

, 
w

a
it
in

g
 t

im
e
s,

 
ch

o
ic

e
, 

a
va

ila
b

ili
ty

 i
n

 r
u

ra
l 
a
re

a
s,

 a
cc

e
ss

 t
o

  
sp

e
ci

a
lis

t 
k
n

o
w

le
d

g
e
 a

n
d

 a
cc

e
ss

 t
h

re
sh

o
ld

s.

O
ve

r 
th

e
 l
if
e
 o

f 
th

is
 s

tr
a
te

g
y 

th
e
 c

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
e
rs

 
in

 D
e
vo

n
 w

ill
 f

o
cu

s 
o

n
 e

n
su

ri
n

g
 t

h
a
t 

p
e
o

p
le

 
e
xp

e
ri
e
n

ci
n

g
 m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 i
ss

u
e
s,

 r
e
g

a
rd

le
ss

 
o

f 
th

e
 s

e
ve

ri
ty

, 
w

ill
 b

e
 a

b
le

 t
o

 a
cc

e
ss

 a
d

vi
ce

, 
g

u
id

a
n

ce
, 

e
d

u
ca

ti
o

n
, 

tr
e
a
tm

e
n

t 
a
n

d
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 t

o
 

e
n

a
b

le
 t

h
e
ir
 r

e
co

ve
ry

 a
n

d
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 t

h
e
ir
 m

e
n

ta
l 

h
e
a
lt
h

 a
n

d
 w

e
llb

e
in

g
.

T
h

e
 k

e
y 

a
re

a
s 

fo
r 

d
e
ve

lo
p

m
e
n

t 
a
re

:

A
cc

e
ss

 t
o

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s 

in
 p

ri
m

a
ry

 c
a
re

O
u

t-
o

f-
h

o
u

rs
 a

n
d

 s
e
ve

n
-d

a
y 

w
o

rk
in

g

E
n

su
ri
n

g
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s 

m
e
e
t 

th
e
 n

e
e
d

s 
o

f 
o

ld
e
r 

p
e
o

p
le

E
n

su
ri
n

g
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s 

m
e
e
t 

th
e
 n

e
e
d

s 
o

f 
p

e
o

p
le

 
w

it
h

 l
e
a
rn

in
g

 d
is

a
b

ili
ty

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 i
n

 t
h

e
 c

ri
m

in
a
l 
ju

st
ic

e
 s

ys
te

m

C
ri
si

s 
se

rv
ic

e
s

A
lt
e
rn

a
ti
ve

s 
to

 a
d

m
is

si
o

n

S
p

e
ci

a
lis

t 
tr

e
a
tm

e
n

t 
p

a
th

w
a
ys

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 t
o

 f
a
m

ili
e
s 

w
it
h

 c
h

ild
re

n

A
ll 

o
f 

th
e
se

 a
p

p
ro

a
ch

e
s 

to
 i
m

p
ro

vi
n

g
 a

cc
e
ss

 
n

e
e
d

 t
o

 b
e
 u

n
d

e
rs

to
o

d
 a

g
a
in

st
 a

 r
e
q

u
ir
e
m

e
n

t 
to

 i
m

p
ro

ve
 e

ffi
ci

e
n

cy
 a

n
d

 r
e
d

u
ce

 c
o

st
s 

in
 t

h
e
 

sy
st

e
m

. 
T
h

e
re

fo
re

 s
im

p
le

 i
n

ve
st

m
e
n

t 
in

 e
xt

ra
  

ca
p

a
ci

ty
 i
s 

n
o

t 
a
n

 o
p

ti
o

n
 a

va
ila

b
le

 t
o

  
co

m
m

is
si

o
n

e
rs

 o
r 

p
ro

vi
d

e
rs

 w
it
h

o
u

t 
re

le
a
si

n
g

 
re

so
u

rc
e
s 

fr
o

m
 o

th
e
r 

a
re

a
s.

A
cc

e
ss

 t
o

 s
e

rv
ic

e
s 

in
 p

ri
m

a
ry

 c
a

re
: 
o

n
e
 o

f 
th

e
 

k
e
y 

o
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it
ie

s 
a
va

ila
b

le
 i
n

 m
e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

  
se

rv
ic

e
 p

ro
vi

si
o

n
 i
s 

to
 i
m

p
ro

ve
 t

h
e
 w

a
y 

p
e
o

p
le

 
ca

n
 a

cc
e
ss

 m
e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s 

in
 p

ri
m

a
ry

 
ca

re
. 

T
h

e
 I
A

P
T
 p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e
 i
s 

a
lr
e
a
d

y 
in

cr
e
a
si

n
g

 
tr

e
a
tm

e
n

t 
ca

p
a
ci

ty
 i
n

 p
ri
m

a
ry

 c
a
re

 b
u

t 
th

e
re

  
is

 a
 n

e
e
d

 t
o

 e
n

su
re

 t
h

a
t 

G
P
s 

a
n

d
 p

ri
m

a
ry

 c
a
re

  
se

rv
ic

e
s 

a
s 

a
 w

h
o

le
 a

re
 a

b
le

 t
o

 a
cc

e
ss

 t
h

e
  

e
xp

e
rt

is
e
 a

n
d

 k
n

o
w

le
d

g
e
 h

e
ld

 i
n

 s
p

e
ci

a
lis

t 
 

m
e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s.

 T
h

is
 c

a
n

 e
n

a
b

le
 G

P
s 

to
 

m
a
k
e
 g

o
o

d
 d

e
ci

si
o

n
s 

a
b

o
u

t 
th

e
ir
 m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 
p

a
ti
e
n

ts
, 

p
ro

vi
d

e
 e

ff
e
ct

iv
e
 t

re
a
tm

e
n

t 
a
n

d
 b

u
ild

 
th

e
ir
 c

o
n

fi
d

e
n

ce
 i
n

 m
a
n

a
g

in
g

 m
e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 
is

su
e
s.

 T
h

e
re

 a
re

 c
o

n
ce

rn
s 

a
b

o
u

t 
th

e
 p

o
o

r 
a
cc

e
ss

 
to

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s 

fo
r 

o
ld

e
r 

p
e
o

p
le

 w
it
h

 m
e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 
p

ro
b

le
m

s;
 e

n
su

ri
n

g
 t

h
a
t 

e
ff

o
rt

s 
a
re

 m
a
d

e
 t

o
  

in
cr

e
a
se

 r
e
fe

rr
a
ls

 a
n

d
 a

tt
e
n

d
a
n

ce
 i
n

 m
e
n

ta
l 

h
e
a
lt
h

 t
re

a
tm

e
n

t 
se

rv
ic

e
s 

is
 a

 p
ri
o

ri
ty

.

In
cr

e
a
se

d
 v

is
ib

ili
ty

 o
f 

m
e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 s
p

e
ci

a
lis

ts
 i
n

 
p

ri
m

a
ry

 c
a
re

 i
s 

cr
u

ci
a
l 
in

 b
u

ild
in

g
 s

tr
o

n
g

 w
o

rk
in

g
 

re
la

ti
o

n
sh

ip
s 

b
e
tw

e
e
n

 p
ri
m

a
ry

 c
a
re

 a
n

d
 m

e
n

ta
l 

h
e
a
lt
h

 s
p

e
ci

a
lis

ts
, 

a
llo

w
in

g
 t

h
e
 u

se
 o

f 
in

cr
e
a
se

d
 

sh
a
re

d
 c

a
re

 a
n

d
, 

in
 r

e
tu

rn
, 

e
n

su
ri
n

g
 c

a
p

a
ci

ty
 t

o
 

d
e
liv

e
r 

sw
if
t 

a
d

vi
ce

 a
n

d
 e

a
rl
y 

in
te

rv
e
n

ti
o

n
s.

A
lo

n
g

si
d

e
 t

h
is

 G
P
s 

n
e
e
d

 t
o

 b
e
 a

b
le

 t
o

 a
cc

e
ss

 t
h

e
 

k
in

d
 o

f 
su

p
p

o
rt

 t
h

a
t 

a
d

d
re

ss
e
s 

so
ci

a
l 
is

o
la

ti
o

n
 

fo
r 

th
e
ir
 p

a
ti
e
n

ts
 a

n
d

 h
e
lp

s 
o

ve
rc

o
m

e
 t

h
e
 c

ri
se

s 
th

a
t 

ca
n

 l
e
a
d

 t
o

 l
o

si
n

g
 h

o
m

e
s 

a
n

d
 f

a
m

ily
 o

r 
 

re
la

ti
o

n
sh

ip
 b

re
a
k
d

o
w

n
. 

O
n

e
 o

f 
th

e
 k

e
y 

 
o

p
p

o
rt

u
n

it
ie

s 
is

 t
h

e
 u

se
 o

f 
p

e
e
r 

su
p

p
o

rt
 –

  
su

p
p

o
rt

 w
h

ic
h

 i
s 

le
d

 a
n

d
 p

ro
vi

d
e
d

 b
y 

u
se

rs
 f

o
r 

p
e
o

p
le

 w
it
h

 m
e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 i
ss

u
e
s.

 P
e
e
r 

su
p

p
o

rt
 

ca
n

 o
p

e
ra

te
 a

t 
a
ll 

le
ve

ls
 o

f 
n

e
e
d

, 
th

e
 k

e
y 

fo
cu

s 
is

 o
n

 i
t 

b
e
in

g
 m

u
tu

a
l,
 r

e
ci

p
ro

ca
l,
 n

o
n

-d
ir
e
ct

io
n

a
l 

a
n

d
 r

e
co

ve
ry

 f
o

cu
se

d
 (

R
e
p

p
e
r 

e
t 

a
l,
 P

e
e
r 

 
S
u

p
p

o
rt

: 
T
h

e
o

ry
 a

n
d

 P
ra

ct
ic

e
, 

Im
R

O
C

, 
2

0
1

3
).

O
u

t-
o

f-
h

o
u

rs
 a

n
d

 s
e

v
e

n
-d

a
y
 w

o
rk

in
g

: 
it
 i
s 

 
n

o
 l
o

n
g

e
r 

su
ffi

ci
e
n

t 
to

 m
a
n

a
g

e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s 

so
le

ly
 

d
u

ri
n

g
 ‘

o
ffi

ce
 h

o
u

rs
’.

 P
e
o

p
le

 q
u

it
e
 r

e
a
so

n
a
b

ly
 

e
xp

e
ct

 t
h

a
t 

th
e
y 

w
ill

 b
e
 a

b
le

 t
o

 g
e
t 

h
e
lp

 w
h

e
n

 
th

e
y 

n
e
e
d

 i
t,

 i
n

cl
u

d
in

g
 d

u
ri
n

g
 e

ve
n

in
g

s 
a
n

d
  

a
t 

w
e
e
k
e
n

d
s.

 C
u

rr
e
n

t 
a
rr

a
n

g
e
m

e
n

ts
 f

o
r 

 
o

u
t-

o
f-

h
o

u
rs

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s 

a
re

 l
a
rg

e
ly

 b
a
se

d
 a

ro
u

n
d

 
d

u
ty

 r
o

ta
s,

 i
n

p
a
ti
e
n

t 
w

a
rd

s 
a
n

d
 c

ri
si

s 
te

a
m

s 
(w

h
ic

h
 f

o
cu

s 
th

e
ir
 w

o
rk

 o
n

 e
xi

st
in

g
 p

a
ti
e
n

ts
 o

n
 

te
a
m

 c
a
se

lo
a
d

).
 T

h
e
 p

ri
o

ri
ty

 a
re

a
s 

fo
r 

im
p

ro
ve

d
 

a
cc

e
ss

 a
re

 t
o

 b
e
 a

ro
u

n
d

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 i
n

 A
&

E
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
  

p
sy

ch
ia

tr
ic

 l
ia

is
o

n
 t

e
a
m

s;
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 t

o
 p

ri
m

a
ry

  
ca

re
 t

e
a
m

s,
 o

u
t-

o
f-

h
o

u
rs

 G
P
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s 

a
n

d
 t

h
e
 

1
1

1
 s

e
rv

ic
e
; 

a
n

d
 t

h
e
 w

o
rk

 o
f 

co
m

m
u

n
it
y 

m
e
n

ta
l 

h
e
a
lt
h

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s.

D
u

a
l 

d
ia

g
n

o
si

s:
 t

h
e
re

 i
s 

a
 c

le
a
r 

n
e
e
d

 t
o

 e
n

su
re

 
th

a
t 

se
rv

ic
e
s 

fo
r 

m
e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 a
n

d
 f

o
r 

su
b

st
a
n

ce
 

m
is

u
se

 a
re

 e
ff

e
ct

iv
e
ly

 i
n

te
g

ra
te

d
 t

o
 d

e
liv

e
r 

e
ff

e
ct

iv
e
 i
n

te
rv

e
n

ti
o

n
s 

fo
r 

p
e
o

p
le

 e
xp

e
ri
e
n

ci
n

g
 

m
e
n

ta
l 
ill

 h
e
a
lt
h

 a
lo

n
g

si
d

e
 a

lc
o

h
o

l 
a
n

d
/o

r 
 

d
ru

g
 m

is
u

se
. 

T
h

is
 g

ro
u

p
 o

f 
p

e
o

p
le

 a
re

 o
ft

e
n

  
si

g
n

ifi
ca

n
t 

u
se

rs
 o

f 
se

rv
ic

e
s 

a
n

d
 c

a
n

 e
xp

e
ri
e
n

ce
 

p
o

o
r 

o
u

tc
o

m
es

 b
ec

au
se

 o
f 

u
n

ce
rt

ai
n

ty
 a

b
o

u
t 

h
o

w
 

ca
se

s 
ar

e 
m

an
ag

ed
 a

n
d
 w

h
ic

h
 s

er
vi

ce
 is

 r
es

p
o
n
si

b
le

.

A
cc

e
ss

 t
o

 s
e

rv
ic

e
s

A
 m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 c
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

in
g

 s
tr

a
te

g
y 

fo
r 

D
e
vo

n
, 

P
ly

m
o

u
th

 a
n

d
 T

o
rb

a
y 

2
0

1
4

-2
0

1
6

1
7

Page 90



E
n

su
ri

n
g

 s
e

rv
ic

e
s 

m
e

e
t 

th
e

 n
e

e
d

s 
o

f 
o

ld
e

r 
p

e
o

p
le

: 
w

h
ile

 t
h

e
re

 i
s 

a
n

 u
n

d
e
rs

ta
n

d
in

g
 t

h
a
t 

m
e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s 

a
re

 a
va

ila
b

le
 t

o
 a

ll 
a
d

u
lt
s 

re
g

a
rd

le
ss

 o
f 

a
g

e
, 

in
 p

ra
ct

ic
e
 o

ld
e
r 

p
e
o

p
le

 a
re

 
le

ss
 l
ik

e
ly

 t
o

 a
cc

e
ss

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s 

th
a
t 

w
ill

 h
e
lp

 t
h

e
m

 
re

co
ve

r 
fr

o
m

 m
e
n
ta

l 
ill

 h
e
a
lt
h
 a

n
d
 d

is
tr

e
ss

. 
C

le
a
r 

e
vi

d
e
n

ce
 f

o
r 

lo
w

 r
e
fe

rr
a
l 
ra

te
s 

a
n

d
 e

n
g

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
in

 t
re

a
tm

e
n

t 
fo

r 
d

e
p

re
ss

io
n

 a
n

d
 a

n
xi

e
ty

 i
n

 t
h

e
 

o
ld

e
r 

p
o

p
u

la
ti
o

n
 i
s 

a
 c

o
n

ce
rn

 f
o

r 
co

m
m

is
si

o
n

e
rs

. 

T
h

is
 s

tr
a
te

g
y 

sh
o

u
ld

 b
e
 r

e
a
d

 i
n

 c
o

n
ju

n
ct

io
n

  
w

it
h

 t
h

e
 D

e
vo

n
, 

P
ly

m
o

u
th

 a
n

d
 T

o
rb

a
y 

Jo
in

t 
 

C
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

in
g

 S
tr

a
te

g
y 

fo
r 

D
e
m

e
n

ti
a
 –

 ‘
Li

vi
n

g
 

W
e
ll 

w
it
h

 D
e
m

e
n

ti
a
’ 

–
 a

s 
th

e
 i
ss

u
e
s 

fo
r 

o
ld

e
r 

 
p

e
o

p
le

 f
re

q
u

e
n

tl
y 

o
ve

rl
a
p

. 
T
h

is
 n

e
e
d

 f
o

r 
 

e
ff

e
ct

iv
e
 j
o

in
t 

w
o

rk
in

g
 i
s 

o
n

e
 o

f 
th

e
 k

e
y 

 
im

p
ro

ve
m

e
n

ts
 i
n

te
n

d
e
d

 i
n

 t
h

e
 s

tr
a
te

g
y 

a
n

d
  

in
fo

rm
s 

p
a
rt

 o
f 

co
m

m
is

si
o

n
in

g
 p

ri
o

ri
ti
e
s.

E
n

su
ri

n
g

 s
e

rv
ic

e
s 

m
e

e
t 

th
e

 n
e

e
d

s 
o

f 
le

a
rn

in
g

 
d

is
a

b
le

d
 p

e
o

p
le

: 
th

e
 c

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
e
rs

 w
ill

 e
xp

e
ct

 
p

ro
vi

d
e
rs

 t
o

 e
n

su
re

 t
h

a
t 

p
e
o

p
le

 w
it
h

 l
e
a
rn

in
g

 
d

is
a
b

ili
ti
e
s 

a
re

 a
b

le
 t

o
 a

cc
e
ss

 m
e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 
se

rv
ic

e
s 

in
 l
in

e
 w

it
h

 t
h

e
 r

e
vi

se
d

 ‘
G

re
e
n

 L
ig

h
t’

 
to

o
lk

it
 f

ro
m

 t
h

e
 N

D
T
i.
 I
m

p
ro

vi
n

g
 m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 
o

u
tc

o
m

e
s 

a
n

d
 w

e
llb

e
in

g
 i
s 

o
n

e
 o

f 
th

e
 p

ri
o

ri
ti
e
s 

fo
r 

co
m

m
is

si
o

n
e
rs

 a
n

d
 t

h
is

 s
tr

a
te

g
y 

sh
o

u
ld

 b
e
 

re
a
d

 i
n

 c
o

n
ju

n
ct

io
n

 w
it
h

 t
h

e
 D

e
vo

n
, 

P
ly

m
o

u
th

 
a
n

d
 T

o
rb

a
y 

Jo
in

t 
C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
in

g
 S

tr
a
te

g
y 

fo
r 

le
a
rn

in
g

 d
is

a
b

ili
ti
e
s 

–
 L

iv
in

g
 W

e
ll 

w
it
h

 L
e
a
rn

in
g

 
D

is
a
b

ili
ty

.

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 t
o

 t
h

e
 c

ri
m

in
a

l 
ju

st
ic

e
 s

y
st

e
m

: 
th

e
re

 
is

 a
 s

ig
n

ifi
ca

n
t 

o
ve

rl
a
p

 b
e
tw

e
e
n

 t
h

e
 c

ri
m

in
a
l 

ju
st

ic
e
 s

ys
te

m
 (

th
e
 p

o
lic

e
, 

co
u

rt
s 

a
n

d
 p

ro
b

a
ti
o

n
) 

a
n

d
 t

h
e
 m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s.

 T
h

e
re

 i
s 

a
  

st
a
tu

to
ry

 n
e
e
d

 t
o

 w
o

rk
 t

o
g

e
th

e
r 

in
 o

rd
e
r 

to
  

d
e
liv

e
r 

th
e
 r

e
q

u
ir
e
m

e
n

ts
 o

f 
th

e
 M

e
n

ta
l 
H

e
a
lt
h

 
A

ct
 1

9
8

3
. 

T
h

e
 p

o
lic

e
 i
n

 p
a
rt

ic
u

la
r 

n
e
e
d

 t
o

 b
e
 

a
b

le
 t

o
 a

cc
e
ss

 s
p

e
ci

a
lis

t 
a
d

vi
ce

, 
p

a
ti
e
n

t 
 

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 N
H

S
 p

ro
vi

d
e
d

 P
la

ce
s 

o
f 

S
a
fe

ty
 

in
 o

rd
e
r 

to
 m

a
k
e
 t

h
e
 b

e
st

 u
se

 o
f 

th
e
 A

ct
 a

n
d

 t
o

 
d

e
liv

e
r 

th
e
 b

e
st

 o
u

tc
o

m
e
s 

fo
r 

p
e
o

p
le

 a
ff

e
ct

e
d

 
b

y 
m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 i
ss

u
e
s 

w
h

o
 c

o
m

e
 i
n

to
 c

o
n

ta
ct

 
w

it
h

 t
h

e
 p

o
lic

e
.

T
h

e
 d

e
ve

lo
p

m
e
n

t 
o

f 
b

o
th

 l
ia

is
o

n
 a

n
d

 d
iv

e
rs

io
n

 
se

rv
ic

e
s 

in
 p

o
lic

e
 c

u
st

o
d

y 
ce

n
tr

e
s 

a
n

d
 t

h
e
 c

o
u

rt
s 

a
n

d
 p

ilo
ti
n

g
 o

f 
‘s

tr
e
e
t 

tr
ia

g
e
’ 

a
p

p
ro

a
ch

e
s 

a
re

 
p

o
si

ti
ve

 s
te

p
s 

fo
rw

a
rd

 f
o

r 
m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s 

b
u

t 
a
 f

u
rt

h
e
r 

cu
lt
u

re
 o

f 
co

-o
p

e
ra

ti
o

n
 w

ill
 b

e
 

d
e
ve

lo
p

e
d

 b
y 

a
ll 

th
e
 s

ta
k
e
h

o
ld

e
rs

 o
ve

r 
th

e
 n

e
xt

 
th

re
e
 y

e
a
rs

. 
  C

ri
si

s 
se

rv
ic

e
s:

 t
h

e
 d

e
fi

n
it
io

n
 o

f 
cr

is
is

 i
s 

n
o

t 
a
 

co
n

cr
e
te

 o
n

e
. 

C
u

rr
e
n

t 
a
rr

a
n

g
e
m

e
n

ts
 f

o
r 

cr
is

is
 

re
sp

o
n

se
 a

re
 b

a
se

d
 e

it
h

e
r 

o
n

 k
n

o
w

n
 p

a
ti
e
n

ts
 

a
n

d
 a

re
 a

im
e
d

 a
t 

p
re

ve
n

ti
n

g
 c

ri
se

s 
b

y 
p

la
n

n
in

g
 

ca
re

fu
lly

 a
n

d
 i
n

te
rv

e
n

in
g

 a
p

p
ro

p
ri
a
te

ly
 w

h
e
n

  

ri
sk

 f
a
ct

o
rs

 a
re

 i
d

e
n

ti
fi

e
d

, 
o

r 
th

e
y 

a
re

 b
a
se

d
  

o
n

 d
u

ty
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s 

a
n

d
 a

re
 c

a
lle

d
 u

p
o

n
 a

s 
a
n

d
  

w
h

e
n

 t
h

e
y 

a
re

 r
e
q

u
ir
e
d

. 
T
h

is
 a

rr
a
n

g
e
m

e
n

t 
ca

n
 

o
ft

e
n

 l
e
a
d

 t
o

 s
ig

n
ifi

ca
n

t 
d

e
la

ys
 a

n
d

 i
t 

d
o

e
s 

n
o

t 
id

e
n

ti
fy

 m
a
n

y 
ch

o
ic

e
s 

fo
r 

p
e
o

p
le

 e
xp

e
ri
e
n

ci
n

g
 

m
e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 c
ri
se

s.

T
h

e
 a

b
ili

ty
 t

o
 r

e
sp

o
n

d
 s

w
if
tl
y 

to
 r

e
q

u
e
st

s 
fo

r 
h

e
lp

 i
s 

k
e
y 

in
 e

n
su

ri
n

g
 t

h
a
t 

p
e
o

p
le

 c
a
n

 b
e
 s

e
e
n

 
a
t 

a
n

 e
a
rl
y 

e
n

o
u

g
h

 j
u

n
ct

u
re

 t
o

 p
re

ve
n

t 
a
n

y 
 

fu
rt

h
e
r 

d
e
te

ri
o

ra
ti
o

n
 o

f 
th

e
ir
 p

re
se

n
ta

ti
o

n
; 

it
  

ca
n

 a
ls

o
 o

p
e
n

 u
p

 o
p

ti
o

n
s 

fo
r 

p
e
o

p
le

 t
o

 a
cc

e
ss

  
d

if
fe

re
n

t 
k
in

d
s 

o
f 

su
p

p
o

rt
 a

n
d

 i
n

te
rv

e
n

ti
o

n
. 

In
 t

h
e
 m

a
in

, 
e
xp

e
ri
e
n

ce
 s

h
o

w
s 

u
s 

th
a
t 

si
m

p
ly

 
lis

te
n

in
g

 t
o

 p
e
o

p
le

 d
e
sc

ri
b

e
 t

h
e
 i
ss

u
e
s 

a
ff

e
ct

in
g

 
th

e
m

 a
n

d
 g

iv
in

g
 t

h
e
m

 a
d

vi
ce

 a
n

d
 s

ig
n

p
o

st
in

g
 

th
e
m

 t
o

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 o
r 

re
m

in
d

in
g

 o
f 

th
e
ir
 c

a
re

 p
la

n
s 

is
 s

u
ffi

ci
e
n

t 
to

 h
e
lp

 m
a
n

a
g

e
 a

 c
ri
si

s 
in

 t
h

e
 s

h
o

rt
 

te
rm

. 
W

h
e
n

 f
u

rt
h

e
r 

in
te

rv
e
n

ti
o

n
 i
s 

re
q

u
ir
e
d

, 
b

e
in

g
 a

b
le

 t
o

 s
e
e
 p

e
o

p
le

 i
n

 s
a
fe

 c
o

m
fo

rt
a
b

le
 

e
n

vi
ro

n
m

e
n

ts
 i
s 

cr
u

ci
a
l.

T
h

e
 f

u
n

d
a
m

e
n

ta
l 
re

q
u

ir
e
m

e
n

t 
is

 f
o

r 
p

e
o

p
le

 t
o

 
b

e
 a

b
le

 t
o

 a
cc

e
ss

 t
h

is
 h

e
lp

 w
h

e
n

 t
h

e
y 

n
e
e
d

 i
t 

a
n

d
 i
n

 a
 w

a
y 

th
a
t 

h
e
lp

s 
th

e
m

 t
o

 o
ve

rc
o

m
e
 t

h
e
 

cr
is

is
 t

h
e
y 

a
re

 e
xp

e
ri
e
n

ci
n

g
.

T
h

e
re

 i
s 

a
 r

a
n

g
e
 o

f 
so

lu
ti
o

n
s 

to
 c

ri
si

s 
si

tu
a
ti
o

n
s:

Te
le

p
h

o
n

e
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 s

u
ch

 a
s 

1
1

1
, 
 

n
o

n
-s

ta
tu

to
ry

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s 

lik
e
 S

a
m

a
ri
ta

n
s 

a
n

d
  

m
e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 c
ri
si

s 
se

rv
ic

e
s

A
tt

e
n

d
a
n

ce
 a

t 
A

&
E

G
P
 o

u
t-

o
f-

h
o

u
rs

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s

C
ri
si

s 
h

o
u

se
s

S
p

e
ci

a
lis

t 
m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 c
ri
si

s 
se

rv
ic

e
s

A
 m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 c
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

in
g

 s
tr

a
te

g
y 

fo
r 

D
e
vo

n
, 

P
ly

m
o

u
th

 a
n

d
 T

o
rb

a
y 

2
0

1
4

-2
0

1
6

1
8

 L
ia

is
o

n
 a

n
d

 d
iv

e
rs

io
n

 T
h

e
 l
ia

is
o

n
 a

n
d

 d
iv

e
rs

io
n

 s
e
rv

ic
e
 h

a
s 

b
e
e
n

 
d

e
ve

lo
p

e
d

 t
o

 e
n

su
re

 m
e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 e
xp

e
rt

is
e
 

is
 a

va
ila

b
le

 t
o

 p
o

lic
e
 c

u
st

o
d

y 
u

n
it
s 

a
n

d
 t

h
e
 

co
u

rt
s 

to
 a

llo
w

 g
o

o
d

 j
u

d
g

e
m

e
n

t 
to

 b
e
 u

se
d

  
in

 d
e
a
lin

g
 w

it
h

 p
e
o

p
le

 w
it
h

 m
e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

  
is

su
e
s 

w
h

o
 c

o
m

e
 i
n

to
 c

o
n

ta
ct

 w
it
h

 t
h

e
  

cr
im

in
a
l 
ju

st
ic

e
 s

ys
te

m
.

T
h

e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 i
s 

a
b

le
 t

o
 e

ff
e
ct

iv
e
ly

 d
iv

e
rt

 p
e
o

p
le

 
w

h
o

 a
re

 e
xp

e
ri
e
n

ci
n

g
 m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

  
d

if
fi

cu
lt
ie

s 
a
w

a
y 

fr
o

m
 c

ri
m

in
a
l 
ju

st
ic

e
 a

n
d

 i
n

to
 

tr
e
a
tm

e
n

t.
 T

h
is

 r
e
p

re
se

n
ts

 a
 g

o
o

d
 o

u
tc

o
m

e
 

fo
r 

th
e
 p

o
lic

e
, 

co
u

rt
s,

 m
e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s 

a
n

d
, 

o
f 

co
u

rs
e
, 

th
e
 p

a
ti
e
n

t.
 

Page 91



C
u

rr
e
n

tl
y 

th
e
se

 o
p

ti
o

n
s 

a
re

 n
o

t 
a
lw

a
ys

 a
va

ila
b

le
 

a
n

d
 a

re
 n

o
t 

in
te

g
ra

te
d

 t
o

 e
n

su
re

 p
e
o

p
le

 a
cc

e
ss

 
th

e
 m

o
st

 a
p

p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 r
e
sp

o
n

se
 t

o
 t

h
e
ir
 n

e
e
d

s.
 

T
h

is
 i
s 

a
 p

ri
o

ri
ty

 a
re

a
 f

o
r 

co
m

m
is

si
o

n
e
rs

 w
h

o
 

m
u

st
 e

n
su

re
 t

h
a
t 

cr
is

is
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 i
s 

p
ro

vi
d

e
d

 a
n

d
 

th
e
 c

o
st

 o
f 

e
sc

a
la

ti
n

g
 m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 c
ri
se

s 
a
re

  
a
vo

id
e
d

 w
h

e
re

ve
r 

p
o

ss
ib

le
.

A
lt

e
rn

a
ti

v
e

s 
to

 a
d

m
is

si
o

n
: 

it
 i
s 

im
p

o
rt

a
n

t 
 

th
a
t 

se
rv

ic
e
s 

d
o

 n
o

t 
fa

ll 
b

a
ck

 o
n

to
 i
n

p
a
ti
e
n

t 
 

a
d

m
is

si
o

n
 t

o
 m

a
n

a
g

e
 c

ri
se

s 
a
n

d
 c

o
m

p
le

x 
 

tr
e
a
tm

e
n

t 
re

g
im

e
s 

b
u

t 
in

 o
rd

e
r 

to
 a

vo
id

 t
h

is
 

th
e
re

 h
a
ve

 t
o

 b
e
 a

lt
e
rn

a
ti
ve

s 
to

 a
d

m
is

si
o

n
 w

h
ic

h
 

m
a
k
e
 t

h
e
 s

a
fe

 a
n

d
 a

p
p

ro
p

ri
a
te

 m
a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
o

f 
ca

re
 a

n
d

 t
re

a
tm

e
n

t 
p

o
ss

ib
le

. 
In

p
a
ti
e
n

t 
ca

re
 i
s 

b
o

th
 e

xp
e
n

si
ve

 a
n

d
 c

a
n

 c
re

a
te

 d
e
p

e
n

d
e
n

cy
 a

n
d

 
in

st
it
u

ti
o

n
a
lis

a
ti
o

n
. 

T
h

e
re

 i
s 

a
ls

o
 t

h
e
 q

u
e
st

io
n

 o
f 

w
h

a
t 

to
 d

o
 n

e
xt

 i
f 

a
d

m
is

si
o

n
 t

o
 a

 l
o

ca
l 
se

rv
ic

e
 i
s 

in
e
ff

e
ct

iv
e
. 

It
 h

a
s 

b
e
e
n

 n
o

te
d

 t
h

a
t 

D
e
vo

n
 u

se
s 

m
o

re
 o

u
t-

o
f-

a
re

a
 h

o
sp

it
a
l 
p

la
ce

m
e
n

ts
 t

h
a
n

  
o

th
e
r 

co
m

p
a
ra

b
le

 a
re

a
s.

 P
ro

vi
d

in
g

 a
lt
e
rn

a
ti
ve

s 
to

 h
o

sp
it
a
l 
tr

e
a
tm

e
n

t,
 e

sp
e
ci

a
lly

 f
o

r 
co

m
p

le
x 

 
a
n

d
 r

is
k
y 

b
e
h

a
vi

o
u

rs
, 

is
 a

 p
ri
o

ri
ty

 f
o

r 
 

co
m

m
is

si
o

n
e
rs

.

A
lt
e
rn

a
ti
ve

s 
to

 a
d

m
is

si
o

n
 n

e
e
d

 t
o

 b
e
 r

o
b

u
st

, 
 

re
lia

b
le

 a
n

d
 s

h
o

u
ld

 n
o

t 
b

e
 s

e
e
n

 a
s 

a
 r

e
a
so

n
 

to
 n

o
t 

h
a
ve

 i
n

p
a
ti
e
n

t 
fa

ci
lit

ie
s 

a
t 

a
ll.

 T
h

e
y 

a
re

 
p

a
rt

 o
f 

a
 r

a
n

g
e
 o

f 
o

p
ti
o

n
s 

th
a
t 

a
re

 a
va

ila
b

le
 t

o
 

p
ro

fe
ss

io
n

a
ls

 t
o

 m
e
e
t 

th
e
 n

e
e
d

s 
o

f 
in

d
iv

id
u

a
l 

p
a
ti
e
n

ts
.

A
s 

co
m

m
is

si
o

n
e
rs

, 
o

n
e
 o

f 
o

u
r 

m
a
in

 p
ri
o

ri
ti
e
s 

 
is

 t
o

 r
e
in

ve
st

 i
n

 l
o

ca
l 
p

la
ce

m
e
n

ts
. 

T
h

e
re

 i
s 

 
in

cr
e
a
si

n
g

 e
vi

d
e
n

ce
 t

h
a
t 

o
u

t-
o

f-
a
re

a
 p

la
ce

m
e
n

ts
 

in
 i
n

st
it
u

ti
o

n
s 

a
re

 i
n

e
ff

e
ct

iv
e
 a

n
d

 t
h

a
t 

th
e
  

co
n

se
q

u
e
n

ce
s 

fo
r 

p
e
o

p
le

 p
la

ce
d

 a
w

a
y 

fr
o

m
 

h
o

m
e
 c

a
n

 i
n

cl
u

d
e
 t

h
e
 l
o

ss
 o

f 
th

e
ir
 h

o
m

e
s,

 
e
m

p
lo

ym
e
n

t,
 f

a
m

ily
 l
in

k
s 

a
n

d
 t

h
e
ir
 p

la
ce

 i
n

 t
h

e
 

co
m

m
u

n
it
y.

 T
h

e
 f

o
cu

s 
is

 o
n

 e
n

su
ri
n

g
 t

h
a
t 

th
e
 

n
e
e
d

s 
o

f 
p

e
o

p
le

 i
n

 D
e
vo

n
 w

it
h

 m
e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 
is

su
e
s 

ca
n

 b
e
 m

e
t 

in
 t

h
e
 c

o
u

n
ty

 a
n

d
 o

n
 r

e
d

u
ci

n
g

 
th

e
 r

a
te

 o
f 

p
la

ce
m

e
n

ts
.

T
h

e
 b

e
st

 o
p

ti
o

n
 i
s 

to
 u

se
 p

e
rs

o
n

-c
e
n

tr
e
d

  
a
p

p
ro

a
ch

e
s 

to
 p

la
n

 i
n

 d
e
ta

il 
fo

r 
a
n

 i
n

d
iv

id
u

a
l 

a
n

d
 t

o
 e

n
su

re
 t

h
a
t 

th
e
re

 i
s 

a
 c

le
a
r 

 
u

n
d

e
rs

ta
n

d
in

g
 b

o
th

 o
f 

th
e
 t

h
in

g
s 

th
a
t 

k
e
e
p

 
a
 p

e
rs

o
n

 w
e
ll 

a
n

d
 t

h
e
 i
n

d
ic

a
to

rs
 o

f 
a
 r

e
la

p
se

. 
G

o
o

d
 p

la
n

n
in

g
 r

e
d

u
ce

s 
th

e
 f

re
q

u
e
n

cy
 a

n
d

  
in

te
n

si
ty

 o
f 

cr
is

e
s,

 r
e
d

u
ci

n
g

 t
h

e
 n

e
e
d

 t
o

 a
d

m
it
 

p
e
o

p
le

 t
o

 h
o

sp
it
a
l.

A
s 

n
o

te
d

 a
b

o
ve

 t
h

e
 s

ig
n

ifi
ca

n
t 

u
se

 o
f 

cr
is

is
 

h
o

u
se

s 
ca

n
 b

e
 a

 p
ra

ct
ic

a
l,
 n

o
n

-s
ti
g

m
a
ti
si

n
g

 w
a
y 

o
f 

p
ro

vi
d

in
g

 a
n

 e
n

vi
ro

n
m

e
n

t 
w

h
e
re

 p
e
o

p
le

 c
a
n

 
o

ve
rc

o
m

e
 a

 c
ri
si

s 
w

it
h

o
u

t 
n

e
e
d

in
g

 t
o

 b
e
  

a
d

m
it
te

d
 t

o
 h

o
sp

it
a
l.

U
lt
im

a
te

ly
, 

th
e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s 

th
a
t 

m
a
n

a
g

e
 a

d
m

is
si

o
n

 
to

 h
o

sp
it
a
l 
n

e
e
d

 t
o

 h
a
ve

 a
 r

a
n

g
e
 o

f 
in

te
n

si
ve

  
o

p
ti
o

n
s 

a
va

ila
b

le
 w

h
ic

h
 m

e
a
n

 t
h

e
y 

ca
n

 p
ro

vi
d

e
 

e
xt

ra
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 t

o
 p

e
o

p
le

 i
n

 t
h

e
ir
 h

o
m

e
s;

 t
h

e
  

e
m

p
h

a
si

s 
w

ill
 b

e
 u

p
o

n
 c

ri
si

s 
a
n

d
 h

o
m

e
  

tr
e
a
tm

e
n

t 
se

rv
ic

e
s 

a
n

d
 t

h
e
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it
y 

m
e
n

ta
l 

h
e
a
lt
h

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s 

w
o

rk
in

g
 w

it
h

 p
a
rt

n
e
rs

 i
n

 t
h

e
 

in
d

e
p

e
n

d
e
n

t 
se

ct
o

r 
to

 o
ff

e
r 

th
e
 i
n

te
n

si
ve

  
in

te
rv

e
n

ti
o

n
s 

th
a
t 

d
e
liv

e
r 

sa
fe

 t
re

a
tm

e
n

t 
a
n

d
 

su
p

p
o

rt
 w

it
h

o
u

t 
th

e
 n

e
e
d

 t
o

 h
o

sp
it
a
lis

e
 a

  
p

a
ti
e
n

t.
 

S
p

e
ci

a
li

st
 t

re
a

tm
e

n
t 

p
a

th
w

a
y
s:

 t
h

e
 b

e
st

  
o

u
tc

o
m

e
s 

fo
r 

p
a
ti
e
n

ts
 l
ie

 i
n

 e
n

su
ri
n

g
 t

h
a
t 

th
e
y 

ca
n

 a
cc

e
ss

 p
ro

fe
ss

io
n

a
ls

 w
it
h

 a
p

p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 s
k
ill

s 
a
t 

th
e
 a

p
p

ro
p

ri
a
te

 t
im

e
. 

A
cc

e
ss

 t
o

 e
xp

e
rt

is
e
 i
n

 
k
e
y 

a
re

a
s 

is
 a

t 
th

e
 h

e
a
rt

 o
f 

d
e
liv

e
ri
n

g
 t

h
e
 b

e
st

 
o

u
tc

o
m

e
s,

 e
sp

e
ci

a
lly

 f
o

r 
th

o
se

 p
re

se
n

ta
ti
o

n
s 

th
a
t 

a
re

 r
is

k
y 

a
n

d
 c

o
m

p
le

x,
 s

u
ch

 a
s 

e
a
ti
n

g
  

d
is

o
rd

e
rs

.

T
h

e
 c

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
e
rs

 w
ill

 e
n

su
re

 t
h

a
t 

th
e
re

 a
re

 
cl

e
a
r,
 e

vi
d

e
n

ce
-b

a
se

d
 s

p
e
ci

a
lis

t 
tr

e
a
tm

e
n

t 
p

a
th

w
a
ys

 t
h

a
t 

st
a
rt

 w
it
h

 t
h

e
 e

a
rl
ie

st
 f

o
rm

s 
o

f 
in

te
rv

e
n

ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 e
n

g
a
g

e
m

e
n

t,
 w

o
rk

 t
h

ro
u

g
h

 
e
vi

d
e
n

ce
-b

a
se

d
 i
n

te
rv

e
n

ti
o

n
s 

a
n

d
, 

u
lt
im

a
te

ly
, 

 
to

 s
p

e
ci

a
lis

t 
in

p
a
ti
e
n

t 
tr

e
a
tm

e
n

t 
w

h
e
re

 r
e
q

u
ir
e
d

.

T
h

e
 p

ri
o

ri
ty

 p
a
th

w
a
ys

 f
o

r 
im

p
ro

ve
d

 a
cc

e
ss

 a
re

:

E
a
ti
n

g
 d

is
o

rd
e
rs

P
e
rs

o
n

a
lit

y 
d

is
o

rd
e
r

D
u

a
l 
d

ia
g

n
o

si
s

Fo
re

n
si

c 
a
n

d
 s

e
cu

re
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s

T
h

e
se

 h
a
ve

 b
e
e
n

 i
d

e
n

ti
fi

e
d

 b
e
ca

u
se

 t
h

e
y 

 
re

p
re

se
n

t 
h

ig
h

-r
is

k
 a

re
a
s 

o
r 

a
re

 l
in

k
e
d

 t
o

  
in

cr
e
a
se

d
 u

se
 o

f 
o

u
t-

o
f-

a
re

a
 p

la
ce

m
e
n

t.
 T

h
e
y 

a
re

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

e
d

 w
it
h

 s
tr

o
n

g
 e

vi
d

e
n

ce
 b

a
se

s 
a
n

d
/o

r 
N

IC
E
 g

u
id

a
n

ce
 f

o
r 

tr
e
a
tm

e
n

t 
a
n

d
 m

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t.

A
 m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 c
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

in
g

 s
tr

a
te

g
y 

fo
r 

D
e
vo

n
, 

P
ly

m
o

u
th

 a
n

d
 T

o
rb

a
y 

2
0

1
4

-2
0

1
6

1
9

 M
e

n
ta

l 
H

e
a

lt
h

 C
ri

si
s 

H
o

u
se

 i
n

 T
o

rb
a

y
 In

 r
e
sp

o
n

se
 t

o
 a

n
 e

n
g

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
p

ro
ce

ss
 a

n
d

 
lis

te
n

in
g

 t
o

 w
h

at
 p

eo
p

le
 w

it
h

 li
ve

d
 e

xp
er

ie
n

ce
 

h
a
ve

 s
a
id

, 
To

rb
a
y 

h
a
s 

o
p

e
n

e
d

 a
 c

ri
si

s 
h

o
u

se
 

in
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 w
it
h

 D
P
T
 a

n
d

 t
h

e
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it
y 

C
a
re

 T
ru

st
 (

S
o

u
th

 D
e
vo

n
).

 T
h

is
 d

e
ve

lo
p

m
e
n

t 
re

p
re

se
n

ts
 a

 n
e
w

 w
a
y 

o
f 

g
iv

in
g

 c
h

o
ic

e
 a

n
d

 
su

p
p

o
rt

 t
o

 p
e
o

p
le

 i
n

 c
ri
si

s 
in

 t
h

e
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it
y 

(i
n

 a
 n

o
n

-s
ti
g

m
a
ti
si

n
g

 w
a
y)

 a
n

d
 w

ill
 h

e
lp

 a
vo

id
 

u
n

n
e
ce

ss
a
ry

 i
n

-p
a
ti
e
n

t 
ca

re
 a

d
m

is
si

o
n

s.

Page 92



T
h

e
 c

o
m

m
it
m

e
n

t 
th

a
t 

h
a
s 

b
e
e
n

 s
h

o
w

n
 t

o
  

in
vo

lv
in

g
 p

e
o

p
le

 w
h

o
 h

a
ve

 fi
rs

t-
h

a
n

d
 e

xp
e
ri
e
n

ce
 

o
f 

m
e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 p
ro

b
le

m
s,

 a
n

d
 t

h
e
ir
 c

a
re

rs
, 

b
y 

b
o

th
 p

ro
vi

d
e
rs

 a
n

d
 c

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
e
rs

 p
ro

vi
d

e
s 

a
n

 
e
xc

e
lle

n
t 

fo
u

n
d

a
ti
o

n
 f

o
r 

th
e
 d

e
ve

lo
p

m
e
n

t 
a
n

d
 

e
n

h
a
n

ce
m

e
n

t 
o

f 
th

e
 c

u
rr

e
n

t 
a
p

p
ro

a
ch

.

A
 j
o

in
t 

ca
re

rs
’ 

st
ra

te
g

y 
is

 a
va

ila
b

le
 a

n
d

 i
t 

fo
cu

se
s 

o
n

 d
e
liv

e
ri
n

g
 t

h
e
 ‘

fi
ve

 o
u

tc
o

m
e
s 

fo
r 

ca
re

rs
’.

  
T
h

e
 k

e
y 

p
o

in
t 

is
 t

h
e
 n

e
e
d

 t
o

 r
e
co

g
n

is
e
 t

h
e
 w

o
rk

 
ca

re
rs

 d
o

 a
n

d
 e

n
su

re
 t

h
e
y 

a
re

 h
e
a
rd

 i
n

 p
la

n
n

in
g

 
a
n

d
 d

e
ci

si
o

n
 m

a
k
in

g
. 

T
h

e
 u

se
 o

f 
th

e
 t

ri
a
n

g
le

 o
f 

ca
re

 t
o

 e
n

su
re

 t
h

a
t 

se
rv

ic
e
s 

a
re

 s
u

it
a
b

ly
 f

o
cu

se
d

 
o

n
 e

n
su

ri
n

g
 c

a
re

rs
 a

re
 e

ff
e
ct

iv
e
ly

 i
n

vo
lv

e
d

 i
s 

a
 

k
e
y 

o
u

tc
o

m
e
 f

ro
m

 t
h

e
 c

a
re

rs
’ 

st
ra

te
g

y 
a
n

d
 i
s 

a
 k

e
y 

e
xp

e
ct

a
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s 

in
 t

h
e
 c

o
m

in
g

 
ye

a
rs

.

A
lo

n
g

si
d

e
 t

h
is

 s
tr

a
te

g
y 

th
e
re

 i
s 

a
 c

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
e
r 

co
m

m
it
m

e
n

t 
to

 e
n

su
re

 t
h

a
t 

p
e
o

p
le

 w
it
h

 l
iv

e
d

 
e
xp

e
ri
e
n

ce
 o

f 
m

e
n

ta
l 
ill

n
e
ss

 a
re

 a
b

le
 t

o
  

e
ff

e
ct

iv
e
ly

 i
n

fl
u

e
n

ce
 t

h
e
 c

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
in

g
, 

d
e
liv

e
ry

 
a
n

d
 m

o
n

it
o

ri
n

g
 o

f 
se

rv
ic

e
s 

a
n

d
 e

n
su

re
 t

h
a
t 

th
e
y 

a
re

 p
re

se
n

t 
in

 a
ll 

o
f 

th
e
 k

e
y 

p
ro

ce
ss

e
s 

o
f 

th
e
 

co
m

m
is

si
o

n
in

g
 o

rg
a
n

is
a
ti
o

n
s.

T
h

e
 p

ri
o

ri
ty

 a
re

a
s 

fo
r 

a
ct

io
n

 f
ro

m
 t

h
is

 s
tr

a
te

g
y 

w
ill

 r
e
q

u
ir
e
 f

u
ll 

in
vo

lv
e
m

e
n

t 
o

f 
p

e
o

p
le

 w
h

o
 h

a
ve

 
fi

rs
t-

h
a
n

d
 e

xp
e
ri
e
n

ce
 o

f 
m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 p
ro

b
le

m
s,

 
a
n

d
 t

h
e
ir
 c

a
re

rs
, 

to
 b

o
th

 s
h

a
p

e
 t

h
e
 w

o
rk

 t
o

 b
e
 

d
o

n
e
 a

n
d

 m
o

n
it
o

r 
p

ro
g

re
ss

 o
n

 d
e
liv

e
ry

. 
T
h

is
 

st
ra

te
g

y 
is

 i
n

te
n

d
e
d

 t
o

 b
e
 f

u
lly

 i
n

cl
u

si
ve

 a
n

d
 t

o
 

re
sp

o
n

d
 t

o
 t

h
e
 f

e
e
d

b
a
ck

 a
n

d
 l
e
a
d

e
rs

h
ip

 o
f 

 
p

e
o

p
le

 w
it
h

 l
iv

e
d

 e
xp

e
ri
e
n

ce
.

In
vo

lv
e
m

e
n

t 
o

f 
p

e
o

p
le

 
w

h
o

 u
se

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s 

a
n

d
 c

a
re

rs
 

A
 m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 c
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

in
g

 s
tr

a
te

g
y 

fo
r 

D
e
vo

n
, 

P
ly

m
o

u
th

 a
n

d
 T

o
rb

a
y 

2
0

1
4

-2
0

1
6

2
0

Page 93



It
 i
s 

in
 t

h
e
 i
n

te
re

st
s 

o
f 

co
m

m
is

si
o

n
e
r,
 p

ro
vi

d
e
r 

a
n

d
 u

se
r 

o
f 

se
rv

ic
e
s 

th
a
t 

th
e
 f

o
cu

s 
is

 o
n

 h
ig

h
 

q
u

a
lit

y 
a
n

d
 t

h
e
 b

e
st

 o
u

tc
o

m
e
s.

 T
h

e
 s

im
p

le
 f

a
ct

 i
s 

th
a
t 

n
o

t 
h

a
vi

n
g

 t
o

 d
e
a
l 
w

it
h

 t
h

e
 c

o
n

se
q

u
e
n

ce
s  

 
o

f 
p

o
o

r 
se

rv
ic

e
s 

w
ill

 i
m

p
ro

ve
 e

ffi
ci

e
n

cy
 a

n
d

 
ca

p
a
ci

ty
 t

h
e
re

b
y 

sa
vi

n
g

 m
o

n
e
y 

a
cr

o
ss

 t
h

e
 h

e
a
lt
h

 
a
n

d
 s

o
ci

a
l 
ca

re
 s

ys
te

m
. 

N
o

 H
e
a
lt
h

 W
it
h

o
u

t 
 

M
e
n

ta
l 
H

e
a
lt
h

 (
D

H
, 

2
0

1
3

) 
id

e
n

ti
fi

e
d

 f
o

u
r 

k
e
y 

w
a
ys

 t
o

 g
e
t 

th
e
 b

e
st

 o
u

t 
o

f 
se

rv
ic

e
s:

Im
p

ro
vi

n
g

 t
h

e
 q

u
a
lit

y 
a
n

d
 e

ffi
ci

e
n

cy
 o

f 
 

cu
rr

e
n

t 
se

rv
ic

e
s

R
a
d

ic
a
lly

 c
h

a
n

g
in

g
 t

h
e
 w

a
y 

th
a
t 

cu
rr

e
n

t 
 

se
rv

ic
e
s 

a
re

 d
e
liv

e
re

d
 s

o
 a

s 
to

 i
m

p
ro

ve
  

q
u

a
lit

y 
a
n

d
 r

e
d

u
ce

 c
o

st
s

S
h

if
ti
n

g
 t

h
e
 f

o
cu

s 
o

f 
se

rv
ic

e
s 

to
w

a
rd

s 
p

ro
m

o
ti
o

n
 o

f 
m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

, 
p

re
ve

n
ti
o

n
 o

f 
m

e
n

ta
l 
ill

n
e
ss

 a
n

d
 e

a
rl
y 

id
e
n

ti
fi

ca
ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 
in

te
rv

e
n

ti
o

n
 a

s 
so

o
n

 a
s 

m
e
n

ta
l 
ill

n
e
ss

 a
ri
se

s

B
ro

a
d

e
n

in
g

 t
h

e
 a

p
p

ro
a
ch

 t
a
k
e
n

 t
o

 t
a
ck

le
 t

h
e
 

w
id

e
r 

so
ci

a
l 
d

e
te

rm
in

a
n

ts
 a

n
d

 c
o

n
se

q
u

e
n

ce
s 

o
f 

m
e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 p
ro

b
le

m
s

T
h

e
 k

e
y 

a
re

a
s 

fo
r 

q
u

a
lit

y 
im

p
ro

ve
m

e
n

t 
in

  
D

e
vo

n
 a

re
:

U
rg

e
n

t 
a
n

d
 i
n

p
a
ti
e
n

t 
ca

re
 –

 r
e
d

u
ci

n
g

  
a
d

m
is

si
o

n
s,

 f
e
w

e
r 

cr
is

e
s 

a
n

d
 i
m

p
ro

ve
d

  
p

re
ve

n
ti
o

n

Im
p

ro
ve

d
 p

re
sc

ri
b

in
g

 p
ra

ct
ic

e
 –

 e
n

su
ri
n

g
 

m
e
d

ic
a
ti
o

n
 i
s 

u
se

d
 e

ff
e
ct

iv
e
ly

 t
h

ro
u

g
h

o
u

t 
p

ri
m

a
ry

 a
n

d
 s

e
co

n
d

a
ry

 c
a
re

In
te

g
ra

ti
o

n
 o

f 
h

e
a
lt
h

 a
n

d
 s

o
ci

a
l 
ca

re
  

co
m

m
is

si
o

n
in

g
 a

n
d

 s
e
rv

ic
e
 d

e
liv

e
ry

Im
p

ro
ve

d
 c

a
re

 p
la

n
n

in
g

 a
n

d
 c

o
-o

rd
in

a
ti
o

n
 –

 
w

it
h

 a
 f

o
cu

s 
o

n
 p

e
rs

o
n

-c
e
n

tr
e
d

 a
p

p
ro

a
ch

e
s 

a
n

d
 s

h
if
ti
n

g
 c

o
n

tr
o

l 
to

 p
a
ti
e
n

ts
 a

n
d

 t
h

e
ir
 

ca
re

rs

E
ff

e
ct

iv
e
 s

a
fe

g
u

a
rd

in
g

 a
rr

a
n

g
e
m

e
n

ts
 t

o
 

p
ro

te
ct

 v
u

ln
e
ra

b
le

 a
d

u
lt
s 

a
n

d
 c

h
ild

re
n

 i
n

 
fa

m
ili

e
s 

e
xp

e
ri
e
n

ci
n

g
 s

e
ri
o

u
s 

m
e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 
is

su
e
s

H
ig

h
-q

u
a

li
ty

 s
e

rv
ic

e
s 

a
n

d
 fi

n
a

n
ci

a
l 

su
st

a
in

a
b

il
it

y

A
 m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 c
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

in
g

 s
tr

a
te

g
y 

fo
r 

D
e
vo

n
, 

P
ly

m
o

u
th

 a
n

d
 T

o
rb

a
y 

2
0

1
4

-2
0

1
6

2
1

Page 94



In
 r

e
ce

n
t 

ye
a
rs

 t
h

e
re

 h
a
s 

b
e
e
n

 a
 g

ro
w

in
g

 
a
w

a
re

n
e
ss

 t
h

a
t 

th
e
 a

b
u

se
 o

f 
vu

ln
e
ra

b
le

 a
d

u
lt
s 

is
 o

f 
h

e
ig

h
te

n
e
d

 c
o

n
ce

rn
 i
n

 o
u

r 
so

ci
e
ty

. 
T
h

e
 

in
cr

e
a
si

n
g

 n
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

se
ri
o

u
s 

in
ci

d
e
n

ts
 o

f 
a
b

u
se

 
e
m

p
h

a
si

se
s 

th
e
 n

e
e
d

 f
o

r 
a
ct

io
n

 t
o

 e
n

su
re

 t
h

a
t 

vu
ln

e
ra

b
le

 a
d

u
lt
s,

 w
h

o
 a

re
 a

t 
ri
sk

 o
f 

a
b

u
se

, 
re

ce
iv

e
 p

ro
te

ct
io

n
 a

n
d

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

. 
It
 i
s 

e
ve

ry
 a

d
u

lt
’s
 

ri
g

h
t 

to
 l
iv

e
 f

re
e
 f

ro
m

 a
b

u
se

 i
n

 a
cc

o
rd

a
n

ce
 w

it
h

 
th

e
 p

ri
n

ci
p

le
s 

o
f 

re
sp

e
ct

 d
ig

n
it
y,

 a
u

to
n

o
m

y,
  

p
ri
va

cy
 a

n
d

 e
q

u
it
y.

 

P
e
o

p
le

 w
h

o
 a

re
 e

xp
e
ri
e
n

ci
n

g
 m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

  
is

su
e
s 

a
re

 o
ft

e
n

 m
o

re
 v

u
ln

e
ra

b
le

 t
o

 p
o

te
n

ti
a
l 

e
p

is
o

d
e
s 

o
f 

a
b

u
se

. 
A

ls
o

, 
th

o
se

 w
h

o
 l
iv

e
 w

it
h

 
p

e
o

p
le

 e
xp

e
ri
e
n

ci
n

g
 m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 i
ss

u
e
s 

a
re

 
p

o
te

n
ti
a
lly

 a
t 

a
 g

re
a
te

r 
ri
sk

 o
f 

h
a
rm

. 
R

e
ce

n
t 

h
ig

h
 p

ro
fi

le
 c

a
se

s,
 i
n

cl
u

d
in

g
 W

in
te

rb
o

u
rn

e
 

V
ie

w
, 

h
ig

h
lig

h
t 

th
e
 i
n

cr
e
a
se

d
 v

u
ln

e
ra

b
ili

ty
 o

f 
th

o
se

 w
h

o
 a

re
 r

e
ce

iv
in

g
 r

e
si

d
e
n

ti
a
l 
ca

re
 f

o
r 

th
e
ir
 

m
e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 i
ss

u
e
s,

 a
n

d
 h

o
w

 a
 g

re
a
te

r 
le

ve
l 

o
f 

p
ro

te
ct

io
n

 a
n

d
 v

ig
ila

n
ce

 i
s 

re
q

u
ir
e
d

 f
o

r 
th

e
se

 
in

d
iv

id
u

a
ls

. 

It
 i
s,

 t
h

e
re

fo
re

, 
e
ss

e
n

ti
a
l 
th

a
t 

co
m

m
is

si
o

n
e
d

 
se

rv
ic

e
s 

a
re

 o
f 

a
 h

ig
h

 q
u

a
lit

y 
a
n

d
 s

a
fe

g
u

a
rd

 
th

o
se

 v
u

ln
e
ra

b
le

 i
n

d
iv

id
u

a
ls

 f
ro

m
 e

p
is

o
d

e
s 

o
f 

a
b

u
se

. 
It
 i
s 

th
e
 r

e
sp

o
n

si
b

ili
ty

 o
f 

co
m

m
is

si
o

n
e
rs

 t
o

 
w

o
rk

 t
o

g
e
th

e
r 

to
 e

n
su

re
 t

h
a
t 

a
n

y 
a
d

u
lt
 a

t 
ri
sk

 o
f 

a
b

u
se

 o
r 

n
e
g

le
ct

 i
s 

a
b

le
 t

o
 a

cc
e
ss

 p
u

b
lic

  
o

rg
a
n

is
a
ti
o

n
s 

fo
r 

a
p

p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 i
n

te
rv

e
n

ti
o

n
s 

w
h

ic
h

 e
n

a
b

le
 t

h
e
m

 t
o

 l
iv

e
 a

 l
if
e
 f

re
e
 o

f 
 

vi
o

le
n

ce
. 

S
a

fe
g

u
a

rd
in

g
 c

h
il

d
re

n
 a

n
d

 m
e

n
ta

l 
h

e
a

lt
h

T
h

e
re

 i
s 

a
 g

o
o

d
 e

vi
d

e
n

ce
 b

a
se

 t
h

a
t 

co
n

fi
rm

s 
th

a
t 

th
e
re

 i
s 

a
n

 i
n

cr
e
a
se

 i
n

ci
d

e
n

ce
 o

f 
h

a
rm

 i
n

 c
h

ild
re

n
 

w
h

e
re

 t
h

e
re

 i
s 

a
 h

is
to

ry
 o

f 
m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 n
e
e
d

s,
 

d
o

m
e
st

ic
 v

io
le

n
ce

 o
r 

su
b

st
a
n

ce
 m

is
u

se
 o

r 
a
  

co
m

b
in

a
ti
o

n
 o

f 
th

e
 t

h
re

e
 –

 t
h

e
 s

o
 c

a
lle

d
 ‘

to
xi

c 
tr

i’
. 

It
 i
s 

a
 f

u
n

d
a
m

e
n

ta
l 
re

q
u

ir
e
m

e
n

t 
o

f 
a
ll 

 
o

rg
a
n

is
a
ti
o

n
s,

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s 

a
n

d
 i
n

d
iv

id
u

a
ls

 e
n

g
a
g

e
d

 
in

 w
o

rk
 w

it
h

 p
a
re

n
ts

 w
it
h

 t
h

e
se

 i
ss

u
e
s 

sh
o

u
ld

 
w

o
rk

 w
it
h

 c
o

lle
a
g

u
e
s 

to
 s

a
fe

g
u

a
rd

 c
h

ild
re

n
 a

n
d

 
e
n

su
re

 t
h

a
t 

th
e
y 

a
re

 p
ro

te
ct

e
d

.

K
e
y 

to
 t

h
is

 i
s 

th
e
 d

e
ve

lo
p

m
e
n

t 
o

f 
jo

in
t 

p
la

n
s 

a
n

d
 

a
p

p
ro

a
ch

e
s 

a
n

d
 t

h
is

 w
ill

 b
e
 u

n
d

e
rp

in
n

e
d

 b
y:

S
k

il
le

d
 w

o
rk

fo
rc

e
: 

e
n

su
ri
n

g
 s

ta
ff

 h
a
ve

  
a
cc

e
ss

 t
o

 t
ra

in
in

g
 a

n
d

 s
u

p
e
rv

is
io

n

Jo
in

t 
w

o
rk

in
g

: 
w

o
rk

in
g

 t
o

g
e
th

e
r 

sh
a
ri
n

g
 

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 d
e
ve

lo
p

in
g

 j
o

in
e
d

-u
p

  
p

a
ck

a
g

e
s 

o
f 

su
p

p
o

rt
 

E
a

rl
y
 h

e
lp

: 
id

e
n

ti
fy

in
g

 n
e
e
d

s 
e
a
rl
y 

a
n

d
 

su
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 a

cc
e
ss

 t
o

 t
h

e
 e

a
rl
y 

h
e
lp

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 
a
va

ila
b

le
 t

o
 c

h
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 f

a
m

ili
e
s

E
a

rl
y
 h

e
lp

: 
D

e
ve

lo
p

in
g

 m
u

lt
i-
a
g

e
n

cy
 t

e
a
m

 
a
p

p
ro

a
ch

e
s 

to
 w

o
rk

in
g

 w
it
h

 f
a
m

ili
e
s 

w
it
h

 
th

e
 m

o
st

 c
o

m
p

le
x 

n
e
e
d

s.

Sa
fe

g
u

a
rd

in
g

A
 m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 c
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

in
g

 s
tr

a
te

g
y 

fo
r 

D
e
vo

n
, 

P
ly

m
o

u
th

 a
n

d
 T

o
rb

a
y 

2
0

1
4

-2
0

1
6

2
2

Page 95



T
h

is
 s

tr
a
te

g
y 

is
 i
n

te
n

d
e
d

 t
o

 d
ra

w
 t

o
g

e
th

e
r 

th
e
 

co
m

m
is

si
o

n
in

g
 i
n

te
n

ti
o

n
s 

o
f 

fi
ve

 c
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

in
g

 
b

o
d

ie
s:

P
ly

m
o

u
th

 C
it
y 

C
o

u
n

ci
l

To
rb

a
y 

C
o

u
n

ci
l

D
e
vo

n
 C

o
u

n
ty

 C
o

u
n

ci
l

S
o

u
th

 D
e
vo

n
 a

n
d

 T
o

rb
a
y 

C
C

G

N
E
W

 D
e
vo

n
 C

C
G

W
it
h

in
 t

h
e
 e

co
n

o
m

ic
 c

o
n

st
ra

in
ts

 t
h

a
t 

a
ff

e
ct

 
p

u
b

lic
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 c

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
in

g
 a

n
d

 d
e
liv

e
ry

 t
h

e
se

 
b

o
d

ie
s 

w
ill

 a
tt

e
m

p
t 

to
 f

o
cu

s 
o

n
 h

o
w

 m
e
n

ta
l 

h
e
a
lt
h

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s 

ca
n

 c
o

n
ti
n

u
e
 t

o
 m

e
e
t 

th
e
 n

e
e
d

s 
o

f 
th

e
 p

e
o

p
le

 o
f 

D
e
vo

n
 a

s 
d

e
m

a
n

d
 f

o
r 

se
rv

ic
e
s 

in
cr

e
a
se

s.

T
h

e
 k

e
y 

a
re

a
s 

fo
r 

d
e
ve

lo
p

m
e
n

t 
a
re

:

P
re

ve
n

ti
o

n

P
e
rs

o
n

a
lis

a
ti
o

n

In
te

g
ra

ti
o

n

Im
p

ro
vi

n
g

 h
e
a
lt
h

 a
n

d
 w

e
llb

e
in

g

S
u

p
p

o
rt

in
g

 r
e
co

ve
ry

Im
p

ro
vi

n
g

 a
cc

e
ss

Fo
r 

th
is

 t
o

 b
e
 a

 c
re

d
ib

le
 p

la
n

 f
o

r 
th

e
 f

u
tu

re
 t

h
e
re

 
n

e
e
d

s 
to

 b
e
 g

re
a
te

r 
in

vo
lv

e
m

e
n

t 
o

f 
th

o
se

 w
it
h

 
liv

e
d

 e
xp

e
ri
e
n

ce
 a

t 
e
ve

ry
 s

ta
g

e
 o

f 
th

e
  

co
m

m
is

si
o

n
in

g
, 

d
e
liv

e
ry

 a
n

d
 m

o
n

it
o

ri
n

g
 o

f 
 

m
e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s.

S
u

m
m

a
ry

A
 m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 c
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

in
g

 s
tr

a
te

g
y 

fo
r 

D
e
vo

n
, 

P
ly

m
o

u
th

 a
n

d
 T

o
rb

a
y 

2
0

1
4

-2
0

1
6

2
3

Page 96



T
h

e
 c

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
in

g
 t

e
a
m

 w
is

h
 t

o
 t

h
a
n

k
  

B
e
 I
n

vo
lv

e
d

 D
e
vo

n
 (

B
ID

) 
a
n

d
 P

ly
m

o
u

th
  

In
vo

lv
e
m

e
n

t 
a
n

d
 P

a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o

n
 S

e
rv

ic
e
 (

P
IP

S
) 

fo
r 

th
e
ir
 h

a
rd

 w
o

rk
 i
n

 t
h

e
 d

e
vi

si
n

g
 a

n
d

 o
rg

a
n

is
a
ti
o

n
 

o
f 

co
n

su
lt
a
ti
o

n
 e

ve
n

ts
. 

T
h

e
ir
 c

o
n

tr
ib

u
ti
o

n
 h

a
s 

b
e
e
n

 i
n

va
lu

a
b

le
.

T
h

a
n

k
s 

a
re

 d
u

e
 t

o
 a

ll 
st

a
k
e
h

o
ld

e
rs

 i
n

cl
u

d
in

g
 

co
m

m
is

si
o

n
e
rs

, 
G

P
s,

 m
e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 p
ro

fe
ss

io
n

a
ls

 
a
n

d
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 p

ro
vi

d
e
rs

 w
h

o
 h

a
ve

 c
o

n
tr

ib
u

te
d

 t
o

 
th

e
 d

e
ve

lo
p

m
e
n

t 
o

f 
th

is
 d

o
cu

m
e
n

t.

A
b

o
ve

 a
ll,

 t
h

e
 c

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
in

g
 t

e
a
m

 w
is

h
 t

o
 

th
a
n

k
 t

h
e
 e

xp
e
rt

s 
b

y 
e
xp

e
ri
e
n

ce
, 

b
o

th
 u

se
rs

 o
f 

se
rv

ic
e
s 

a
n

d
 c

a
re

rs
 f

o
r 

th
e
ir
 i
n

va
lu

a
b

le
 i
n

p
u

t 
 

in
to

 t
h

is
 s

tr
a
te

g
y.

A
ck

n
o

w
le

d
g

e
m

e
n

ts

A
 m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt
h

 c
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

in
g

 s
tr

a
te

g
y 

fo
r 

D
e
vo

n
, 

P
ly

m
o

u
th

 a
n

d
 T

o
rb

a
y 

2
0

1
4

-2
0

1
6

2
4

Page 97



 

D
e
si
gn

 a
n
d
 l
ay

o
u
t 

b
y 

N
ao

m
i 
C

u
d
m

o
re

 (
w

w
w

.li
gh

th
o
u
se

co
m

m
u
n
ic

at
io

n
s.
co

.u
k)

 f
o
r 

N
E
W

 D
e
vo

n
 C

C
G

T
h

is
 g

u
id

e
 i

s 
a

ls
o

 a
v
a

il
a

b
le

 i
n

 
B

ra
il

le
, 

la
rg

e
 p

ri
n

t 
a

n
d

 o
th

e
r 

la
n

g
u

a
g

e
s 

o
n

 r
e

q
u

e
st

. 

 N
o

te
: 

w
o

u
ld

 y
o

u
 l
ik

e
 t

o
 a

d
d

 a
 p

h
o

n
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r?

 
o

r 
o

th
e
r 

co
n

ta
ct

 d
e
ta

ils
 a

t 
a
ll?

Page 98



 

 

 

 

Title: 
 

Update Report – Pioneer progress 

Wards Affected: 
 

All 

To:   Health & Wellbeing Board On:  2nd October 2014 

Contact:  Fran Mason 
Telephone: 01803 652455 
Email:  franmason@nhs.net 
 

1. Background 
 

Pioneer comprises 2 specific projects: the Frailty Hub in Newton Abbot to 
increase the number of patients who are proactively case-managed at home 
and; the Torquay Children’s Hub developing a locality hub of community services 
closer to home for all. These Pioneer projects are part of a range of JoinedUp 
activities and projects to deliver better outcomes for patients and people through 
fully integrated working across health and social care in South Devon and 
Torbay. This report provides an update on recent achievements. 

 
1.1 Achievements since last meeting 

Frailty Hub 

• The Hub Board was set up in February and all stakeholders were briefed at 
an event in April. 

• A definition of frailty and a cohort of patients who will be managed through 
the Hub have been agreed.  

• A process mapping event took place in July and a set of metrics for 
outcomes measuring have been agreed.  

• A specialist frailty GP was recruited in September. 

• Teignbridge Community Voluntary Sector (CVS) is recruiting a 
Neighbourhood Connector to be located within Care Direct Plus, dealing 
with enquiries from people who are not eligible for statutory services to 
direct them to early help and advice and prevent their needs escalating. 

 
Torquay Children’s Hub 

• Scoping single point of access for enquiries relating to parenting/ 
behavioural/ emotional health and wellbeing and social isolation amongst 
older people in Hele, Watcombe and Barton is underway.  

• A first draft of a ‘social prescribing model’ (A means of enabling primary 
care services to refer patients with social, emotional or practical needs to a 
range of local, non-clinical services, often provided by the CVS) has been 
developed. 

Agenda Item 11

Page 99



 

2 

 

• Funding bids to Social work innovation fund and HESW are in progress.  

• ‘Our Place’ funding being used to create an asset based neighbourhood 

development plan with a focus on social isolation and child poverty.  

• Timebank co-ordinator in place and buddies/peer supporters are being 

recruited. 

• Further engagement activities with focus on children and young people 

planned in Hele, Watcombe and Barton. Support from Pioneer to source/ 

fund an asset-based community development session has been requested. 

• Health visitors, school nurses, lifestyles and community action plan 

developed to put in place measures to prevent smoking in pregnancy. 

• Meeting with schools planned in October to link hub work to pupil premium 

and troubled families work. 

• Plans to co-locate public health nursing and lifestyles within Barton surgery. 

JoinedUp 
The JoinedUp Board and Cabinet promote the vision for integrated health, care 
and support and provide leadership for integration activity including, pioneer and 
plans to deliver a new model of care through the creation of an Integrated Care 
Organisation (ICO). A JoinedUp/Pioneer manager is now in post and an away 
day is planned for the Board in early November  

 
2. Challenges for the next three months 

• Agreeing a single joint outcomes framework and plan capturing pioneer and 
related integration projects. 

• Ensuring specific dementia and older person’s mental health services for 
Frailty Hub. 

• Completing a Torquay locality plan for holistic services. 

• Potential delays in creation of ICO may impact on some of the areas of work. 
 
3. Action required by partners 

• Support and promote integration and JoinedUp and Pioneer 
projects/activities within organisation. 

• Share examples of transformational change resulting in better, integrated 
health, care and support for patients and people of Torbay.  

• Identify obstacles and challenges hindering better integrated care and 
suggest alternative solutions through JoinedUp/Pioneer manager so these 
can be escalated through Pioneer programme. 

Background Papers: 
The following documents/files were used to compile this report:  

Hub work plans 

Page 100



 

 

 

 

Title: 
 

Update Report – Community Safety Partnership 

Wards Affected: 
 

All 

To:  Health and Wellbeing 
Board 

On: 2 October 2014 

Contact:  Fran Hughes 
Telephone:  01803 208002 
Email:  frances.hughes@torbay.gov.uk 
 

1. Achievements since last meeting 

1.1 The Stronger Communities Board is in the process of changing its Terms of 
Reference to revert to being the statutory Community Safety Partnership 
(CSP).  This statutory partnership is a requirement of the Crime and Disorder 
Act. 

1.2 The CSP has completed its annual Strategic Assessment and the four 
strategic priorities remain as: 

• Anti-Social Behaviour 

• Offending 

• Alcohol and the Night time Economy 

• Domestic Abuse 

This detailed assessment of Torbay contains useful information for the Health 
and Wellbeing Partnership and could be presented at a future meeting. 

1.3 Through additional funding secured from the Police and Crime Commissioner 
a project has commenced to explore the use of Restorative Justice across 
Torbay as a sustainable way of delivering alternatives within the criminal 
justice system.  This is being lead through the Community Safety Team at 
Torbay Council. 

1.4 The three Domestic Homicide Reviews (DHRs) remain ongoing, and all are at 
various stages within the reviews.  This remains a significant pressure on all 
partners. 

1.5 Services for Domestic Abuse have been integrated and been re-
commissioned through a new provider, Sanctuary Living.  The new 
arrangements took affect from 2nd September 2014.  This, along with other 
Domestic Abuse interventions outlined in the agreed action plan are being 
overseen by the Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Steering Group. 

Agenda Item 12

Page 101



 
2. Challenges for the next three months 

2.1 Over the coming months, the CSP has a number of interventions which are 
being embedded to address its strategic priorities. These including an on line 
resources for practitioners and victims around improving access to Domestic 
Abuse and Sexual Violence services; targeted approaches within the night 
time economy and further development the V@Safe Project with young 
people. This workplan is funded and overseen by the Office of the Police and 
Crime Commissioner. 

3. Action required by partners 

3.1 To consider whether a formal presentation of the CSP Strategic Assessment 
would be helpful to link the health and wellbeing agenda to the crime and 
disorder agenda at a future meeting. 

 

Page 102



 

 

 

 

Title: 
 

Update Report – Public Health 
 

Wards Affected: 
 

All 

To:  
 

Health and Wellbeing 
Board 

On: 02 October 2014 

Contact: Dr Caroline Dimond 
Telephone: 01803 207344 
Email: Caroline.dimond@torbay.gcsx.gov.uk 
 

1. Achievements since last meeting 

1.1 Lifestyle service 
 
Lifestyles consultation on the key features of a future delivery model finished on 11th 
June 2014. This along with the CCG public consultation findings has informed the 
specification that will be commissioned. 
 
Work has commenced on developing a draft specification for both the model and 
each of the intervention modalities. In addition, consultation has commenced to 
inform the features of a future referral pathway for the key pathways of primary care 
and children & families – from the perspective of the referring services. (meetings to 
date with, Paignton & Brixham locality manager and lead GPs; practice managers 
meeting; LMC with future meeting arranged with children, family and maternity 
services; Torquay locality; LMC). Draft specification to be shared for comment in 
December 2014 for commissioning thereafter. 
 
1.2 JSNA.  

After much hard work and the engagement of a wide range of analysts and leaders 
across the system, the final draft of the JSNA has been completed. Both the paper 
document and the interactive tool that sits alongside it should help us considerable in 
our understanding of needs across both Torbay and South Devon. 

This will be considered in the agenda 

1.3 Healthy Torbay. 

Healthy Torbay is a framework for action bringing together the many different 
elements of public health work to address the wider determinants of health. There is 
a strong focus on what the council can achieve through realigning its existing 
services to achieve public health outcomes, improving the health of the people of 
Torbay and tackling health inequalities. This upstream or prevention model also 
helps to address the demands on the health service, the economic cost of ill health 

Agenda Item 13

Page 103



 
and the wider social costs of poor health. The Framework consists of a short policy 
document and a draft action plan. 
 
1.4 Support to Pioneer  
 
The team continue to support the work on the Pioneer particularly with; 

� Support to the Hele-Watcombe-Barton Hub 
� Development of a proposal to build community resilience  
� Leadership of the evaluation element  

 
1.5.  Integrated prevention strategy (IPS) 
 
We have now completed the final draft of the IPS which will be further discussed 
today. This is a framework which is intended to guide the development of prevention 
initiatives across Torbay and South Devon. Area. Linked to this, work has begun to 
consider the development of new “integrated services” within the hospital and 
community trusts.     
 
1.6. Joint Outcome framework.  
 
We have supported the development of an over-riding outcome framework for the 
partnership to look at progress across the 3 outcome frameworks; the NHS, Adult 
Social care and Public Health outcome frameworks. These also record planned 
actions against outcome areas where progress has been problematic.   
 
1.7. Health protection.  
 
We continue to support the work on communicable disease control and influenza 
across the bay and South Devon.  
 
We are currently undertaking a Pandemic Flu exercise to test our resilience to such 
emergencies both within Public Health and in the wider council. 
 
1.8. Mental Health 
 
We have now developed a draft Mental Health promotion strategy, a suicide audit 
and  a draft suicide and self-harm strategy. We are supporting also the Child and 
adolescent emotional health and well-being strategy and the Child and Adolescent 
Mental Health Services action plan with a particular focus on Tier 1 services. 
 
2. Challenges for the next three months 

One particular focus for the next month is on developing awareness amongst 
colleagues of the opportunities of getting involved in work on health and wellbeing. 
We plan to run an awareness day for council staff and councillors on 14th November 
and we also plan a day for School Nurses and Health visitors to prepare for the 
integration of the 2 nurses on a 0-19 Public Health nursing service. 

Page 104


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 2014/15 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment
	JSNA Appendix

	7 Department for Education Children's Social Care Innovation Programme - Torbay Submission
	Children's Social Care Innovation Appendix

	8 Draft - Torbay Housing Partnership Strategy Children's Services/Adult Services/Public Health
	My Home is my Life - Torbays Housing Partnership Strategy 2014 -2018 draft  v8.1
	response form

	9 Update Report - Health and Wellbeing Board Priority 8: Reduce Alcohol Consumption
	10 Update Report - High Level Joint Mental Health Commissioning Strategy for South Devon and NEW Devon CCGs, and Torbay, Plymouth and Devon Councils
	mental health strategy Draft 8 22.9.2014

	11 Update Report - Pioneer Progress
	12 Update Report - Community Safety Partnership
	13 For Information Only - Update on Public Health

